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Tfl PEOPTV-S: TEST.TATorr,• 

N',E L S O' IV Me, E R.IST A N*1 of 143 Wes ti 188th 

a witness called on behalf of the People., being dtaX, 

sworn, testified. as 
follows:O

 

' 

0.11.A1Cir: I move that "theother witnesses fer, 

the prosecution be excluded romthe courtroom while 

this Witheso is testifying, 

MI! COURT: already been dene. 

TTAXLEY: And. that applies to 

defendant,is witnesses also, does it not? 

rffir, COURT:* Yes, tO all the witnesses. 

DIRECT .IDEA2TI1ATIOFf BY YU . .1,1ANT,JEY: 

Q, 3\tr. rcLernan, what is your business? A Real est 

and. in S urance•. 

0 And how long have you been in that business. A 

had, my ovm office for three years. I was employed before, 

of business? A 128 Vrestt_ 

• 
0, ric,f„ on the 26th day of April of this.. year and ....forc 

,t ime prior there to had you been agent in ,behalf 

of the premises 840 at 96th Street?. 

ITI MAIG: One moment. I object to that, 

assumirT e. fact not 1:roven, the ownership of the 

building; and also upon '0,10. cround. thLt it is 1,:es4tizio,c 

Lula [4.0 inv olv Jug a le Al GOno ltts ion as to whether: .this ma 



....44:•••• •  • • 

waS or was not ti4e. agent ,oS those:. preulise134,' 

T. MANTY well,  he o ugh t to be able to t:éi 

whe th.t..ir.-• he is the a g ent Or no t . 

1,11 . OEM But rou ho laid also ask him as to 

the ownership of t2-1.o place  fiis t 

1,TAtialY: . , I wilJ r it hdraw that par t or 
the clues ti 

BY 111?. a MANLEY.: 

Wer e you the agent of the premises? . •-• 

!AR . CRAIG: And I object to .that, on • the 

TIM COURT : Obj e.c tio n overx-aled'i, • 
• 
11Z . CRAIG: Ixceptioir. 

BY THE CO : 

Wer e you in charge of the premises 340 : East 96th 

Street? A Yes sir. 

Do you oin that b uild ing ? A Ho, r :I don't t 

2, But you wore in cheige of that building on that' 

BY 11-IL . .A..111,3111- : 

0, And in wha t ca,pac i ty were you in o'h.arge of the 

building? A AF5 agent. 

.

 

CI : 1 obj ec t to tilLut an the same g otui 

Tri (10 Tatr.P : OvEirrul.e6. 

izoep t ion. 



Wells who, at that time 

'you can state 'what your duties were in 

connection with that building. A I was appointed to Olt, 

aPar tr,Aents in rentable condition, and then rent them 

• and, then v.rith a vie..selling them And, the building 

then had two tenants,out of ten apartments. 

'Mien was that? A l'obruary, 1912. The owner tok. 

back the owner hip of the buildingr t.t,t that time. 

IZi CRAIG;t obj ct to th&t .last statement as a 

volubteered statement, which is immateriall irre-

nt  and incompetent. 

2,7A.EIT3: I cons en 

TU COU1T : S tr Ike it out. 

BY OOfjItT: 

Q, You were not the own of the build.; 

BY 

you act as the ap,ent of that building b tivtost,: 

pobruary cAnd tbe 2.c Gil of April? 

ITow, Ett that title 'who was the owner of 'the premisoe4,:. 

(iUc I objectto that, to not the propeX 

)10 tb.od cep? ov izi(miler r14 'mid imn 



TZI CURT: Strike that out. 

BY TIER COURT: 

Q That vrafii 

A Claude S S tevens 

e of the Per 

MANLEY: 

Q, And did. you ac t under the dec ti on of " Claude S 

Stevens in regardt o those premises? 

nY 1.11: . MANLEY: 

. CPA IC,: 1 obj oe- t t-o-- that on t le same. grOunds 

THI COT : Objec t ion sistained. 

14A17LrY: 

.t k inc. of Aiiid Ea dis0 se ,•V-7 

ht Line? A Thc boy br ick build int!, • 

28 by Th, and contai.nInn four Live. room apar tments, ndbat 

und n iii' Lu 112' room :.1..ptia' 1716.111 t 6 tt,11 d betth5, and two 

was d, t ton oricre. home? 



gm* object to that,Ythm,kohOr 

He answered before I could get on my feet. 

oloject to his th tev_ent as to vhether this is a tenement, 

Ito use or no t. 

TM. VELETT17: 1Tayt, don' t you conCede that i.t is 

teneyaen t house? 

. don t know the her t. is •r t 

want to hear the witness testify toito ifhe can. 

TM; COURT: Objection sus tained. S .itike out the 

BY MR it:TAFELIT 

0, Well, describe this 'house . 

TIT CO TTRT : He has described it. 

.Had you fully described the house? A Yes, 

BY THE OTTR13.1: • 

0, 1-Toi.7 many- stories Five stories 

-hose stories laia out? 

gr 0 tond. f o 117i th the excel) t ion of the hallway, 

and above t1 t on tho next floor was a folV ora apar tmeiz 

and a f ive r o or ttl.par Lii on t . • 

n well wtlia t kind of ro ons Were they? 

unders tt,1,11c1 t,),,e qiis t 911,6 



and bedroom in the rear. 

And that description a1ieS to all the floors doeS 

tchens on all the lopier 

floors? A .Yes , sir . 

Ecy,y.i. many? A rght ki.tohens. 

on  for caoh aim". trlent Yes, six," 

apar taent 

BY TTATTITY: 

0, 15°7! 1 CLUi ng this tine , 171-br yea. 3 1 March, and.  April, 

was there j an:. tor or j truss on th wemise0. A- There.. 

And who was that? A Mrs. Jakob. 

And cLia s)ie i iv c! in the :remis es? A Yes '0 0 ir.0 

BY THE C OUR 

, j.n t t of the pr. omis es? A I Pe 

on tht f our fl 0 

o4e of the apartments there? A 

bruaryt 

ATIC vr th o U I tMi6i1. ti.3003tXd 

oudi nt. thUr aut tment °coup ied at ti time. 

Do yco m 10- r.1!!!1 floor Glu.,,t; was 

h t urrAi 1! rcj ri. o or-t 



.0- .4,0._ • 

, BY MR,• MANLEY: 

Q, Now; did youli; at any time during the period We have 

spoken of meet the defendant ThoMas F. Parley? A I did. 

Q, 1)o you recall about the &,te when You first met 

Now, just answer the la stion that I 41.14 about to put' 

to you by S•res or 11,0 • Had yo ti  at tenkidn been called to this • 

defendant p2ior to thsA time;? 

object totha Ilearsay and 

competent, and not hind on the def endant 

TFY COURT Overruled. 

Ti CRA IC. Exception 

It had 

BY MR. NAM- : 

0 By whom? A By thojanitress of the 

0 Mrs . Jakob? A :Ye's , s 

:rtr G'}.AIG:1 Thjecf to thbt and more :to strike 

t 

: C o VI Vrt:] a t it I lin. 6 L . out, :the • 

61.11..swer s ike out.r \71.10:in it tve,e'.,•,ce,, 
- 
is not TaLtoraul. 

BY 'T.TR 

p: 117-(;•'1 2. I had you had anj. t.lks vital •nrs. .Th-tkob" before 

moo ting the clef endan t? Yes or no A  

0, Novi, you El fly you firs t; mot • th6 dctenclan t • n or it‘boUt 



the 10th day of April Where was it you met him./ A • I Met -

him on the 4th floor of Uw bua1onp, in the front part of 

• the build  

BY VII CiQ TIZT 

• 0, You me t him, in apartment of thi s building? 

BY Vin. 1.1ANT;Enr: 

0 Did you have a oonversati on wi th him? . A I. did. 

n To!, VET or e thy., t Mr MoT,v,,i..rat,n 3 Were ther e any'. 

repairs of way h.'md made, had there been any repairs ol" .ELIV 

kind go int; on in tht,..b. build 1n? A Yes 

rIllen were those re14.4.irs 

tF : I C•ject to t:!.1A unles she nhowe - 

hat re 4z, rs they vrer, . I t rivly have be en a comple 

roc ons trICtion of tit( buildinr • 

r) 1 , (I • . 

BY 1:1'111. 0.0 

ccnt tha when 

viere copletud? 

t. a(!rc Li I, 7.1.1)e,i3..EJ tY• 3rotwipeak ot7 A 



'bathroom, and putting in new ones, and putting n Iletc floors 

and new tuba, and new pipes; and puttirr hot water plants 
• 

in the cellar,, and 6, s tet:ta plant ' in. the cellar;- repainting - 

and decorating; pat-Ching the corniee, and patehing roof; 

cleaning out the cellar, cementing at, nc1.TOI:fairl,ng the . 

drains; and new hardware thx0w1iout Qle b114.1.A jug. new gas.: 

04e or tvio neW coal ranges in ale apartments'. New 
or  

wash tib in the apExtucnts and new faucets at tixtureti Of 

that character where they needed replacing.. Few drying 

ftames on th roof. The roof chimneys -repaired.' That's- • 

retail at the present momentiTg Do yoUrecii 

qnything p..lout fly toilets on the rround floor'? A -Inth 

corner shop there had been a urirLl there only, d i put , 
in a toilet. 

BY TIT COTIRT 

7rhat do ycit PleCLI1 by e. toile t? A Tell, a regular 

seat arvmwonent. 

n A %Tutor closet? A Yes 7 sir. 

BY 11"7,' . 37A171,13':: 

babin? /, „ sir. • 

BY r2TT r 11T.1 : 

rs And ; 1? A Yo.,„ , 

A rc riiir vat ci us( t? 

By .TV . ii 11T1 Y: 

0. FT ow  on n you Eare inr else an to th•o vVinal 

.(112c,cecl by 1,0.3(0. "1“-t....to44:t, of 112il4ing 



Z.; A 

n Was .t* that :inOid•o of t:N4 •premises themselves? 

store? A Yes, sir. 

Tas that out off in uny vay from the store itself 

by any partitions? A 1 had partitions built around it 

Tad' there been partitions at tha point before? 

131.1t you had partitions Lia6.o around th,at oilet,Within 

the store; is that so? A Yes, sir. 

(1, Were those new parliiions that were made there/ 

Foy", had this work Li,11 been finished befe you had 

this talk w:A.th the defendant Parley in this house, .0"1,or 

about the 10th. of April? 

c ITow, tell us all tile conversation you had with 

defenant in ths house, ir the City' and County of rtet York, 

on or about t7,;c 100', of 4a 11 last? A Mr. Parley asked if' 

I was the vent of th( prendscs, and I said yes, and he  

"1 want te t1k to :/ou. Ceite downstairs0 

1 ve.qt e(on to t.1)c, v(Aillnle with him; an the I 

"V/hat latvc1 yen (.-one with  those viplatiOus on, this 

build in, th(- olu ones Ve viade an aip1ication Lo lqave them 



tdAir *1= • 

Q hat d 'violations did you speak o 

tions that were still exis ting. 

•. CRAIck And. I object to that, I think we 

are entitled to have that evidence 0Oilte inProperly. 

TH.T.: COURT: Overruled,. 

Exception 

. 1,TAITITY 

lirow, 0 on aii(1 s td,te the conve4:s t ion 

said  "Why, nose violationG hav e: *been dismisged „fn el; owl 

I've taken care of t o se If And I id, "Well, that's gbOdi 

I'm glad to hear it. It's about Limo, and they hvite been 

l'unninv lo fl  onourh." 

And he says, "Veil., there is another one that I may have 

to put on You fellovra have none and changed all those: 

bath rooms and ellunFTed th 1 ix t nre.s and put par t ono 

around a to t Ei.nd t ;houJ_thY be done vi itho ut u plan to 

a violatdon," and. I said, "1 a 

thzLt -day u'out t , and I ( on ' t know vhethor it is so 

And 1(.; "ITo: tva1 you. rho 3.-ian co ohareS of 

this vro:rk. hoc;?" E:inbj oct, to the , ow 

think wc 

ti170:1 , 1 'oin to utthlis viola t 

aill leavu it optn. You aVJ the owner 



- 

sa.idt ""Well, 

I'1J see the owner in a few days." 

And then, pxhiorto th tvile Went ups Lairs to a bathxoo 

on the fitfloor, ara hW showed ,me what hemea.nt by the 

work we  :had d one tiler:0 which -wo uld have 17 egired a plan* 

He pointed out the platforms that I had buil t tiler e and 

ttied to show me what he rlfant . Thi:1,t was in bc 1hroøm On 

the first floor. 

o, o ahead A That Is, all the oontertatiOn I recall 

now as hair in hz,4 with hiyil at the, t ftrae.. 

Do you remerther his; aying athin, to you .about 

those pla tf ems? 

would have to be all torn out and • that vork. e)goosed, 

the fixturesuncoupled,so that the Department could 

inspectionan  of them.. And he said, "Of course, you' under-

hundr ed dol:Lars4 anyway* 

He mentioned the nuriller of hundseds , but I can't recall it 

you recall ;rt'tiinp' else that was . said Oflr 

that he referred to rhen he said i 

woulc cost,a few hundred dollars? A neap n'ar toiletr3 

and the platforms and the c onnec tions that hadbeen made- it 

said that they would have to be ripped open, and .exposed$, -0 

that the Depax tmeri L e o lile isp co t them, and the work done 



Did. he say.how 1oi e yiotac hold, this viola ti 

A few days . 

,AM what aid you say to him. t!:bout 

sa,id that I -could see theauner .and see him again in 

a Lev cdayi=. 

n ew 1• di6 yon 7er terards 1 prior to the ar 

def enaant I see hifil.? A iso, not al ter that 0 

-0 What IE tht; I) ine s s fl,ther, Mr Nei; 

lry La thear is a b . 

And rrha t s Lis mole? 11: uE,h nan • 

did le, fl One r tli o 10th of Ail,  

1.1.ny work at your ec Li on on ).2 s build :incr, ? A Yes, he 

patched the corner s Lore up . 

0, The s tor e Oiltiie :'02ä 11 o or? A es, ir 

1.1 en he v:e nt d cpim L o the iremises 

do that job? A i n,.f ter t'h 10th of Ala' 

o 04n you recall morc., clef in teXy the t,ime thn t 

A On handl, er inn inn on ithe --

in ilhich l'fp.s the. th 

d o i 1.ta tcter E.; Lama L.1•1,11 th. t you ref er Lo the 

week th.! j VIEW t 7 e " 

(tan with you as to the 

CA1G: Vq; 1, ':.,111 t ;11 you 0'164 it was 



'the 22nd., if you. iayso, 'hut I don't agreo wit13. you 

BY l'at ITA/TTIY: 

0, goy, bt tw.eon the time that you had the conversatiozr, 

with the dc onclant ttad the tfipLe your fathez" did this work,, 

did you have any e onvexf3a ti on with gre - Jakob thej treSs? 

lfft CRATO: obj oct to that as immaterial, irre-

levant and ine.omp e tent and not ltiriding on the 'defendan t 

TIM COURT : 0 vex' 

T. CfA IC- : -Voce epLi on . 

BY Trtf.: TIANITY: 

when your their had f7one d own there4.. On the 

firs t day, we will say, of the week of the 22nd; that beipg. 

TTondajr, to do Lhose repair E.'. a id you have any talk -Itd th, . 

him? Just oi no . 

: Q1Dj ec ted to, on the saNe growids as to. 

the: 1):fi or q. ues t: ion 

d (,ityf Li e' n &f ter the t olay'l did he 

to tl!P :),VCN.i3US on UOOCLCL of tY"c sane veek? 

CL/Cd(--:, 1 hiot to that on, t),lostaxie 



and a,s leading I as  to the question of tinte 

witness has shown a faultof meriory already 

TIF1.4 COURT: Overruled. 

TT. . CRAIG: lbcc t on s 

ansaciaar returned. on Tuesdays. 

BY 111.4.. 1171,:1117Y: 

0 Now, :when you sar your father when he returned 
• 

Tuesday, did you have another talk with him? 

MR. CRAIG: Objebted t 

Tl'EP COTJLT: Overruled., 

CRAIG Exception. 

0, Now, after that, after you had. had the second, talk 

with your father, after he had been there the setond- times 

did. you go anywttere? 

BY ,TE 

TThere did you r•o? A 1 went to the 0: 

Tenerent House Department. 

n And did. you have any talk with any on. 

off ice of the Tuneiaent House Depar tment? 



3Y 1CR. SANTITIY: 

Y.Thom did you See txa A Te Third.Depüty 

C ommon Abbott.. 

Ifr. Abbdtt t? A Yes 

Irin.en was t? A It was a 'Wednesday. 

Did you see Th An 0 t t more thv,rt once b4a. 

saw him wednesday and r2h1lxs day 

Vthere dick you uste him on Thurs.day? A At the 

premises  36th Fl treat and. First • Avenue 340 1.1.4s t. 96th • 

Q, And to thatw  part of the promises aid. you no witi 

I 1rent through the entire house with, him 

0, Did you  no :into t les° :rooms where you have deo cribedt. 

the V repairs as having been made? A 'Yes, 

0 Tit , into the s tore ..ere the toilet was, and 

in to batL Ouj t. ? A Yes  sir. 

At tJ • t t. • JJ1fl 1, use r epa  'C ratade 

you hay e dosc illy T Toliern7,,n in Pa:cum:3r Etrid ‘Ip to 

April, did :611 hvo tn arobi toot? A Yes, 

wv.f. L1.1 C? re}, t c I. in Lho vtad inp? A Ln the early 

par F. r.r ark be WWI t 



work or irepar,.for 

CROSS n.TINATION BY TIR. OR4IG: 

Q, There did you say you reside now, Mr. YeLer, rlan 

A. 143 rest 188th S tree t in the /3t wax*, s 

0, And I understand you, to a ay tata t yo u were one Who . 

acted in the direction of making the r epa ir a and re on 
in 

struction Jct. this building? A Yes, sir , 
N" 

p, In February, 'Taro h and the early par t of Apr 117 

0, And do I understand you to say that ypt...i aid that,. , 

knovrin that no plans had been filed with the Tenement lioUs 

Depart"ient for those alterations and repairs? A Yes, S. 

Q, And you knew at that time thF t you 'rie.re.6)mmittg 

a misdemeanor; did you not? A , No, sir. 

n‘ Didn, t you know that the Tenement Ft0110e, .1,avir at. tha 

time provided as follows (reads)? A I didn!t• know that  

n But you did kner., that it• was a tenement house?.. 

0 And, so you die know that it was a misdemeanor :to 

make alterations, • thout plans being: rile in the 'Tenement• 

House Department? A-- Yes 

Q, And so is there anything: that you knpytpi.: 



tae statute, and in violation. of that *hick I lla*t jtst 

read? A I don't understand the question' 

Q well, you knew tYi1. you were making these.repairs-

and  ; di4n1 t you? A yes. 

Q And tha t you .1a.'tdn.' t f lied plans for thei in the 

Tenemen t House Depaw:— tment? A Yes 

And then you oJin. that that you did was 

of the Tenemen 1: House Act? A Yee. 

But :ou  the ag en t in charge o that work? 

Q, The did par tic ulLx things that you have tes 

in your d ir e c t examimationV A Yes . 

Q, Now, who was thi s axe hi tett& A Andrew 07.. 'Thomas, f. 
P ordham Road. and 17 e t Avenue, Bronx -

there does he live? A Vrashing ton Er.eLhts, 

know hi.s r e s idono.';e address 

Ho. lonc have you knovrn 'him? last four 

0,, And. whon did xiaho first go on that job?: izrt: 

was he in :rroLl tl•,.e beginning? A Ho Was inn 

a nt the V! Ork • 

employed in he same way you were, 

A No, he was empi oyed • by sae ,0 

Ho was employed .by you? A You :072,r . 



(),' Did you direct him to make these plans, and coils, 

sult with him about naking the pans for this work? 

n Talo did? A I don't know. There were no plans 

(*; That i, you ware s.oin to do the work tithotxt 

plans? A it was put up to him to epave coAtracts for 

that end of it. If plans 

wer,--; needed, he was to do it. 

Tenement Rome D6partment to do the work? A If it Was , 

necessary to be done it was put up to him.

°, Did he ever do that? A I know that he went to 

the Tenoment House DepOtnent„ and got the existint, violation 

and included those ir neirl vork* 

bronrIll, 'hack Wie Tintnt Yonne violations. 

And r) I1  WE1. Lliti.t? A In February. 

—ell, lioFJc ren not viola Lions for thj.sOrk that 

existinv violations. They were 

1,cfaze the work wa 

wordn, [h( bviidinr wtz odstinc t&4re 

with violons on it at Chctime that you at tie 



Now, what Ilse was beinF made of the building at t'he 

time you and the architect were there first, when you began. 

to ne the al rati' an  ehanires and at the time you say 

there were violations on it? A There was an office and a 

littlestore on Lfte 96th Stre t side, and thee: were but 

to tenants livinF in the rest of the house. 

Wore you colleetinr the rents from those enants? 

P, VT.I.o was? A To ne Te put them out.. 

Do you mean to say that you tried to collect, and 

couldn't? A 1To, sir. The buildincr. was rntenantEblel and 

I put. thtflal but; at least, I i.yttt one out and kept the 

Q, Was tbis always . tenement house? A Y 

stores on the rround floor? A Yes, sir. 

(-),• And what do you mear by tenement house?- A building 

unfit for occupangy? P To, sir, no, indeed. 

0, Then what (Lo you nloan? A 1 meant that-theartMen. 

at that -.1.1-1e tat I Look it Tler not fit to live in, ,and. 

to Fet (11-; up rropoTly, I put theenants, 

It was ,rt oald, 1.Tidovn builGinr. 

becol:e tenemtnt house .until : you dii 

this walk in iL? A That I couldn't tell you. 

know :Jt. alwas been L t OItCthl), ttee 



We 11, what do yoU know about i. t, further an yo u 

have told about it, about the housel A Nothing at faLi 
0 Now, When did, you first: collect rent for the oecetzpa-

tiOli of tha 'building, or any part. of it? 

0, Ill en in ,Apr il? A 13e ttre n t.1-4E% t and 15th. 

.0, And fa.' on. v.r.b.cin dici. you collet 'that? A From 

familylledS e livt a tz . 

0, V.fhti t p •:; s e s idthey occupy?A The fourth floor: 

on the Firs t Avenue id.0 of the house. 

0, Is tha t ft on t or rear? A F:e on t 

0„ And. who was the next tenant (that you coIlectint rent 

from? A I don't t recall Mit 

Erovr, can you fLx tho date rhe- yo U. did this ? 

Ythen I collected this rent? 

Q, Yes A 1fot o titer than tamic t tier the sbt 

0, That did your father do on the f irst Yonday he MI. 

doing work there? A He was tearing tho paper  off' the, store* 

He was patching tl-ie corner s t ore . 

Q, And wax, tl.!h t: more .1rap or ban t to yo u than. c one o tins. 

rent from the tenan ts t bidlc ing,? A 1riitLy imp or ban 

And. Low do you fix the ic te wtion youfrs t rOceivedi 

the rent, yet ;1/o u can' t fix the time ;when he was re 



pairing the store there? A Because I recc13.ect 

1i the same week that this inspector vrü arreste 

it; that you fix the time .that you first 

beam to collect rent in this b A Because Iwas 

r tne nt up for the 8•81iwar bz,s4 whn I ..r4VS t met 

the in spe.c t or and • I know I rim t him Eta' 

Q, Hov c.o you know a t ? A IIeowe I justremLemb eX*. • 

But how do you tie up for that• par tic d 

10th of thc: Lto th? A I said round the tenth of tionth 

Q, For 1on av(! yo u known jakob ? A Jakob 

0, Yes A S -1110 e F Chr.11.' 

nD1Cshe Jive in this 1 rail inp: at the time you Nye nt 

continue o I ive in Lb.icfj building and 

thatio  it • was un tenan table  as you 'say? 

Q, And ,cont. in 1,,e to live :In that 1. Aildincl of which 

you were a r,en t  ctown o th Iij ;hen you got it in*. pc the 

1.7 Ht tOr.' rt_TA:ITS were being made"?' 

? A Shcnr Th 0.6 LtEl a.s an .arohi too t 



ete'lve any . compensation d ur ing t 

period that the building: was :L..m;te na nt able ? A Yes sir. 

Merl -d id he col* nsaiLoxit berth? 'A X t b ep; an at the 

time I took' the b 

rell') .dian ask 

date A It ber,r,11 in Paw uary  vrhi thiD opcqa ti on t beg. an . 

Was it mid by money or check? .. A • By inOney • 

0, Did. you pay it? A Yes  sir. 

Q, Yo s elf ? A Ycss ) 

Q., How much did. you py. her? A SA a week 

R Now) I waolt, yo to describe in detii the s000nd-• 

f1oo of ..thi bU1JdiD 

TP . NAINITY: As t existed when? 

CRAIG.: At the t iiie bot, which he ha been. 

A On or .bout the LineCf the EL 1 ter E0, ti o us ? Or 0.0 yam 

:ou vit the of the I" 00MS and all that too? 

front.inc on Ildrgt Avenue 

kfiv ioonw, ;her we): e two apax traenteon 

.CUUMP L,L1" tmenfte fto n t mpg 

on 96th S tre et . And. f OMP vere kitchen r o 

pan l or an& tio bed.r 0 arts . 

Q, And liovi were .t'hey 1E16 out? A, A,o 1 yon.tXed,you H 



Q, /Tow' s 4.rtf... on tihe•t es t „ or wherever you gain access 

to thosQ r o orle • 1-411b1,10 halT, of the , building*, 

nd e tor the ttpar t fr ora tit 110.1 On! urft private 

a])ELi1Cjnt 0.0 o,r intro txL r afj0 Off that priyte hall -

t ch/n . Text to tciun :In ion he private. 

o,13 , VMS a oo . 

0, Foy, , t Tho :11 El id Eiof tvt( C001 are. tie ki. then 

and nf: nom? t‘ On 1,1-. S treCt: 

nor f.!.. 02. o uth eas t or v‘YeS t? A 21.7.v.tt 

lo th( t k3c1 . 

Anc-4. vrh 1t. :1E; t:H1.'c,ct:1 ten 1-roro. the Wininc room? 

e 1.1 120 vh er e ea" roopis are? 

0 cr upar t.i.tt n t,Ei is On the 0.0:tene 2?-1' 

0 " t c o:tE' 1. (:)(.. 111 C!G t AvE,1 nue, . 

Thos e et; 1. (;11tEi 

Li t t h: a 1 ti,yer two -bear o oms „ 

oo. pa.) n ts , rq. four XOOrI apar tents, 

a :01, Leitk. 1 ath rooti,. that i 

CI .1 llin" on Olen the 1) e dr oom 

„1,rjri , ot t.-k1i.tolten vas or  the south 

sje.tuft:tt( va . 

OCCUPled that five room apar tmen 

0F Api 11? A T7v • pa r i r if, vac 00010 ed 



And whO occUpicd the t 

of Av2:il? A LT don,' t r eoall 

Do recall whether or no L 

A I cc:uJ.d.n't say at this 

tment on the 10th 

you remealb ET that in your ix ec t exrf,In..aalatiorr 

you stated that the defedant said to you it woad coSt'som0 

u&red dollars to do something vh oh you des crib ed Did 

that make iny impress i on on you at the time? A Yo.$ . 4 

c And hey: is t tha t you are enable to le cal what 

this some ItlIndred dollars was? A I don't just retail 

interns t et!. to 

recall? Weren't you sufficiently 
might 

of the fact that you 3§100,1* be: subjected 

to an expense of that kind there? A At that 

Aria aid you have ny Alpr s s ion as to what expense 

you would be -• objected to? A Only what he said. at that 

Q well , t ht: say? A I tried to tell: you. 

don't knoY the ,TIOUIP of monHy he said He said Oi certa in 

t ('Y thin non-her was it? A .1", don, 

0ut of r:ny pay' • 



You didn't like the idea of having the Department 

ooie down on you; aid. you? 

Anu. you lcumrl.in addition the misatime 

is also a penalty Of 25O for 61, violation; 

didn't your? A ffo, sir. 

Q, Have you found the inr? A No sir. 

0, Have you been the agent of any other prop 

A Yes 2237 Andrews Avenue, Boromt of the Bronx. •212 West 

184th Street. Those are two enernent houses. 

Q Have you macte Foly alterations in them? 

0, My!, dia you regard this as a curious conversationr 

RE DIRECT EKAYINATION BY MF. 11ANLRY: 

NW H, how ylvTry fleurs are there in the house, agan'V-

th'ink you have answered it, but t'll me again?. A Five4.-

And hov: man apartments on a floor, at that tiu.i0?• 



'fatness.' 

• called. on behalf of the People, beinc, duly sworn, tes-

tifiea cts follows: 

DIRI:OT MUM:MAT ION BY IT MAMMY: 

Mr. McLernan I are you. thef a ther of the last witness, 

Mr. N. TicLuzman? A Yes sir. 

There do you live, sir? A 14 est 188th Street. 

Ana ou havu lived them how lair ? A Five years. 

c 'that is ur bus.ness, Moiler nun? A Builder. 

And hownlont': have you been in the building business? 

A About 30 years. 

Now, 01-110 t 1111 durin, April of this year, 

sone work on the prunises 340 East 96th Street? A Yes, 

Q, Do you rerlunik er whun i. t EIS that you began to 

work? A. I Lhink it was about the 23rd of April. 

You thi„,117 it was about tlie 23rd ofApril? 

.c), Do yo7. recall i.vhat day of the week it was-1 I thirilc.' 

t :MEI Tuesday. 

as to your recollection as to 

thk. of tht weck? That's 01.t best of niy recolleti„on*, 

c??..1z did you do down there 

HoLernan, and ii wiu.t pi:Ixt of the building? A It the store 

Takinv off H0116 ptver ane. ):',11r son patching. 



:the firbt floor. 

BY TIM COURT: 

R Do you meat the street or*reund flOor? 

the street or grdund floors 

BY R. MANLEY: 

At the time you 7ere doing that work dId. you, see the 

defendant Farley? A Yes, sir6 

How many days were you there, sir, durin that work/ 

0 And did you see him on the first or second day? 

0 Did you see him more than once? A Yes, thE.' next 

q No 1 what conversation, if any, did you have with 

this defendant Farley at thc time you .saw him, the first day, 

dovm there? A Well, Parley come into the store and he, aske41 

me was the owner around, and I told him no. 

0 Keep your voice up loud, please. A And he saidl-, 

nIoire been '1,1attinu to see, hin lately, 

And so I aid, 

my son kn.oy, but isn't.arquad here 

and I can't rut across 

7111 ta-e 

him a r,lessaEe to -night." And then he said they had 'done the 

plumbing without any plan being, filed for it,, and it was 

violation of the law, and they would have to do it oV0V 



- away under Ow water closets p.nd el<pose all the works, 

Of I1W flU lui0 £o it. 

Q., • Ala t tha t ? Pi€• rai :0 rOir vo 

U• AEd that thc3.- al ad done thit can't hear yo 

uf,Co jug ftn viOiti on of 1D;t7; because they had, no plan for • 

take up the work ar,"•.;,:in and expos e the • 

nab Inc; good  deal of :1:Loney for 

to do it; nd o .1 if they .,.ould make it iight wiUh him, Why, 

he 'ould. see UAL. t no vilabon VMS put on to it Una. .11.0 '.ou34 

fix it. up the Do pax L.,.on L,and nobody 1no1:7 anything • 

a, bout it, and I eE,,, id I "Would („3..0 s ti el" y you this.' thing?"  • 

ould uOSt T.he thin,  has b pen 

inr, on so 1(m:: tiu.t t !.L•y have c;o t onto it in the  Depar tmen 

and I'vet to sooLJwrs me."•  

Q, Yov , do you rue all ele?  A Well I • 

to him, "Then I ill 1 t :ay f., on 1(710, to -nigh t when I et 

home and he s "1 '11 be 11a,ck t. o -morr ow at haf pas t -

eleven, for t- 1!1•,50 and I L,t1,:y"1:; , "All right.." 

Um-1i, die jul,i btA. Yrs. Yakob there about the 

t f:cac the. t Jou itad tJk ri. t 1.1 cLefPc4 n t Farley? , And. 

.1,1hc:-.0. I b ay " there "  1Liu;..,11 

Jakob was - an :I. nt: • 1 t. 1 in  

(), And. \:r1) s "hull you mean the hall, on. what 

floor? A The first 



roc, Cko Yot reot:11 thrtt tho anuae of the defr 

V13, "1 Y1U have to 8e (.4 theti ;ceferi• ink; to others in t 

De par L)21.011 t? Can yo tt rivu ii hi crrds on th.o. t p in t as 

. Cr : i ol)jOcL to that as leading a-nd. 

tap:roper, „ and. as an tir1y impr opor cluez tion i the 

pro s one.(, of  t.1),:is 

°VEX:J. ulk)d 

CRAIG: Excei.) i on 

MAITLEY: I am la 'ely uotinr b.i.s • te's imony 

your Honor please as I 1-dad.ers t o od. it, and c1in, his 

tten Li on a ac: er twin part of it„ and sing 11* to 

iv me the-. defendant s exac t, word. 

TIi C Repe tithe (.1es t ion, Ir. S tenographer 

(It i cepeated • the s tonographer) 

thc. words, "referr 

Depar t.tot,nt ” I o.13.. not catch that., 

first, al tilt: kiot.:bt 

stenwrE).phor. I rill s us ta in 1:ihe obdec t *ion to 

BY 71, . 1..TA 1112 :Y 

recall 11.11y Litint; else tat defnda. 

said ut 



TITA COVRT: 

Q Do you recall tlya exact words that the deftridant 

To the best of my knowledge. 

Q. yrell novr, t tit beet of your knowledge and. 

retollec t ion g the exact wordo he used,. That' is the 

clues tiongou are 

o take care of 

BY TSR NATTY: 

E,.bove him in 

omything else th't 

besides that you have told us? A That's a,bo 

d 3r o us ee yo 122: son, thst nich 

er na,n when you go t hoe? 

t; 

and ,inc amp et en t and not 1incdnr., on the , 

Tffl•C T11.111.1 : - OveriLcd. 

T.T.. CRAIG: Fax op t ion. 

n And. I.Laci 1,11.e dLeuci1jit told, you to tej.11. tha thin 

to 

ML .CRAIG: 1 Co jeot to ti as uiy, 4.)r operl 

and I think lithe Die Lic t Attorney should, be eVorved 

for asking such a cjusti.on in the pl'es en° e of the S1Xr7 

TIM COURT: rro I do not think PiAt he should' be 



• : And. I exc 6-4) t tot 

(The ques ti.on is repes. ted by tne tenographer) 

AYes 

TWITITY: 

And. Odd youte thOE things to 3ro ur son? A Yes, 

J'I. MAIC, 1Tow ohect Lo that afi hear say and 

inl,»:v op er and. not bi.ndin on tho defendant 

stike out th.f...A EinEINVer 

TIfl C : I will s las ta 

out thQ 

a talk wi. Lh yo  

ITow, upon LA;: nin Olty, I you hcf,-ci-e already • • • 

rad.an t F&t.ra.E.,,yi is that 

0, iTo.r, ten 1Z-1 1111.E!. t (; (MIT(' I'S a ti3Orl you had. w.Lh h:4 at that 

) :11 i;',11Y.? A Trc caitto I 13 V/ 'IV on and 

h. ould see 11.im n Prd.ay. 

next iqoaminc;  about htt,lf past iovn 0 !oloCk 4coordng to 



e 

ppointrnent he 'mid he would be buck he teict-terhInZ 

the money, at half past eleven 

.but ltlf t el 

33Y TM  COURT: 

0, He •ca iutO 'Where? A In the $ tore of this 

build,ing that vie have been t aking. about. And I went over 

to hint E:;11ci saiö. I Iliad seen .ty son and Oy on. had _told me 

to tell hini that hp tould. see him on Prid.ay. And Mr. Farley 

then poke up and. said, "I'll be EJ,. ouLd about hal.f at 

eleven, on Friday, to se.c: your son." 

Tas anythini else 6 

n Now., dici. you have r.-.ny furtier 'vlith the 

defendant after that, before he was arrested? 

ItF. That Is all . 

BY Mil 00I.TRT: 

Did you have nothor talk vri Ch 3rouit .-..son ..af ter that: 

A No , not tht I :3- el. Lellb6T 

1:1111:17: I don' t know whether the. •itness 

ondex.'s tdlC ,1;,t question or not. 

BY . NATTLIIY: 

Q, Did aoi have a talk with yoi 

yo u saw the defencts'In t? A Ohl 

11R . CRAIG: Objeo:Ced to. 

na; O)BT 



tenographer 

you haVe been a 

Q., In ffew Yor.City? A 

In Nuvrourghl paxt. of- the bIme 

Q, And. how 1 onv, have you yo uravoe 

builde,r in New 'YorkCity? Seven years*. 

0, And rer aware•  of .1.: he faot that 

New York 0 taia Tenement Ho use Del 

And. have you }ad a:. cdr.i.t. ions wi th that Depar.tmen t7 

And you t ip tin in mak inr:: these - a1toratlo 

up there? A No y ;ir 

.0, Well .1 what • !ere ;you do then.? A I mere1y. yren t • 

there to d.o °me work . 

0„ Well, you ,prr_: dof •ork :in this builiig, to 

make these aJ. tor E.. LI. ons ? A Yes 

Aric.:111.1 

pa,pe3-.• end. d. oinr, 

BY MT. OflAIG; 

fl Did. you faadC'e E.-;.ny in e ttiry a to ttheJi2trwaY :Pjans 



Itneineritt liouse Depar tmen 

customary with you in following your avocation 

aH a builder to ignore ent5xr1y Lhe Toestion as to whether 

plans had bek'm filed with the TenementlIouse Department 

Jhexu you are doinc work? A No, I'm not supposed to do 

1,11Lbl I'm not 01,11;14sed to ignore it, 

And. you or.. uwaeo) t it is a mis-

adraeanor for E.. builder to make oaterations in a -building' 

vtileal no plans have been f :,led•P A Yes 

THE, COURT: Hu does not sw that- he was Tasking' 

any altorEttions. Fe says that he was takinr; orae-papet' 

off a wall ni patchily the wall, 

TT. CRAIG: Tull, those vere odtorationol.r. 

we r e c aapletEd J t1mt t. The s e wore simply.  

0* AK 0 13, of L40 East 9(ith Street, a witneSs. oa4 
OH begalf of tic bcinr cIuly sworn,  testified: 

DIRECT FAXATIIDTATIOIT BY 13:R , 

Mw lOnc Yaw; you lived at* 40 06th tre t? 



A I homo1tved the ,re now two years and four montba 
there 

February, March and Arii of 

this :oar? A Yes 

0, And, vrhat posit _Lon Lio 

Q And were you dur,,np'; that 

just sp:oken of? A No, I cot th janitor place 

t? of 4I—uary. 

Q Fr mil the, is t 

Q, Then you were janitre s there in Ffibriler;,,T 

am). April of t7iis !er? 

Q You say you have lived in that building how long? 

o yeat's and. foul. months • 

That :coams did you occupy? A I lived. on the top 

fl And what kina of IuoL).s ,'ere they? A A parlOri,. 

room, ki.tcht.n anc to bedrooks ahd the p/-iv tehall' 

0, There was a )2.- ir t.71 fitchf:n; was there? 



-and fo.ur children?. A' 

did any other people live in that house When 

lived. there? A Oh, yes, the house was full of peoples 

c W011, how were tkLey livi'F? A !I'llere was five. 

fir o#t and, four in the back 

0, They v.rer t U, advinc, there t ogo ther ; were ther, 

It wasn't all on  f Emily ; was it? . A No, 

families in the house, 

Occwying separate rooms? A Yes,  

Anci doinc their own cooking? A Yes sir 

c); And livinE there? A Yes 

BY MR MATTI'Y: 

How iny cJ.fferent 'apart:men ts 3•e there in. the 

en tire house? A High t 

Q AncL r tL.eiC C01111110/1, 0 Ut S icte hEiis 1.18 'by 

te:nants ? A Y(,-.>s 3 611E.O..1 I t 0,0 halls  

Till :you co4j.cedo that 

tenement house? 

ITo I think it was an uninhab I ted 

s tr uc aye  from Lii evi (lone so far , witil this 

I • o tlemc.,n jo ar t. el anti 1.,ried Co collect Some rents, 

in ther e- I .r ti.ni 111 no tmako the ono ss ion 

that i t. was e • ( nomont OUse 

BY T,T1 MAIITTY: 

n, Now yo that Walt 3 3 Lfl1, fi Or in 

*Tan 



this year? A Yes, sir. 

there any difference in the arrangemen 

apartmentso the rooms rid.  du): ing Pe,bxuar y c h and 

L April,.om wh&t they were durngJArkqary? 

111. CRAIG: objec t t a that. as 

:Irrelevant and ilia omi,e tent. 

q.1711 COURT: Overruled., 

. mAIG : Exc ep Lion . 
no 

t was/different in the rooms only th p1ibin 

is fixed over, and new bath tubs r,ul, 

. immaterial , 

0, But the same number of rooms were- there? A Yes, 

Q, And the sa.:ie number of aparti.f lents on each iflo or? 

A Yes, sir. And 1 !.,oved from the top floor, to the fir 

BY It. ATTflY: 

0 And were! the same ar-angements there for Co oking irr 

the various apap: tmen ts clurinr, all those months? Yes, si 

0, And were :the same ublic 5Jl5 there that tjght be 

used by t ona n s 1,11 os e mon the? 

CJAIC I object to that. 

. MAMJ-lar: 1 jai in ti dr WV the ques t i on 

BY 3,11' . 

n• •Tfer0 Li611 EJ thore, the, ones thst you have 



described, during all those months? 

they vere p ublic ltalls 
were 

the-eotino 

BY MI 11ANT;RY: 

vthen dJc. you firs t become acqnted. with Mr., 

Ler nan? A About the 15th of 3may. The ate I can't tell 

A exac tly but it ribas 6 Obl€: t1110 in .TELnuary. Mr • ilifeLernan 

t the rooms and. he .skeci 

IR. CRAIG: bjectod to. o 

(.717 COURT: Sustained. 

BY MR MANTYY: 

Tell rrho encarbed you to act as janitor? A. The 

agentbefore kir. . McLrnan was ther Thoz e was lzo tenant 

Ana af ter Mr. Ivierernan g be:an to 13(.1 the agent 

there, did you (.:on tinto acT; as janitor? A Yes) 

Q, /Tow clo r(71 rri  et that, in February' and, Mare4 

dont., ere upon toile ta and the btlith: 

Q, HaCLyou seen t.lifts fcndnt, LhO:3i Iremiøe,S-



Im,ch ftgain 

rel -Did you see him upon the promisee during the time tha 

they were fixiri sore bath tub on the second floor, one - 

f11ght up and, a toilet down in the toreon the ground floor?''' 

DiL3.Le have ax- any  talk 11'...Lth you alloat 'toe things? 

he :k.E),d no talk. 

af ter ,111 thoso things becm fixed that I 

have spoken of, that ir,4 thebath:cooms on the seoand 

and the toilot down in the store., d16 you again see Mr.. 

Farley on those premises? A Yes, sir. 

lift . CRAW: One minute . I object to the assumPtion., 

"Af ter 11 these thing's we:i.e finished." 

THL VIET: Ovorruled. You mean the work referred 

o Mi.. libLernan 1 Jr .? 

MR . MUFEJ-n irO 

in AT te!.1.' the 1roktn 1oki I.J.cLutioes, tb,ci siI.urabers 

iiict cE4,2'pe1t(.!..c3 1 see the defendant 

!We e ? A You b F.C.11Ci e st4dc,i 

tz3r th inr,? "Is 

"le ar: 0111' c: ifo lea ord 1:0161 ? " And, rill 

ttnytTvInv e1 u? A Then hecOme 

1L,!alo2d 04' avOnt wae there, 



*a. 

the 'landlord or 'agellt  what You want,/ rAnd, he said, "NO, 

see the agent or landlordmyself. Tell him that I Want to 

e e him." 

Q, And did he say who he Via Re had h.126 badge and 

he had. his tuilf'o:;,1i on, and. I know t'yho 

He wa s in un if arra and. had. a bahge on? A - Xes, s 

" BY IT: 

Novr, were you titer Mrs.,Tak 015 at, any time when any, 

talk took Place between Mr McLernanxx and. Mr. Paley? 

A No, not the your Mr MeLernan, no . 

hollered "Janitor", and I 

n You mean the defendant Parley? A Yes , that's the 

inspector . And he came up on the th ird floor and thehh 

was tLlkin o Yr . McLerhan 1 the ac en L. 

Is Li at the ruui on refer to ( ind ea t ing II - Nelson 

li'cLernan) ? A Yes. 

0, Foy!, did you sue the father of yo ung Mr. Mcliernan 

do 111,7 work on the firs t xxx floor at, any tine? A Yes.,Lhe 

take off 'Japer , and wash hc' ceiling and plas ter sOme 

And vhcn was tha t ? A Ti c said.e -euk that tha..t , 

gen tleman was arres ted (iiiu lea tinc: the defendant) On. the 

Monday and T uos da3, lie camut ore 

ç rho axle there? A Tha t gen tiuraLn, the thsFec tor 

( nd ota, tinv the d uf u n dam t ) • 

Air. Farley only 



Ga Do you mean P20 daf end.an ? 4 Ye 

0, And. were tho.s e the days on Nthich Mr. Ittigh "Nrc.Ler Mil 2 

the older Mcifernan was working in the tore? A Yes, .sir. 

And. in what part of tile premises ,did, yo tt see, thec 

inspector, Parley? A niC,ht, 'he tveen the door and the 

Q, :And how near to where r. TcLernt.I.n aas working? 

Right in , the ,place here that man was standing. 

, Right n the place ,,here ...11cLernan was standing? 

A Yes, sir I Was scrubbin(, the 'hall t. and. there is the 

door, and one steep goei, down into the s tore Cillus trating) 

Right there was the door from the tore ( indicating ) and. 

there I was layinc on t7oe floor, scrubbing (illuS tra Lag) 

Q, And :,ou ucrubbipv, the ball? A Yes 1 o#* 

Q, And that is right next to the hall? A Yes sir. 

0, And did yon hear any of their conversation at the 

time? A N'o, 

BY ,T1-711 rOTTI-11]1: 

n How a o yo 1.1 f,(:.t, p r '011 "ni r ound SI. oor to the other 

floors of that bildid in/7? A Ho.!.,; is the hall -and you e; 

up this way, and the s Pa is r 000 tfi is way ( iili t - 

You ,:o ttr,; do ,you? A Yes 

n Am or n ny (.; 0 you ikt)? -4. One 0, 

One l'ou' each floor? A You, sir. Tho first irc 

sucond tala LIO.rd and fourth WO halNesi 



- Yes, but there is only one s ta,irway? 

0 Everybody goes up and down on those /3 air-a 

BY 1 M ITAITLEY : 

Q Novi, after.Farley o t thr o ic.b, talking with Mr. 

MeLcrnn, on the cky you ere talking about, whi0:1, you say 

va llonda3r , did. Parley say a rw thing . to you? A No s w 

Q, Noz, do you .tucali ther or no he came out 

and  said a ny thinr to you? 3us t think A, 7811,, yes, I 

there,vias  and I said,"Hello tt and I said, "You here? Till 

you se the landlord?" And he said, "No, I told. the old 

gentleman all a,bout it " And then Th. Ncliernan cane out • - 
- • 

think of anythinF else that Farley 

3aid at the.) tirae if he said an thing else? A No, he .didnt t 

say no mo:r e that day, only that 13Entle CIELY when he came o 

I said, "Hello . Do you want to see the landl ord.? " And he 

said, "No  it; isn t necessary. I wa talking to the old 

man." And then I rent ..nto cI2pn 

0, 0" us t a mini) t(•! • Af t r Far le3r had gone ay, to t 'dayi 

did you have talk 7.7cTiernan? A Yes • sir v 

I object. to thi..t a ino omp e tent, 

aridhuaxsay, anc no I binLi a.nt- on the th,fendan t in this 



e fact that she had a 

verSation is .a3,1 that is testified tO • 

BY :T.TR •MANTZIY: 

Q, Toi when I speak f Ncliernan, If ter that 

conversation.,. I mean Nr • Hugh MOLernan? 

.0, TS that right? A Yes, sip,. 

And did you see: -oarley the next day., on Tuesday? 

0, But you saw N. HI'gh lifoLerna,n on thE' nekt day? 

coming down to th.e 26th of April, Friday., • did,: 

anybody come to those premis es, to that building „ and. o 

through the building', on that day, Friday? 

. CRAIG: Obj cc tea to, as immaterial ; irrele 

and t-en t andlib.ar s ay and not indin. 

BY 3.M . MANLY:Yr: 

n nay! ; d yo u 1 tid 0 P. t wha t t,Oi.r name s v-imr , or who 

. 01j cc td to . 

C Ov 

GRAI Cr Lxco1. ion. 



BY TV), MANLY: 

'Did. you f o 

1 rho were they? 

ey were? A Yes s ir * 

1L.. P4iG: O'bjciod to as erial 

z...„,nd. in c ompe tant, anci not 1.) in ainn on the efe4nt, 

TM: 0111t1 : ob eC Lion f,Jizstained.. 

1'71. . TAITLEY : 1%11 , may I have 111' Schwar t z 

Fink and. Off i ce 111-, 1:4s 1Yr llf t n? 

-re yon ifl. 

BY . 1.1.A/TLEY : 

tTov you sc,.; Lt.1 :Al 0113: t1 ,1.1,11y011.0 

S EU:up .t. t h o us o on 1-,11.;-,. t, 1P:o (Jay tha 2 C., th of 'Apr . 

A I see th.(.., throe a en tic.fr.i,n ,./hat was in my house 

eating Arboi'E2',c1INTi-tr josophH Fink and Officer Alber t 

1To,r, aIc,ulvl.,.at t.,1!ree rEa 

th 11E;t: 7.1 IT? A IL WELL; o clock . 

11 tit( nuoll'A it 'JEW ;A. 11 1:1  / 10 alarr 

ITC) nn L: vr(;-1. UL t I ;Liu --omp to put 

r L .t.. tk :PA L trit:i61011 

u t.1, m to you? 

'pc t.t ni ) r iiU ilvtworty, &Lflt iO 1.1 blrld 



Tffi COURT: 

MR. 'CRAIG: Exception. 

A 'Yes, sir. 

give you anything? A Yes, 

Q What did they give you? 

Objected to, as 

relevant and incompetent, and hearsay, and not 

binding on the defendant. 

Q After they gave you the eight five dollar 

were sitting in the dining room, speaking together., 

In whose apartment? A In my apartment,. , 

Q row, you come into your apartment from the 

outside hall, into whet room do you first dome?. 



Q Well, now, What happened after these three ie 

had4one into this other room? A I exoused myself-

MR. aRAIO: Objected tt. 

TH! COURT: Sustained. 

Well, now, what was the next thing that happen-

ed? d that that gentleman,. 

Q The defendant Farley, you mean? 

He knocked on the door and I said, "Come in", and, when 

he come in, he said, "Was the landlord around?" And. I 

said, "Yes. He left you forty dollars." And he said, 

And then he walked in and sat down in 

the dining room, and asked, Is somebody around?" And 

And then he said, "'ring the  money 

down in the store, „1-1d take the key down too, and open 

thu dflnr and I will measure the toilets", and so I said, 

And he went in the store, and he didn't measure 

anything, but he took the money, -nd he walked, out in 

the vestibule, and I said, "Will you please tell; 

something, what you will do with thu forty 

cause I 111 not janitor hum long, a.nd the landlord he 

will think aily be I keep the forty doll—s," and he a 

"Oh, that's all right, Tell him I'll fix up the yb 

tion, an0 ovorythlap will ho all rightl “nd 



10 orget o leave the other ten dollars 

week, and tell him to fix 'up that stone, and it will be 

all right. And th11 the detective comes, and 'he, says 

Objection sustained. 

What stone did he speak of if you.know? 

Night at the vestibule there. (Illustrating). 

Where you and Farley were standing? 

Q And how soon after did the Police Officer come 

It was the Police Officer who came to you, You 

my hand, uight fdve hullo. 

And were thLy in an envelope? 

open, juot rolled together. 

You mounted thm, dad you? 

oount them ahon I go t from the dete 



izi the sideboard, in thi drawer, and he Said, 

mix the money up with your money" and I said, "I,have 

no money in the house." And when that man came up, 1 

took it out, the money. 

Q. Which man? A That man. (Indicating the de-

fendant). I took it from the drawer, and put it in 

his hand, and he put it in his pocket. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, CRAIG: 

there? 

wall. 

What did you say that Hugh MoLernan wae doing 

Plastering and scraping the paper on the 

What do you mean by plastering? A Plastering 

the holes what was in the wall. 

Putting plaster on the wall? A Yes, sir. 

And he was also taking old paper off the wall? 

Yes sir. 

Q At the time you were living in this house in 

January, there was no other family living there, was 

there? A No, sir. 

Q And how soon after tiltJt did the first family 

cote in? A 'eJ.1, it was in April. 

tThat time in April? A vela., I can't tell 

you the day. 



• 

JOSEPH jr, -FINK,,of 240 West 122nd Stress 

a witness called on behalf of the People, and being 

duly sworn, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. MANLEY: 

Q Mr. Fink, what is your business? *A Private 

Secretary to the Tenement House Commissioner. 

Q Now, talk up as loud as youcan. And you have 

been secretary for the Tenement House Commissioner bow 

long? A Since the Commissioner's appointment, in 

January, 1909---or, 1910, rather. 

Q And you were acting as such secretary in April 

of this year, were you? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, some time during the week before the 26th 

of April, that being Saturday, did you have some talk 

with one of the deputy commissioners, one of the Deputy 

Tenement House Department oommissioners, Mr. Abbott, 

about the premises 340 East 90th fttreet? Just yes 

or no to that question. 

MN. nRATC: I nbjc,ot. 

TIT (=PT: I nuntLin thc oljeotio.. 

FY MR. MANLEY: 

Did you, rn or about thu With day of April go 

to the prumiouo I have junt o olun of? A Yen, sir. 



got there about eleven o'plook in the morning. 

Did anytody go there with yeti?" A.  Yee,Mr 

of the District .Attorney's Office, and Mt, 

Schwartz, also of the District Attorneys office..-.- At 

least they told me they were from the District Attorneya 

office. I had never seen either man before. 

Q Had you been to the District Attorney's Office 

prior to going up there? 

No.al when you three gentlemen got there) did-, 

Q, Did you have a talk with her? Just yes or 1210.. 

M. OHAIC: I object to that as -hearsay) and 

not binding on the defendant, and immateriaa,-irrel7 

evnt and incompetent. 

PY MR. MANLEY: 

Lid you, or anyone in your presence 

any  when you got, there? 

Objected to as before, 



What did he give her? 

of money, With forty dollars in it. 

Q Have you told me what time it was when you got 

there? A About eleven o'clock ip the morning. 

When you got there, into whet part of the pram 

ses did you go? A Went into the dining room. 

Q On what floor? A Second floor. 

,just one flight of 

Q Now, do you remember, When you went into' the 

aartmerit, going into a certain room in her apartment, 

And after the money had been given, to her, whet, 

did you go? A We went right out of the dining room . 

through an opening where there were portieres hung 

went into what she called the parlor. 

Q Now, you go from the outside hall I' to. a room 

of that apartment, do you? 

And bow many rooms from the first room thOHyou 

entered did you gq, as you have just said? 

cd from the dining room into the parlor, and across the.• 

irivate hall into a bedroom. 



* 
11111wr 

4,4 

But into which ror% accoiding to ttOberp4 Aid 

you go, after you had given the money to the lady? 

Number two from the room we first entered. 

Q And what did you'd° there? A We sat there, 

looking out of the window, behind the lace curtains, and 

that room that you decimated as nuiber two; and, after 

a while, we heard someone coming upbtairs, and, as there 

was only -a pair of f-ortieres between the two rooids, We , 

th'..;n walked across the hall, and into a room that had 

door on it, which Mrs. Thomas closed. 

And then I heard a man's voice Baying, "Well, 

have you got that for me?" And she said, "Yea"; and 

he said, "Anyone in the rooms?" And she said; "No." 

I heard a woman's voice say "mo". Then I heard a mant0 

voice say, "Are you sure of that?" And she said'"Yes. 

And he ol..ed where was thG bathroom, and then I heard a 

door bang, and then he said, "Al] right". Come on down. 

store. And thcn J heard somerne w,117inf7 down the 

stirs, and it is a winding and a rickety stairs, and - 

you could li ar someone w'ilkinr, down heavily, and then 

gr. Thomas said, "Comu on". 

No. Pardon me. Just before he got up.otairs, 

Mr. Thomas .rot out of that room aooss thu hal1) and se 



And then Mr. Thomas pushed the door of that roan 

open) and said, "Come on". 

And he went down first, and after him Mr. Schwartz 

and I was behind them, and we went down 

the stairs from the 

second floor to the stroet level. And there rheard 

someone say,"Well, all right. I'll take this,yot 

get the balance for me in a couple of days, nnd, in the 

meantime, don't worrry, everything will be all right. 

lAit fix that, and, in case another Inspector comes 

around, he won't 'tax see anything wrong." And then I 

heard a woman's voice say, "Ali right". 

And then I heard a woman's voice say) "He's 

And then I went out on the sidewalk) rmd I saw 

a man walking ur, the street, and Mr. Thomas grabbed:him, 

and it wrs only about forty feet from the eT,trande to the. 



was in uniform. 

BY R. MANLEY: 

Now, ihat took place between the, defendant and. 

Thomas, Or you and the defendant, on the street there? 

A Thomas said, "iou are u'uder. arrest. What have you 

got in your pocket?" And he had it in his left hand 

And he said, "What have you got there? 

he said, 'Forty dollars." And he snid, "Where did you 

said, "Fink, can't we fix this? 

to fix it, I '11 get all the. money that 

necessary 

necessary 

in the District Attorney's custody, and you had better 

And at the corner he said to Mr. ThOmas, 

nt to doubt you, hut will you please show me 

officer, and Thons put his hand in his trouset0 

And Thomas advised hi 

to say anything, because it oould be used against 

And, going down on the car, he asked me AfI olould-

n!t make nn appointment to see the Commissio 



'him, at last, riding down in the open car, because hd 

persisted in that kind of talk,. And wewent to the 

88th Street Station ,Prouse, and he kept up practically 

the same talk, and saying it was tough. 

q Now, did he say why he got the money, or any-

tl4ng about that? A Ye sIr. Thomas said, "What 

did yu get this money for? What did they do 'there?" 

And he said, "They did a lot of roughing." And then 

he said, "I knew I would get into trouble if I kept 

around that woman long enough. 

Q Now, he used the word flroughingt, 

What did you understand that to mean? flid. you under-

stand it to mean plastering? 

MR. CRAIG: T object to thatl.and ask that 

it be stricken nut, and I move that a juror be with 

drawn, and th!,t the trial be declared a mistrial, 

becaus€, of the absolute impropriety of that quea. 

withdraw a juror in denied. 

BY MR. MANLEY: 

10 that a term used all in the Tene ent Ho.U0 



TEE COURT: 

MR. CRAIG: Exception. 

* 
used by plumbers? A Yee, 

Now, I ask you what it Means? 

Objection sustained. 

Well, what did the defendant say on that point? 

Well, Mr. Thomas said, "What -did they do in there. 

";hat did you get this for?" And he said, They did a 

lot of roughing in there. 

Did he say anything else al-out rr,ughing? 

He said they did some 

roughing, and they had done the roughing without filing 

Now, when you got out there, and had this conver—

sation with the defendant---I will'withdraW-phat . After 

talkin with the defendant, and having this bonierSatiOt 

with him on the street, could you then state whose voice _ 

it was, the man's voice, that you heard have the oollyer 



411141.1111, 0.1 .01/. to* 

be hallway and uP.im the roc)** 

for me to say, for this reaaon---

, aRAIG: 

Q At the time wh, n you went into the apartment, 

was there anytody else in there, l'esides Mrs. Jakft and 

these othr two gentlemenaho accompanied you there? A 

No, sir; the only person that 1 saw was Mrs. Jakob, and * 

think she had a little baby around. 

CROSS EXAMINATION:BY MR. CRAIG: 

Q Mr. Fink, you were not in the room when Mrs. 

Jakob testified, were you? 

Now, you say that at the time this man came therm 

that h said to her, "Have you got that morwy for me?" Do 

you so testify? A Yes. 

Q Well, how clear is your recollection? A Whether 

he asked her whether she hfld that money? 

Yes, whether that particular otatoment-was,made? 



WON, " 

Q How clear is your recollection? A We].l, as 

near as I can recollect, that's what he said. 

don me and  explain What you mean. That ie as I 

recollect what he said. 

Q Well, do you recollect clearly and u questiOn-

ably what you heard said? A Yes) sir. 

Q Now, then, were you in th Court, room when Mrs 

Jakob testified that he came in there and sold, "Is the 

landlord around?" A No, I didn't hear that. ' 

Q Did you hear any such statement in .the conver-

sation that you overheard between this individual and

Jakob? No sir, I* didn't. 

Q And did you hear Yrs. Jakob say ---were you in 

the room when she testified that she sid to him, °711e..H:, 

landlord left me fofty dollars for you?" A .Yes. 

Q Did you hear her testify to that? A No;: I 

haven't heard her testify at all. 

Oh, you didn't hear th, testimony? A No; L. 

haven't bun in the room. 

Well, did you hear her make that statemen• 

No, wau th.lt the first thino that you heard-said 

aLout forty dollars? A No. 



WMt 1/19 .0,0 first tiin on that 000a•sion that' 

you aay, that you heard said about forty dollars/ 

A I heard a man's voice say, "Tive you got that money 

Woman's voice say, "Yes, the 

landlord left forty dollars," 

that the man said, "Rave you got that money for me? 

-------- MP. CRAIG: That s all. 

RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION FY MR. klANLEY: 

Q About how far were you from the man and the 

woman vb the time they had the conversation in Mrs. 

Jaob's apartment? Haw far in,feet,Yif you can .tell 

Well, I should judge that the distance from 

the entrance door in feet---of course, I didn 

And I. Gantt tes-

tify to that.  am only saying from the voipse 

It was the difference be-

tween the entrance hall and the dining room,, and the 

entrance hall to the room that I was in ---T should judge 

twelve feet, probably nO't more 

than -twelie feet away I should judge that was the diei 

tanee, because thc average room is twelve feet,, even . 

fJgurjng the full length of that room. 



And can you give me an, idea of how far away 

youwere) in feet, at the tittle when you heard the voice' 

of the man and woman, second• time, after you had 

gotten out into the hall? A Why, just the height 

of the ceiling, and ordinarily on the first floor that 
is thirteen or fourteen feet. 

Q Was it at all dark in the hallway, between the 

first haad second floors at that tine? No, I didn't 

No, I an not sking for the 

RE-CROSS EXAMINATION FY MR. (TRAIG: 

Did you observe what street this building was 

located on? A Ninety-sixth Stret and FirstAvenue,, 

And what kind of traffic goes along Fitat Ave-

nue? A  that point there in very little, I guess. 

*cell, why do you guess? A Because it is the 

termination of Ninety-sixth Street. 

right eo the river. It is only that short block.east 6 

Now, I ished you why you gue 

there was scarcely any traffic a 

Q When hEld you ben there before? Ju one minute. 



When had you been there prior to that occasion 

don't think I have ever been at that point before in 

all my life. 

I'll be positive. 

Q Did you go there to make actunl observation of 

the traffic? A No, sir; but I sat at the window, 

looking out of the window, between the time we arrived 

in the room and the time that Mrs. Jakob sid, "Here he ' 

Q And 1.-;nw lone was that? A About fifteen min-

utes. And I looked out on Ninety-sixth Street, and 

didn't see many people, and not much traffic. 

Q Is there a car line of First Avenue? A Yes, 

Q And you don't call street cars traffic, in mak-

ing your guesses? A Yes, it is traffic.. 

Q Well then, why did you say that you gueased thee 

wao litie or nc traffic on this street? 

cause I wouldn't „call it a traffic, like on lower broad-

, Well, not•ody asked ycuthat. Put, of course, 

there is a traffic, isthere not? A Yes. 

I meant by traffic was the general rushing up and down. 

all the time in the way of traffic; that's what mean 



• 

Q Now, did you notice the plant of the Brad 

Construction Company there? A No, sir. 

You didn't observe whether or not they had a 

large number of wagons pasning back and forth there; 
4 

through Ninety—sixth Street? No, sir; I didn't. 

Q Did you make any observations, as to Nitety7 

sixth Street? A I know it is a wide street. 

Q And you know that on those wide streets uptown, 

they do very heavy trucking, don't you? A NO, I don't 

know that. 1 don't know what they do in all the wide 

streets, in New York City but I know I didn't see any 

heavy traffic there. 

Did you observe a car barn there? A There is 

a very large building opposite the First Avenue side o:f 

this house. 

Fut you liln't ohserve whether it was a car barn 

or not? A No, sir. 

Q Well, what lid you think it was, what did you 

guess it was? A I an; not guesqing. 

MP, A.A.f7LEy: Oh, I object to this as utterly, 

THE COURT: 1 do not see the force of it but ,1 

will allow it. 

A No, I lidn't take notice of car barns. I wag—aent to 

340 East 96th Street. 
.r 

I • 



r 

BY THE COMM: 

Well, what did'you think that building waa,tha 

large building, if yOu gave it any thought at all? A 

Why, I magined it was a power house. 

BY R. CRAIG: 

Q Now, how far were you, from the place where this 

conversation took place, if any took place, how far do 

you say now that you were away from the OpOt Where this 

conversation took place  at the time the conversation did 

take plaoe? A I couldn't say, because I didn't see 

where anyone was standinF, because I was secreted. 

How far away were you from—well, did you 

observe whether or not the noise of this co1versation 

was of greater volume than the traffic of the street? 

A hell, I don't think I heard any noises from the - 

street at all, because the windows wereolosed. 

Pv 411. MANLEY: 

Q Well, was there anything to prevent you hearihg 

what you beard? A No, sir; because he spoke very, 

very loud. It vv -is surprisAnp: tn me that. he .spoke so 

loud. 

BY MR. (TIRAIG: 

Weil, you had a glass door between you; 116In't 

you? A No, six; no glass door. And the doer Of. the 

'.,;om in which we weresecreted was just olightlyaj 



It was left ajar by MT. Thomas. 
4 

Q Well, did you see him leave it ajar? Ace, 

I did. He walked into the room with us, and walked out, 

and left it ajar. 

Q No,.I asked you if you saw Thomas leave it ajar? 

A Yes, when he went out he left it 'partly Open. . 

Now, you said, a moment ago, that you didn't Ob-

serve when Thomas secreted himself, didn't you? A No., 

I Said I didn't know where he secreted himself. 

Q Then you didn't know that he had secreted him 

self'until you observed his absence? A Yes, I did, I 

saw him go out of the room. 

Q Now, have you participnted in any other case - 

where an attempt was made to catch some person in a yb—

lation of the law? A No, sir. 

Q And so you don't know whether they do it usually 

in loud, shouting tones of voic, or speak easy, or pro-

claim it from the housetops? A No, sir; I haven't the 

slightest idea about that. 

And you don't want to guess about it? 

sir. 

a 



off ice, a witness called on behalf of the People, be 

duly sworn, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION: 

You are a member of the Police Force of the City 

York, and have been detailed by the Police Com is -

fox some time to the district attorney's OffiCe; 

Pnci now, on Friday, April FJ6th, did you go With . 

And whn did you get ther 

And how long did you stay there? A About 

thirty or forty minutes. 

Add do you recall in what part of he premiseE 

you were? 1 Yes; in the apartment of the janitres.,, 

-Ye last witness? 

h. Sohw)rt. 

fr)-v, while you were in her apartment,• during 

the time you have mentioned, was anybody else there  



`Nor 

Mr. Schwar%z and Mr. Pink and Mrs. Jakob? Aifr 

Jakob 's baby. 

Q Anybody else at all? 

baby. 

ej,r; only the 

Q Now, did anyone ---did you. do anything ahen you 

were there; that is, did you give anything to Mrs. Ja-

kob? A I gave her eiht five dollar bills. 

Now, did you make any note of those five,dollar 

bills before you gave them to her? A I did I topic, 

the serial numbers of them. 

ind :lid you write the serial numbers down on . 

any memorandum? A I did.. 

Q And after you had given that money to Mrs. 

kob, do you recall into wimt room you went? That 

we will start, .:nd call the: first room from the hail 

number one? A Yes. That's the kitchen. 

Q And he next room number two, and so ori. Now, 

where did you go after you had given her the money?  

Into room Number 2, the dining room, and then I went into. 

the parlor, which is number 3. 

And how long had you been there, Office be-

fore anything happened at all; how long would you sa 

A About twenty minutes or so. 

Now, go right ahead, and tell what happened. 

A  The defendant entered the apartment of Mrs, Jakob,  



Q That is the third room beyond the door that 

enters from the hallway into her apartments? 

I heard the defendant sa 

"L t's go down into the store I want to examine the 

Now, where were you when you heard that.? 

object to the DiStrict At-

torny interrupting the witness in the answer. The 

question is broad enough to call for the eritiTe 

transaction, without interruption, and I think we 

'Tell, where were you when you heard that? 

I was in room number 4, which is a bed room, direotly. 

opposite the dining room. There is a hall separates: 

BY MR, MANLEY: 

in order to get it right, I will .Jsk you. 

this ueetion. /Ls you go into the apartment from the',• 

outside hall, you go into a room which we have designAted 

Q That's the kitchen, is it? 



Q And is there an entrance from that MOM 

ther room, NuinberL, aswe.wjll designate it? A 

thp dininp, room. 

trane from thi dining room 

to a third room, number 

Now, are these three rooms right i 

Now, the fourth room that you  have spoken 

where is that .lith reference to the other three rooms 

that were in a line with each other? 

the other side of the private hall. 

And does that irivate hall run---where dbes,i - 

run with reference to rooms 1) 2 and 3? A That is, 

Now, when you say that fourth room is 0.14ite In 

the yzivate hall) what room is it opposite.? A The 

dining room, room number 2 

Mow) go right ahead and tell us what yotOititard, 

and where were you at the time? A I was in roon number 

and I heard the defendant say, °Let's go doWn.i'nto 

I want eta to examine the toilet. Pri 

and that money along." And they left the apartment, 



Mrs. Jakob And the defend 

And was anybody in that apartment w 

Mr. Fink and Mr. Schwartz. 

q Did thy go into the: room before or after you 

aid? A Eefore I did. 



71-a 

0 A And Schwartz and 

s leadinc from the second floor dowli 

that ,r om the aputrncnts of Mrs. 3kob down to the 

hallway on the ToUnd floor. rooms are on the floor 

above the fw ound floor And., hile on the st 

etza tell haatht. this will be al 

Thoe val.. ht o oThle Cbout thikt nuffw YOU can 

you, and .0)ne around some 

timo noxt veek and ce 

A few minutes later h card the vest bvJ..e door close,, 

and I went down the emLinder of the t Cps, of t,his flights. Of 

did. he g o, to the 

"To ;ht. lef " 

And I win t out on the S tree t and say the dfe1Lnt about 

5'0 or Y.5 feet away, and I We n t up to him, and touched his ri 

arm ( ill us tr a t ing ) He had his right hand in his:outsidi 

And he said, "Vila td.0 yoi, ant?f  

Take yourhand o t of yow pock e t " And he took. his 

;Land out of his p coke t and in hi4; hand he had. the eight 

.billo, and he sz.4.1d. , "I've o t 4O !Of 0. I '11 444 t 

And I 6 ai d "Allhor e did Cu ge, t it?" And he. said, 

"Prom t'ha t roman there " poi.ntinc to the premize - of 340 

East 96th  Street. 



Row was he •dressed? 

BYPIlit• TrAITEIT: 

r cony-orsation with .him 

at that Lino? A He: said, "C,1ny t I fix thib thi..4V V.' 

tarested, charced.with a faeny. 

Anythinr tt yo t3i ins t• you, and. y 

" haci better say nothinEjn and he said, 'Tor Veaven' 

can' t Ve (to v.actothinr ,bout tbis?t! 

Did he E3 ay ,,nthi pc el ES ? A Tot t thb t 

Cain do,,m on th ac car I took him to thp East 

Street s tation house -- he was talk inF:; to Mr. Pink, ht-t; I 

dicin t Lear rha t he said Co 1.7r . Pink 

Have you t,,c) t th rione; here? A Yes 

you ten,- rds onwar e the nmbers of the-

bills th the tiotioran6 uan you hacirdade of the hills • th.at you. 

avu to TTrE; . Jakob? A Yef, , 

Anc h !ey (.! ori ? the • s 

JVIc.! L,J .1 us c are t, 10 s ting) ? A Ys, Sir 

I orn.r LLyr1 in ev..2.dorde. 

. CRA in.: I object them on the r:7,round. that 

it .1.8 not rood money, bee r%us i it shows on ± s face that 

it LB no t rood Money. 



COURT: Overruled. 

CRAIG: Fame') t ion. 

BY 1R. NANTLY: 

q Vhere did yon et this money? I rec ived. .that 

money from Tir Abbot t the Third Deputy. COXIMUSCioner of  

the Tenement' House Department. 

(It is received. in evidence and. marked People's 

Exhibit 1 in evidence) . 

Except ioni And now 1 ins ist that the 

numbers of the bills be read int the roc or d• 

don't ask that they be marked in evidence, but read • 

into the record. 

. EITYYt Very re11. I e ad them into 

tile record I ),old. in 

will read 4 

hancl eight bills and 

numbers on each one of them. The 

first is Series 19071 

B44302800 

.1111,. B4430280, The. ne 

bein the saie series, and a United' 

states 3. note. The next i.s B,i4302803. The next is 

Idle sane series, B41 a02%95. The next is the same 

. note of the sane s cries an d nizlber B4430279-6 

1116 next is not, Lint same seres, number 

B44302797. Tine next' is B64302804. And B44302.798 

BY N'.1 MANTLY: 

Now, I notice upon the back of each of qaa 

•is written, "A. Thamas". Is thrJ;t your naae? A Yea-) 



MAIO: I object. has finished the 

extmivation of the Yf.i. tness „ as. I widers tand, and I 

hare the r f:47.t to ask uhether tiest bills are affec tea' 

hy his 17171 tir4r, his nano on. theback" of the bills . 

C (*YURI' : I d11 al2ow it 

A After the rr es t andi de ten Lion of tho pr oner 

Street station ho 

And yho hauj :'d Od.y of thc money since that 

t 'Jim? A It has r) n in. the custody of I. Sayre, the Chief 

Clerk of the 1)is t.! :tot At z.o:rney ' u office. 

CR OS I ALi1TATiO 7 BY 3,a, (Ai(:: 

Anu. cu."  say that wr o t th name Thcmiuft 

on t.hLs 1iii„ 13-14:502804:e? . 

no. t 5 • e t on did on t thert? 

vrot,t1 

vri the ut the di rec ion ui nyhody? A Yes ,  

Did t,,nyboU par c, t e LTA you in the .VITA. tin.of 

0 yhose.: ofl diu you 

1],o ---roved pt n from • 1)utChr it was wri ttun in the  

1) t oh op on First JO' en uc imar, th S tro e t 

0Didt,b( -6 tc he r f3 (! you vr i Lc roir, name on It? A , I, 



MR. MANLEY: Now, I will save time by admit 

that he 'vrote his name on the back of each of the 

: ITo, I refvx to have -is answer 

as to each of ale bills . 

111! . CRAIG: 

Did you write it on this bill ituury: also, the 

one, B41430280? A Yes, sIr. 

0, And did you write your name on the back of the bill 

B44302803? A Yes s ir 

niT COURT : Well, you had better look a t them 

each of t1_,.1d, before you answe2 1 officer. 

Yes, sir, I will. Yes, I aid. 

And on the back of the bill B44302796? A Yes, sire 

0, Did you write your name "A. Thomas" on thtof 

bill B44302796? A Yes, sir. 

0, Did you write yourname "/.. Thomas" on the back of the 

bill B44302797? A I did. 

Lt y 1 riE',111C on the back of  toe ball 

Did you writx your -name on back of bill 2344302804? 



q DO you know anything about the Act of Ooneretas 

in to defacing cirrency of the United Sthtts? 

/.1F.YAMT: I object to that as ;mmaterial,, 

irrelevant and InOMZJettlit) and friv4aous, 

alT comIt Objection sus.tained. 

Exception, 

BY M. OnAIG: 

n IN.ve you stated all that transpired Ir.A. or tiis 

occasion at First AvenlAe arid, 96th S'treet? A As bo what? 

Before or after the arrest? Vhich? 

R Before theamrest? A Yes; outside of I spoke-to 

• Xakob about the weather ape herbaby. 

n Nol you had a Conversaton with Mrs. Jakob? 

BY M. CRAIG: 

Is there any eorrecton or mod.J.ficatdon or altera-

tion thLt you desire to male in your narrative as to What 

tflok place at 96th Street ther 1-)€:fo2e the arrest? A Nov, 



PAR SF TEL]) E. LA VELL E4 

AvenUO a W1tr es 0 all1e4 on behtlafo the People, belnE 

duly vwoim 0 too tified Ua '20Ja ovs t 

DIEM T IZAMTAT OY BY VAIILTTY: 

c Mr Lavelle 4 what is your bus ine O ? A• Chiei 

T none nt Hose Boyar tm en t  oouh of Mnha t tan 

C i ty of rev/ York. 

And yo u have been Chief inspec tor for how ].Ong? 

A Over s ix years and a T.talf 

0 Are you ucci.ua nted v.. Lh this def endan t  Thomas 

F. Farley? A Yes, sir. 

And yo lz have knoyn h m for ho long? A Abo ut three, 

0, And S Ic on thif of Apr a las t , .ana for 

s oric: t r i. or • tliore to In.sp uo Loi 2n the 12c..• nenlert t Ho us, e ' 

Del)ur Lion t of' th s c t ? 

0, Cz-'..n yo r, 5.t afro hC• 1. -.T.ILLci bon r.4..n Ins') ec•t? 

A 11r oia obo ut iier:y- t 190'.41 C cards of the • 

Depar trien „ 

n, Riot Yra.s Lr. in d c,ua d:rec tion on the 25th of . • 

.1  Od fl.ii to a certain 

dc t or for sone o Um, b date, in val.1,011. 

cal t of the Tk.:nemunt House Der) t4r taen 't? 

A Yes 



Q, And did that district include the premises in 

clues ti on here 340 las t 96th Street? A Yes sir 

was there ..in April of last yi)ar., including the 

26th day of April a rule in the T nementITouse Department 

rrith regard. to inspec tors , before le ving theoff ice 

out a route card., as they call 

111 . CRAI : I ob j e 

rius t be in wail ting and are the best evidence, 

MP COURT: Overruled., if he knows the rules, 

as Chief Inspector. 

MR. CRAIG: And I object on the GO ound that 
the 

entitled to Introt hest evidence the rtlle them-

selves should be produced. 

BY . MATT= : 

Are there d'ules of the Depar tmen t v,Thich inspec tors 

7111 you produce this is a...dopy. 

of the rules • and regula uns of the Tenement House of 

inent, in this book (f 1. ese; 

Die tricL A crnt,y) . 

BY 113. MATTTIY: 

Now, I ask ;,,,ou if there is any rule with Tegard. to 

inspectors making or fillinr out any route card bel".Orthey 

out an their work in thlorningl 



.CRAIG:, I -oWeet. The ruiee are the bei: 

evidence and they are in 

TT COURT: 

nottryin r to prove what the re i now, but ae ha 

LSkedif there is - a rule relative to that  subject. 

BY TH11 COURT: 

Qv Then point it out. 

Q, Nov, this "look I holci in my hand., .and 

when you handed it tome, you said were the rules o the 

Department),  do all the inspectors have -- are they all 

furnished with books likc .A Y,,s on appointrant._ 

You nikan 1.:rlien they i_ixo alyointed? A Yes sir). 

when appointed, into the Department, they are handed a ,bo 

ora nopy of the rules anci reculta.tions of the Department, 

n And axe tht.cy .1:t...(11..iired to be 1 iilia.r ii th the 

con L.,/i to of this book of icules? 

. CRAIG: Objec ted t o 

TH COURT: 

11111 00MT: 



MR. MAN LEY: Now,, I offer in evidence Rule 

MR. CRAIG: And I objectto Riiie 

will not olAect to the whole book going in. 

TT.TE COURT; Overruled. 

(It is marked People's Exhibit 2), 

MR. MANLEY: 'Pow; I ask permission to 'read' 

this rule into the record: 

Routine of work---Inspectore are.: 

order in which they will visit the premises in their 

They are also required to adhere strictly 

to such program or order of procedure; and at the expir-, 

ation of the day's work, they are to report pro•ptly.. 

Lo %heir supervisor at the appointed meeting plaCe; 

at thu closing hour, or not lter than five 

violation of the above rule will b0 .pun- • 

iohable - --" 1-*y so ni so. 

Punishablu by what? 



n accordance with that rule, have you a 

card, on which inspectors 

wriat tfloy are to o, oz that day? A Yes, sir. 

have you hero the daily card of the de—

fendant Farley for April 26th, 1912? 

Have you produced it? A Yes, sir.; here it 

And are you familiar with the handwriting of 

the defendant by havinp seen a good many of these, and 

seeing reports made by him, on various occasions? A 

Now, dc all the inspectors make out these cards 
.v • 

themselves? A Yes, sir, in thir own handwriting.. 

And that is Farley's handwriting? A. Yes 

1\laA, are thy required to put down the premiSes, 

all the premises, that thy re tn visit tint daY1 

R. RAT:7 object to that, as olling for 

a constructiori of thc. rpaes. 

MR. MAPLYY: 4el1, It 1 withdraw it. 

Now, it otHtuo here in th. 

1 object to that  as a sumMin‘g 

up of the contents of the rule, and I object to the read 

in  of the rule again. 

THY COURT: 7 nv r ru le tlh; ljejr 



1G: EXception. 

Q At the beginning of rule 37, I find this: 

spectors are required to enter accurately upon their 

daily card the order in which they will Visit the prem—

ises in their district. They are also Enquired to adhere -

strictly to such program or order of procedure." 

I ask you, c'dling your attention to thatportion of Rule 

37, if you have had occasion to construe that'rule for 

the men under your charff,e, the Inspectors? A I have, 

Q Does that. require that they Shall enter on the 

sheet or csrd, not merely the order in which they are 

going to visit, but all the places that they had to ' 

visit, in the -course of their official duty on that day?: 

MR. CRAIG: I object on the ground that his 

construction is not binding on the defendant in thie 

Well, he win testify to a rule of 

An inspector must untr upon tha.t card every 

Irenco that he intends to visit that day. 

I object to that answer) and move 

to strike dt out 



y 

THE .COURT: Motion denied. 

MR. CRAIG: Exception. 

MR. MANLEY: .Nowo.I offer in evidence this 

No objection. 

marked People' 

em it .400egtsary, if 

your Honor please, at this time, to display it to the 

jury, and I will pass on to something else. 

9, Now, I call your attention to page I.*6 of these 

rulesnd regulations, and to a paragraph numbered 44, 

and I ask you what that is? A It is a rule  by which 

Inspectors are directed to promptly report all violations 

of law in regard to tenm nt houses, called to their 

attention, or which come under their. observation.- All, 

reports made by inspectors must be from peronal in-

vstigation, and they must he personally aoqual,nted 

with the fct IL ec1 case, and not rety upon 
informstlon

 givn by others. Inspectors are requited to note 

all tenements if 1,11,;dr iintricts, underFoing alt ;rationsi 



MR. CRAM Now, 

on the ground that the question didn't call 

for a reading of the rule) and, if it .had, I would 

have had a right to object to it. 

Yes, 1 will strike out the rule, 

the whole book of rules should go in evidence. 

MR. MATTLEY: All right. I will offer it in 

evidence very cheerfully, the Whole thing the whole 

some paper and a 

roper answer to 

Cil• Well, what are they? 

1 object ,to that as lifl 

racterization of thu papers. 



THE COURT: Objection 

BY MR minLEY: 

olations against the 

THE COURT; No, strike that out. I dia not 

mean to have you characterize the papers. 

of your Depart-

PY WH. MANLEY: 

And lo they relate to any particular pron4,aes? 

object, as the papers theMeelves 

will show what tl-!ey rclatu to. 

den, Vr. Manley? 

7P. %11 them. 

Q.nd I move to strike out the witPi 

nesiA':J St , trLy r fr to violatior 

Yes, strike that out. 



the files of the Department? 

That is what 1 meant when I asked you 

tion, "What are they?" A Yes, sir. 

Q To what do they relate? 

save time, and start over again. 

Now, ,I call your attention to this sheet cihdi-

eating) a white sheet, and  ask you to tell me the tech-

nical name of it in the Department? 

These papers have not been even so far 

marked for identification, and they. may not be,p't 

!ell, then, I will ask that this 

p%per be marked for identification, first. 

otject to its being offered in. 

I ii not offering it  evl.denoe, 

id ntifction. 

in marked People's Exhibit 4 for Identifl 



RY MR. MANLEY: 

Now, what is that,People's Exhibit 4 or-iden-

tifio.ation? 

This is called Form No. 167. 

Q Well, what is it,, is it a record of the War 

Department or your Department? A Of the 'Tenement • 

T-Touse Department, what qe call ---

Well, what do you call it, as a part of the, 

records of the Tenement House Department? 

inspection slip, ,Form No. 167. 

And whoso handwritinp... is that, that part of 

(indicating) A 

Are ynn thL custodinn-:11 f those records? A No 



84r; but they pasts thrOgh my bUreaU. 

Well have you charge of the Bureau? A Yes 

sir; I am.qhief Inspector of the Old Inspection Bureau; 

but there ie a Bureau Of Records in our Department now, 

but they pass through my bUreau first. 

Q. From the defendant? 

Q And what was done with this paper, People's - 

Exhibit 4, after it was given to your department by  the 

defendant? A Forwarded to the Executive Division of 

the Tenement House Department. 

Q Now, does it indicate anything to you As to 

the premises at 340 East 96th Street? Look atthe top 

there (Indic%ting). 

MF. CRAIG: I object to what it indicates; 

it speal(s for itself. 

Mun I offer it in evidence. 

It aruears, from an in pectic) 

theNdocument offered, that it is part Of another do 

d refers to ond is coupled with the do0U 



Attorney offers the two together, I have to obj 

tion and, unless he does I object, bemuse it is 

immaterial, irrelevant and incompetent, and not 

binding on the defendant. 

MR. MANLEY: Counsel desires that I 'nffer--

MR. CRA1G: No. I object to that statement. 

am not askint, for the 'putting of the papers in the 

record, but 1 have said, if he will offer. the whole 

lot of papers, I will not object. 

Fut I am not obliged to be pbt.in 

1 offer sheets Nos. 2 and 3, . 

(They re admitted without objection, 

People 's Exhil- its 4-a and 4-b. ) 

And 7 ha.v.c nn objection to t 

PY MR, MANLEY: 

toow, T sue Lt t. Pcopie'ci Exhitit 40 in e 

"340 East c.:Tth Rtruut. 

w:rittri on th, right hand gide, nnd HO. W.,' What doeo 

HoollTliud 



(d) 

Q And down here-written'in ink, above the imr 

"Thomas Farley tt "No add  items are reported." nat 

dose that mean? A °Vo additional items reported." 

Q And I see down in the lower left hand corner: 

"4-4-1912". A That's the date "April 4th, 1912°. 

Q Well, what does that mean, "People's Exhibit 

4°7 A This is a notification to the Department that 

all pending violations against those premises .areoomplied. 

th. 

Penri n p. on wh t date? A April 4th, 1012. And 

that no adrlitional it, To. were reported. 

And that ir ir the handwriting of the defendant, 

"No add. itens reported"? A Yes, rdr. 

And Ines that neem that upon the fourth day of 

ITril of this year the deendant Farley had reported 

no adl I ti on  1 1 nf ”aciataons on bilis house? , A Yea, 

r 

MI JAc: T ntjet, to that. 

'HL or. miuti med. Strike out 

th(3. unuNer. 

114„ rinTiNT: 

h I t, IN IV hoi .'tor 11';,rloy LI ruport on that 

u 1 in IT A Yun  i r . 

MingS li,vAmpTATInr TV HP. oliAln: 

"OW, t.1, p(,y , ynu haw) juat 1t 0,1 .nter-



rogated about b the District Attorney, Which' 

marked People's Exhibit 4-b, relates to the violations 

or information contained in the preceding papers which 

IhOs been marked 4- ,,does it-no0 A Let me see the 

Here it is. A Yes; this paper that is  mark-

ed 4a was snt out in  with this paper mark-

ed 4-h; the two were sent out together; given to the 

Now, please explair to the jury what thOse two 

papers are, and the purpose that they serve in the work 

of the Departm;nt? A This form, marked 4-a, is a 

copy of a violation pending against these premises, which 

is on file in the TenArent House Department. It is what 

ve may call an inspector's nopy. It is gi'en to the 

inspector when he is sent out to make an inspection,, 

to sue whether those violations are complied withor 

not, or to make a report on them. He is sent out to 

make a re, ort on those premises. He has to make a report 

on the nick of this forn Thethur or not thOSG items are 

complieJ with, an well r10 on this form PO. 10, the whi e 

slip, fectmou thin white n1ip in It -Lit ir the oase, as 

we ll it hen welut ,111 the papers tog lher, this 

form iii th Min), inti thin form moo in tux records4, 

the Ilurig of heonrail. 



• BY TME COUR 

goes into the Bureau of ReoOrds? A'. YOB, 

rid 4-10 go -as in tha case. But it is required that, 

the same report be made on both forms, both this form, 

4-a and this form, 4-b. And if an Inspector, upon his . 

inspection, finds that any of these items are complied 

with, he must so report, and, if not, he must so report. 

Q Well, is there any eport on the bank of 47a? 

Yes, oir; there is. 

Q The same that is on 4-b? A Po, air; it isn't 

Well, will you read it for us? A On. the back 

3, 4 not complied with." 

rAit that is under a different date. There is iino*kir: 

report for this date. 

PY NR. MANLEY: 

For ah:A dote? A There • is no re,. 

Will you let ffiti see that for 

a moment, Zr. Inspontor? 

TIE WITMES.n: Yu°, thure it  

r)ok thu stenograther to mark 

k nAmLor for iduntificatioul this ye 

ahent, whinh I nw expnas. 



am n what this Defendant 

ded by tht Department to the .rec 

premises, 340 ast 96th Stree 

Who was the lttex eent to? 

orded owner of 

t is address-

V. 'Liaison McLenan, 128 Vest FOrdham. Roa 

offer it in evidenoe 

MANLEY: I have no ohjeotion 

(it i dmitted in evidence and rtiax*ea.Defen 

dant's Exhibit A.) 

MR. CRAIG: Now, the witness H. Nelson Mp0 

still in the Court Roomy I as* him to 

produre tilt original of this letter. 

Well, where is he? Stand up4, That 

10 thu drItu of the letter? 

tter is dated Mar oh :t1.10 

912. 'I ask that he be required to bring into. 

court? tcTmorrow morniElt. 

Yes, he may 1ring it into Court, 

tomorrow morn in 

L vullul will 

gdnoval way) Gbu %Jot+ of thu Tommolt Pouti 



stractipns that are received by .thelhOpectoiii nd 

through whom those instructions are received.* and .the' 

Manner of making theirteports? A . Well) I can relate 

only in so far as the conduct of my bureau is concerned. 

That is) I receive-- . 

THE COURT.: Well, yoi hairs ohare o the In 

spectors have you not? 

THE. WITMES: Yes, sir. 

BY TT E COURT:' 

You are Chief Inspector? A 

Q Then you may stat the operations of the De-

paxtment,só far as the Inspectors are concerned. That

orders from the Commissioner's office. 

()rally or in writing?. A Orally and in Writ—

And I transmit those orders to the' inspectors 

orally and in writirw also) nt times. 

Q Now, is a record kept of the orders that you 

receive from the Commissioners? A Yes. 

And is s moord kept of the oviors. trtlnotatted 



' 

And'how is the reoord of the oral:ordeptc.kePtlf 

Well, there is a record kept. 

Is 'it taken stenographicallY? A They are 

taken stenographically, if the stenographer is on tIme 

in the morning; but if he is not, .unfortunately, we 

y regulation of the Department,r6-: 

quiring the Department's Stenographer to be on 0.00 , 

, lad io any violation filed when he is late? 

MP. gANLEY: I object to that as incompetent. ' 

The stenographer is not on trial. 

You lo permit 'some violations of rules, '01.60 . 

Is thore not a rule sbe is required to he on time; 

on  that the Statute under which she draws her Salary? 

I Object to that as immaterial, 

irrelsimnt and Incompetent. 

noURT: I will exclude the question, 

FY EH. OkAIO: 

fly whom are. thi,ce rules which have beeri offered 

An uvjdonnu, promul A Py thu Toriumtnt Mouse 



And the CoMmissioner gives, from time to 

dere or .instructio 

Q And times orally and sometimes in writing? 

Now, which controls, when such instructions 

given, the rules or the special instructions? • 

both control. One isn't supposed to interfere with 

on the eleventh of March, 1912? A I think so,, yes, 

Q Or the twenty-first of March A I will 

TRE COURT: Row long will the cross e.taminati 

MR. CRAIG; At least half an hour lo 

Then 1 think we had better 

MP. CRAIC: I have no objection to tha 

on the Court's part. 

(The .Court then admotished the jury in:aCcOrl-
ance with Section 415 of the Orde of CriminalYro-
celure, and adjourned the further trial of the case 

until Thursday Mornilv, October 17th, 192-1 at 1ft30 

o'clock A. M.  



gee York, October 17th, 1912. 

8AR8PX 141 D H. LAV,ELL 3, his °This e 

being continued,''testified'as follOWs: 

CROSS EXAMINATION OONTINUFM IMMR,ZRAIG: 

41 M. Farley, I believe --- kr. Lavelle, I mean 

I believe when we left off ,last night, you were exPleiniOS 

the process or manner of giving instruCtions to the in  . 

spectors, and as I recollect, and you: will 'correct me if I 

misunderstood you, you said that the inispectors are first 

supplied with this book of rules when they became inim 

spectors., and then, from time to time, the Tenement House 

Commissioner gives instructions to you, as the Chief 

Inspector, which instructions were given sometimes orally 

and sometimes in writing, and then you repeated or rele.Vfd0. 

these instructions, as it wereo'te the inspectors, etUch 

was sometimes done orally and sometimes in writing; ftndir 

whenitweadoneoroay:1stenographer was on'ttmet til* a 
.li69;  

A 

. record was taken of the oral instructions; is that correct? 

A Yes, sir. 

41 Now, Chose instructions were given with the expect** 

tion that the inspectors should comply with them; were they.. 

not/ A Yes, sir. 

q It was just as much their duty to oemPlY with the 



q And Chose instructions. were. just as binding as 

though they had been printed in the rule book? A Yes 

show you a letter dated the 23rd 

purport's to be a letter, dated the 23r4 V,Obruarr 

and ask you whether that was sent to the addressee, about 

that date? A Yes, I would say that this is a carbon 00PY 

of a letter sent to this addressee. 

MAID: I offer it in evidence. 

MR— MANLEY: Let me see it. I object to it as 

being incompetent, as having no relation to the chargs 

in question. If counsel will show me in What moaner 

he *links it to be important, then I will know Whethe 

MR. CRAIG: I will tell you quietly or : 

presence of the jury, us you maydesire. 

THE COURT: You had better mark it fOr 1410ntitie* 



• 

MR. CRAM I offer it now. 

MR. MAXIM I Moot to it as incompetent 

THE COURT: I suggested that it be marked for 

identification, so that its connection with the case 

may be shown and then it may beoffered in *widow)** 

MR. CRAIG: And I offer it in evidence at this 

time. 

MR. MANLEY: I object to it as immaterial, 

irrelevant and incompetent.. 

THE COURT: I will sustain the objectiOn to 

at this time. From what you have said of itt1 do 

not see how itcan be connected with the criminal 

charge against the defendant, 

MR CRAffrG: And I except to the ruling. And I 

ask your Honor to look at the paper. 

THE COURT: Yes, I will look at the paper, 

certainly. 

ME. MANWY: You see it relates to something 

back in February. 

THE COURT: I will exclude the letter). 

M. CRAIG: I except. 

THE COURT: No connection with the defendant ha 

been shown in any way. 

BY MR. CRAIG: 

Q Mr. Lavelle, were you the Chief. InaPector on the• 



" ;17.; %,..•;;; '1;; : 

23rd of 2*bruary, A Yes, sir. 

Tell, will you state to the jury what the practice 

of the Tenement House Department in the months of Unuary, 

February and March and April, 19b2o was with respect to 

enforcing penalties against persons found in vio3.e.t on, Or 

the Lot, in the particular respect of whether or not the 

penalties were imposed immediately on the filing of the 

violation, or whether or not time was given for owners 
E.* 

to comply with the Act before the penalties were enfereed 

by the Depar tmen t? 

MR. MANLEY: I object to that, as to the time When 

penal ties mere enforced. 

THE COURT: I will allow the question. 

A I cannot testify as to the enforcement or p nalties. 

That lies entirely in the hands of the Commissioner and thAll 

Corporation Counsel. I don't htve anything to do with that,-

class of work, the enforeament of penalties. 

q Will you state whether or not it was the practice 

of the Depar tmen t to afford another oppor tuni ty to owners 

to comply, before submitting the case to the CorporatiOnn 

Counsel, for the collection of the penalty prescribed W 

law? 

MR. MANLEY: You mean after the report of the 

violation to the Department? 

MR. CRAIG: Yes. 



403. 
A Yee. they MI p t time We this M4*tien4 so 

.gs that, as matter of feet, it was not the polity 

of the Department to come right down on the owner"with all 

rigors of the law Masediatelren the filing Or a violation? 

A Oh, noi sir, it isn't customary. 

And that was understood by the inspectors; wasn't 

it? A I don't know as they hactd anrright to understand 

anything about that practice. 

Q Well, you were the Chief Inspector; A No, notf 

even I as Chief Inspector. 

Q Well, you understood it to be so; didn't you, 

A Well, I understood it to be so from the practice of the  

Department, but not as a part of my duty. 

q But it was a part of your duty, was it not, to ow 

that the it inspectors were informed intelligentlref their*. 

duties? A Well, but that's not a part of my work. 

Q Well, but isn't that a fact? A Yes, sir. 

q And you tr, to do your duty; don't you/ A Yes, 

sir. 

q You didn't consciously commit any breach of it; did 

you? A No, sir, I didn't. 

Well,A.o you recollect whether or not there ewes 

what is called a Cycle of Reinspeetion, covering the 

district in Which this tenenent house, so Called was 

located, in or about the month of March or Apri101912, 



A Yes! 

q will you explain to the Jhri "hat that steams this 

Cycle of Reinspectiont A. A alinepistiSh Orele, es the 

Department cells it, is made three or four times a year; 

that is, a reinspeotion of the tenement hoes** in the 

Norough of Manhattan, to see whether the orders allAimet 

the property are complied with or not, and the inspeeter 

is to make his report as to the finding on the 44Y or 

the inspection. 

(a Now, do you recall any particular circumstance's any 

unusual circumstances, about this Cycle of ReiolOsetiono 

that took place some time in the Spring of 1912, A Yee. 

sir. 

Q Well, just explain that situation to us, please. 

A Well, owing to a decision of the Court of Appsfas as 

to the definition of What a tenement house was, it beams 

necessary to have legislation enacted to determine thst 

factm and make it a settled fact, and the Lagialatura 

passed an act defining the proper definition of a tonamen 

house, which made some change in the ft old definition; 

and, to ascertain whether the budadinge on our regard* in 

Department were tenement houses or not, we had to make an 

inspection of the entire City of New York, and We dld se 

in the Borough of Manhattan, to find out what olitsitioatioS 

these housee wore in, according to that latest decision Or 



tha Court of Appeals, to find out if it was tho 411 

term or definition of at flathouse or tenement house and 

Chin additional information was requirsd from the 

spectorso to *certain whether there were certain Plumbing 

fixturei in the house or not, so as to comply with the nOw 

Tenement House Law. 

(I And when were instructions given to the inspectors 

with respect to this inspection? A March 21st, I believe 

was the date. 

0 1912? A Yes, sir. 

Q Were they given orally or in writing? A In 

writing, at least, they were read to them, 

the instructions in writing. 

Q And have you brought with you such instructions? 

A Yes, sir. 

q Will you kindly produce it? A Yes. The  are 

inspections which rissued on March 21st, 1912, to the inft 

spec tore.  

MR. CRAIG: I ask that itbe marked for identifio 

cation. 

(It is marked Defendant's Exhibit C identi 

cation). 

THE COURT: I do not see how they have any 

bearing on this case, but I suppose you de. It make* 

no difference why the defendant went to that hous 



Is 40 MN) 40 tor any Nitta relation to thisoM.1 

is guilty Under the indictment. 

MR. CRAIG: Well, but we will oeme t* that 

question later. 

THE COURT: Wen if be got Orders from the Chile 

I#IsPeetor to go and get the 440 be would Still be 

guilty. 

MR% CRAIG: And I einept on the record to Your' 

Honor-4e remarks in the presence of the jury. 

7HE COURT: I only want to limit the mule to 

the iseues. The Tenement House Department is not:on 

trial here. 

MR. CRAIG: I ask your Honor to instruot the 

jury to disregard the remarks that your Rent= has 

just made. 

THE COURT: The jury will decide the case ow 

the evidence, when eubmittedlto then. My effort' 

is only to keep the case within proper limit., and 

counsel differs( with me as to the proPer limit, and 

his questions will be ruled on When asked. 

MR. CRAIG: Mow, I offer it in evidence. 

YRS

 

MANLY: my only objection is that it is 

incompetent, and will unnecessarily prolong the trial 

MR. CRAIG: Well, I certainly want tO asPidite 



BY MR CRAIG: 

Is that paper, Defendant's Mhibit C for identifi 

cation, does that paper contain the instructions which 

were given to the inspectord for this Cycle of 

Reinspection,
 on or about the date it bears? A Yes. 

MR CRAIG: Now, I offer that in ov'idenoe. 

MR. MANLEY: I object to it as incompetent but 

I am perfectly willing that the question should be 

askedof the witness what it is and what are itt 

contents. 

THE COURT: I will alloy it if that is the onlY 

objection you have to make. I will admkt it. 

(It is Pi.arked Defond.ant's Exhibit C in eviden00). 

MR. CRAIG: And I will reserve, tf.your Ebner 

please, tho right Lo read il to the jury until 

little bJt later, in order to save time. 

TEH COURT: Yes. 

BY Mh. CRAIG: 

q Now, you renotabor tht.,.L you gave sottl6 testimony 

on your diroct examination as le wore white or y11ow sar4O, 

Now, are they someLlmes called route cards? A Yen there 

is such a card in the Departrl..ent. 

No, l Li an the one that etates on it the plaseS that 

the inspector is tu visit on a certain day? A That is 



his rout* h•t. 

q And from what io that made out? A hsfl the work 

is handed to the inspector, in the morning. 

Q That is, he ie given some sort ofmemorandum or 

record from the Department of particular prOpertiee with 

respect to some sort of complaint or violation Whidh *Zia 111 

in the Department? A Rig, work is laid out, in the 

morning, and he makes out his route shesti as to how :he 

is going to visit those premises. 

BY THE COURT: 

Thst is, he has no right to go Whereover he 

pleases? A No, sir. 

NE. CRAIG: Inobject and except to the questiOnl 

of the Court and ask to have it stricken out. 

THE COURT: Objection overruled. Motion ' 

denied. 

MR. CRAIG: Exception. 

BY NB. CRAIG: 

Q, Uows will you tell me whether or not inspector* 

sometimesmake additions to the slips, on returning frOn° 

their day's work? A Theybhave no right to, under Cho 

rules. 

MR. CRAIG: I move to strike out the answer as 

irresponsive to my question. 

THE COURT: 110tion denied. 

• 

• 
1 



BY IIR . CRAIG: 

Q Yon, do they, as mat ter of fact? 

MR. MANLY: Objected to, as already answers*. 

THE COURT: Excluded. 

ME. CRAIG: Exception, X have repeated the 

question, because I don't think the witness understOod 

question,my  because he didn't answer it responsiVelr• 

BY Mil COURT: 

Did you und.ere tand the question that he put to 

you? A Yes I did. 
, 

BY MR. CRAIG: 

Q Did you ever seer in the Department, s JUDI/you have 

been an inspec tor there , any of these route slips, with 

additions made to them by the nspec tor after the &WS 
work? A No, sir, I never did. 

. CRAIG: Tha t a].].. 

RE DIRECT =ANIMATION BY. MR . MANLEY: 

cl Will you tell us what the rule was that was it'll" tied 

to all inspectors, including the defendant on the nit, Of 

March of this year I 

MR. CRAIG: I object. It is in evidence oareadyt 

and. it is only repetition, and only takes up otw Urn 

as well as your Honor' . 

I 



MR. MAIM: It is n evidence of oowsbti 

counsel didn't read it to the jury. 

7HE COURT: I don't See hew the paper is admieS 

at all. If You had objeeted to it at the time I 

would have excluded it. 

MR. MANLEY: I objected to it as impropervbut I 

did notwant to appear to be objecting to something 

that the defendant wanted to get in. 

THE COURT: There is a very simple issue before 

the jury here. 

MR. MANLEY: yes, sir. 

THE COURT: It is 'clearly incompetent, and you 

have that rule in your hand. 

ME. CRAIG: Well,- I will withdraw my objectionr. 

I don't Object to the question new. 

THE COURT: It does not appewr, that any explain/Po 

tion in required. 

MR.' MANTRY: Then I will read it to the jury. 

But, before doing that, I ask your !Tenor to strike 

out the exhibit from the record as being inoomPetent, 

THE COURT: go, it has been reeedved. Let: itt 

remain in now. The only effect of it that I can See 

is to encumber the record, and befog the issues. 

mn, MANLEY: But, counsel for the defendant not 

having elicited from the witnees an explanetiowcf:iti 
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I have to do ee now. He has not even 0 t to the. 

jury. , 

(Mr. Manley reads the exhibit to the y). 

BY MR. MANLY: 

Q Now, that is a copy of the letter sent out hr. YOU 

to all the inspectors, incluling the defendant" A Yes 

air. 

Q, Or read to them? A Yes, read to them. 

Q Well, did you give these instructions Which you 

read to the inspectors at the direction of any tuperier. 

officer in the Department? A I did; 

At whose direction/ A The First Deputy CamMieeienert 

(I And his name is what? A William H. Abbott, :r. 

Q sow, as I understand your tee timony in answer- to 

the questions on cross examination by mr . Craig the 

object of this was to find out certain things whlich it 

was necessary for the DepartmenL to find out, at that time? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And did that Cycle of Reinspection extend throughout; 

the City" of Uew York? A Thr o ugh() ut the Borough of Manhat tan 0 

anyway. I now that pod i tively 

Q Ana it says that, as this is merely an additional 

Iteinspection Cycle, inspectors are not to file any violation  

whatever, unless they can make affidavit that the 00a. 

di hone, the s tary or tr uc tuna pond i tiOns are ex* 



troms4 dangeroull.. New, did that mean that if an inspeoter 

saw violations right before him of any of the Trisement 

House Act's provisions, or the rulesof the Departments did 

that mean that he was not to report those things to the 

T object to that ts incompetent. 

it means it shows on it  face. 

Now, that is the very reason 1/W 

1R. CRAIG: Yes, and, I object to the witness 

characterizing s ome thing which he s tated in plaiW 

English at the time, and we have the plain English 

preserved in writing, and we don't need the operations 

of his mind now as to what he may have thought butt 

left unexpressed atthe time he delivered thiS ifl 

MT. MAYTEY: I haven't asked him what he 

thought. In orimiwa law, the writing As not the 

THE COURT: The rvitinu is the best'evidenoe, 

arliey 

MP. rAtTLFY: It is the beet evidence of a sPecifUr 

TIT COURT: you may ask him whether be added 

anytthing to that or not. 



he did.' add. anything to hie instruetione Mt the ti1114 

because it .1,0 by ohat he laid that we know his 

meaning, and that is .here, .ipindevery inspector had a 

-right to rely upon that. 

THE'COURT:- The question is Whether he reed 

that!.p4per'to the insipeOtOre, Or WhOtber to explain 

that paper to the inspectors. 

cl that did you do at that time? A I read that 

instruction to the inspectors., 

(1 And did you add anything to it? A No, sir, 

addM nothing to it then. I Mhought the inotructiOne ePeks 

' THM COURT: Well, that is all. The Paper 'Weak§ 

to Rule 44 of the deneral 

Rules of the Department. Was that rule in force at. the 

time whan you read these particular instructions, dAtquill 

March 21st, to the inspectors? A Yes, sir. 

MH. CRAIG: May I see, the rule? 



you road, on Marsh 21st,, to the in 

Inky set aside Rule 44 of the General Rules tor InilliOtOr 

MRS CRAIG: / object to that, as Calling :Or 4 

•construction of the rule. 

TM COURT: Overruled. 

IKR. CRAIG: numPtion. 

W. CRAIG: I obJect to the question and Ole 

answer, and move to strike out the answer as bloom.. 

potent, and not binding on the defendant. 

THE COURT: Objection overruled. Notion denied: 

Now, if this defendant, this inspector, having 

charge of this building on, 96th Street, after the roadint 

of these instructions, on the 21st of' March, 19120 went to 

the premises that we are talking about, and there, in 

trying to get informattion called for by what yen hadread 

to him on the 21st of march, saw that .4 water eloselt'h&A 

been put in on the ground floor in place of & toilet and 



partitionAtail,t}aroUnd it; that new bath ti*Pe bad be. 

put in in all the reams, in all the apartments rather; 

that toiletj had been replaced, and adicas stands bunt 

around them, should he, under the rules of the Departments 

have reported that to the Department? 

MR. CRAIG. / object to that as incompetent. 

THE COURT: Overrule:1C 

MR. CRAIG : ftveptiOnr. 

And that, in spite of *hat you had read on 

of March, to all inspectors? 

MR. CRAIG: I object, on the sane ground. 

question, but I will withdraw 

q Now, you were asked by Mr. graig, at the beginning 

of your cross examination, this morning, if tips was 

allowed before the penalties were gone into. Now, penalties 

are gone into after violatIone are reported to the Depart* 

ment; are they not? A Yes, sir. 



12.4 

Q Xn other wordep there hos got to be 4 reword ot 
some kind  

THE COURT: Well, he said his Department has got 

nothing to do with penalties. 

MR. MANLEY: I will net press it any fur 

BY J. MANLY: 

But you understand that that is the prooeedUre, 

from your knoWledge of the proceedure of the Department? 

MR. CRAIG: I object. Your Honor wouldn't let me 

go into theprooeedure, and I don't Chink he ha a the 

THE COURT: I sustain the objection. He has 

answered that question already, both in answer to 

counsel for the defense and counsel for the Peeple and 

Q, Now, you were asked,yesterday afternoon, by comma 

for the defendant, if this was a copy of a letter Which Wag 

sent to R. Nelson MoLernan, on the 20th.of March, 1912? 

You were asked that; were you? A 

And you were also asked by counsel for the 

defendant from what refords they got the name H. Nelsen 

NeLernan, so as to 4p,11 to whom to send the letter. me yoU 

remember that? Now, I ask you if, from your knowbedge of the 



1 

X*$ 
records, and you hays tostitiod that they were kept AU 79* 

'department, you ca tell from What record they get the W/000 

H. Nelsen Mc:Lerma, 00 as to tell te whom to oaad the 

letter? . 

MB. CRAIG: I object to it 110 immaterial. 

TEE COURT: It is immaterial. 

MR. MANLEY: I know it is absolute)/ jAm4teria3.io 

but I want the jury to understand the rest of it, and 

not half of it. Counsel went into it Only half wars 

MR. aRAIG: Well, then, I will eXeidite matters 

by consenting that the whole record: go in before the 

jury, and either side may make any use of it that they  

see fit; I will consent that the whole thing go in. 

MR. MANLYT: Ro, I don't see anynecessity fer 

that. It will only serve to encumber the record. 

It is unnecessary, and there is much incompetent 

material in it. That is the only reason that I 

object. 

THE COURT: I have already otated What the issue 

is in this case. 

MANLIIIY: I will withdraw the Twat ion. 

That's all. 

MR. CRAIG: I offer in evidence miles* 

THE COURT: It makes no differeneeehe the lininOr 

of the property was. 



• 
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MR. num Mot the slihtSstr. 

MR. (DWG: / offer in evidence this Wundle of 

papero, which Mt. Manley just read from and I aka 

that the bundle be marked. 

THE COURT: Well, you may have it marked for 

identification, but .1 will exclude it as evidence in 

the case. 1 only want such papers admitted as' hems 

some relevancy to the issue. 

(It is markedDefendant's Exhibit D for identifi. 

cation). 

NE. CRAIG: Now, I offer it in evidence. 

THE COURT: Excluded. 

MR. CRAIG: I except. 

RE CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR CRAIG: 

Q1 And you said that you received your direetiOne tO 

promulgate this instruction of March 21st train some other 

person? person? A Yes, sir. 

Was he your superior? A Yes, sir. 

0, Was that given to you orally or in writing? 

A Wiiting. 

Q Rave you brought it with your?. A Yes, sir, 

Q Will you kindly produce it? A Yes, sire 

Q Have you found it, Mr. Lavelle? A, Yes. 

Q, Will you lot me see it a moment, goloot A, It 



4., • ol111111.1r ;•,,e *arr. 

4, Did you tes4fy that you received these icStruOtiOUS 

from the First  Deputy O the Third-Deputy? A The first 

DepUky. 

There is no Third Deputy, Or was not at that time? 

A No, sir. 

q And that was William Abbott? A Yes, William B. 

Abbott, Xr. 

Q Is the instruction to which you refer the one 

dated the 13th of March, 1912? A Yes, sir. 

MR. CRAIG: I ask that it be marked for identifio 

cation. 

TRH COURT: Mark it for identification. 

(It is marked Defendant's Exhibit E for 

cation) : 

MR. CRAIG: I offer now in evidence Defandantell 

Exhibit E for identification. 

Tiat COURT: Excluded. 

MR. CRAIG: Will your Honor hear me just briefly. 

THE COURT: ny, that was a communication made to 

him. How does that affect the defendant in anyway? 

BY THE COURT: 

q You did not chow that communication or publish that 

communication tdo Einyono; did you' A No, sir. 

THE COURT: He has testified that he prepared a 

certain letter and read it to the inspectors and the 

; 



a** ..er • 

Honor, whether he had any, authorityito male rUles, 

and the statute vests that authority in the First 

Deputy Commissioner, and. here is the written direction • 

from the First Deputy Commissioner, and this man is 

the mere conduit through which it plumes to the 

specters. Now, I desire to place in evidence in the 

record the direction from the pirst Deputy Cormtissioner, 

who is charged by law with defining the duties and, 

giving instructions to the inspectors, and I wish to ' 

show that this is such a direction. 

HAITIEY: Well, but we have got it' now on the 

record that he did. this at the direction of the peTson 

who had the authority. Now) that carries it right 

Well, is there any specific thing in 

that letter -.7hich you wish to introduce? 

N'LR . CTIA IG : Yes, sir, the legal authority of the 

First' Deputy Commissioner to give these instruction. 

R. MANLY: My, he has testified that he did it 

at the direction of the 'First Deputy. 

Ift. MAO: And I want the d:l.rection in evideno 



B. MAMMY: Yes, that binds the Department, tii 

order of the First Deputy Commissioner. But r haw* 
rio objection to its goihg in. 

TER COURT: Well, then will anew it in 

BY THE COURT: 

Di1 you mark that, or underline it with red ink, 

that part (indicating)? A No, sir, didn't do that 

THE COURT: I don't think it is relevant, 

will allow you to put it in. 

(Mr. Craig reads the exhibit to the jUrY)* 

Q Now, Mr. Lavelle, was it purusnace of this order 

that this instruction was given by you, on the 21et4,0f March, 

1912, which has been testified to by you/ A Yes, sir. 

Do you notice on this paper, Defendant's Exhibit 14, 

It has been underscored here and there? 

MR. MANLEY: Oh, I object'to any inarkin on the 

The contents are in evidence. 

THE COURT: Well, let him answer it. 

A The, eir. 



WY MB. CRAIG: 

q Were these undersCorings made in your o 

A Yes, sin. 

And I suppose that Was done to emphasise the pars 

ticular part that was underscored? A That was undersoOrOdo 

I believe, after I received this subpoena duces teozn, to 
see whether that was the letter that you meant in that 

THE COURT: objection sustained. 

MR. CRAIG: Exception. And I desire to read to 

jury the part that is underscoredl. 

MR. YANTEY: Why, itls in evidence. 

Then I offbr in evidence the under., 

obey the instructions of the Chief Inspector? A He 'toad 



; 

' QV And mold' be liable to loss his place in the 

D.Partment, A Yes' but not necessarily so. 

BY MR. MAY: 

q Now, when you read these instruatiOne, On Mirth 

21st, to the inspectors, were you carrying out the in, 

structions given you by mr. Abbott in the letter of math ' 

13th, 1912? A Yes, sir. 
the 

Q I uall your attention to/slip Which is now market 

People's Exhibit 4 in evidence, and ask you if that part ' 

of it which. reada --- which is et&red. on the slip .—

"Has each apartment, except the janitor's, a separate 

kitchen, water closet and bath tub?* Are those We things. 

which the inspectors were to find out in accordance with . 

the instructions read to them by you on the 21st of March' 

12. CRAIG: Objected to as immaterial, irre. 

levant and inoompetent, E.,.nd not proper re-direct' 

Q, New, I call your attention, to that part of the 

exhibit, Ithich you have already testified W40 in the 

defendant'o )1andwriting, marked, "Complied with, 1,24_0400. 

No additional items reported,- and signed by him' and dated 



Aps11 4th, 1012, and ask you, did Chat haWe anythift tO 40 

am to what he was to find, as to the separate kitchens, water 

closets and bath tUbe, 

q Now, I call your attention to this sheet Which 

follows right after Peoplett Exhibit 4, and ask you if that., 

had anything to do with the defendant Parley's making a 

report.as to the condition ofitaits 1, 2, 3, 4 and 54 on Chet 

of April, this sheet being dated the 3rd of April? 

I object to it as incompetent. 

T}ff COURT: Well,,I will sustain the objeCtion. 

It was objectionable as to form. You can ask him 'Le 

explain the connection, if any, between those two 

MR. EANLYYt I will adopt that suggestion. 

0 Explain the connection between those tivo sheets; it 

is any. A This is a departmental form which shawl -

the o'rner called at the Department, at 4.3.12. 

YR. CRAIG: I object to that. rt isn't in 

evidence. 13ut I will not object if they offar it in 



1 there any connection between the two sheet.? 

MR. CRAIG: I think, if Your Honer please, that 

the sheet should be marked for identification at 

Least, before that question in asked. 

(It is marked People's Exhibit 5 for identifica00 

Q Now, the question iato what docwient,, if &AY, MIMS 

that relate? To What document in your hands does that. 

paper refer or is connected with I don't mean physically 

connec tea with - in that bundle that you have in Your 

n Does People's Exhibit 5 for identification have eny" 

relation to any paper in your hands? A It is a slip made 

out by a clerk in the office, stating that the owner called, 

and asked for the reinspection of Chose premises. It is 

form No. 37, filled out by a clerk in the office. 

And it indicates that he called on what date? 

MR. CRAIG: I object to that. The only way to 

do this is to offer it in evidence. 

THE COURT: Well, you can offtr the paper in 

evidence, if counsel wishes it, this particular sheet. 



MR•ILUMUM1 Then I offer it in v2denos. 

(It is mArked. People's EXhibit 5 in Widence). 

MR. CRAIG: But, of course, it 'is underitood, 

arid is clearly UnderOtOod on the record, that, *ha* 

it is admitted without objection, it is not adMitted 

as proof of the facts stated therein. 

MR. LflLEY: I am offering it as eXplanatorY 

of what is contained on the bottam of Peoples 

fthibtt 4, if it is explanatory. 

c), Now, I ask you if People's Exhibit 5exPlains in any ' 

way People/0 Exhibit 4, which is the other Sheet? A As 

a result of the request' contained in 

It means that some.* 

body called at the Tenement House Department, and requeSted0 

a reinspection on all pending violations against t}e 

Q iyhat date did. that person call? A 4-3,-12. - 

Q. That means April 3rd, 1912? A Yes, sir. 

what does Exhibit 4 indicate, if anything, 

after that person called, it being but the next dart A It 

indicates that, on the following dayt this reinspeotion,w01 



•int MA 00 that the inspoistimrinmi 

reinspeatift. 

And who was the inspector sent 

Thomas Parley, the defendant. 

q 1,011,, did that reinspect on, on April 4th 

anything to do with the CY010 of Beinsivetient Of MArth 

210,t9 A Yes; it wae part of the 0010 of Meinelleatieso 

•Q Did it have anything to do with finding out haw 

many separatee,kitchens there were, or howmany water cloSets 

or bath tUbs there were? 

I object to that. 

He said it related to 

A The inspector was expected to return on all pending 

violations on those premises; and, in addition, tO answer 

these questions asked on that Form , Vo. 1674 staaPed Ogr 

Q Therefore, he was to go out, and not InerelY.ftedi 

out things that were among things Which Yours** Out On 

21st of March but all pending violations? 



0 Vow, nPeoples Exhibit 44 as to the violation' 

1, 2, 3, 4 and 5, was that report made either in reepon0e 

to going out in pursuance to the order of March 210t, or 

was it made in response to the person who came in on April 

MR. CRAIG: And I object to it on the furAher 

ground that it is not only incompetent and immaterial 

and irrelevant, but not proper re.direct examination. 

MR. tAIG: As distinguished from an opinion. 

E COURT: 

n As distinguished from an opinion? A I don't know 

THE COURT: All right, then, you don't ,know. 



rpriOu Who in4orstands the roUtAmo of tho 01100 

from refitting those morst A Woo iiir; it" ASS te 

reeerd. 

BY MR CRAM: 

You have a letter there., dated the 23rd Of Mx* 

have you not? 

Deputy COmmiseionerte letter? 

MR. CRAIG: go, the one which yolli* Rotor *Xs. 

eluded, a moment sip, and which I an hopeful your 

Honor will now admit. 

I don't see any letter of rebruary'23rd• 

MR. MANLEY: Do you mean that one (indicsting)t 

MR. CRAIG: I oan.find it if you will let me haTe 

that bundle. Thie one right here, dated the 23rd OS 

And dose that letter, which has been marked Detendau 

Exhibit B for identification, relate to the viaetions that 

thip reinspect/on covered, and the same violations that you 

have been interrogated about by the Distriet AttOrnoyt " 



A ros, it deaf 1!s10 

MR. CRAIG: X Offer it in evidence. 

Mils MANLEY': I object to it as incompetent. 

THE MART: W0111 I will allow it in evidence 

now. It has been connected now. 

Mt, COURT; And how can that relate to the 314 

Q, Row does that relate to the 3sd or April? A Thi9 

lettsr'relatee to the pending violations against the pres. 

misers, pending on Pebruary 23rd, 1912, and there was 4 

notice sent to the owner that nothing had been done to cam. 

ply with those villationts-

BY= couRT:4 And the letter speaks for itself, 

doesn't it? A Yes, sir, very clearly. 

TRH COURT: I will receive it in evidence now. 

(It is marked Defendant's fthittit B in eViden00). 

MR. CRAIG: That's all, M. Lavelle. 

MR. MANLYY: Just a minute. That), all. 



ILL/AM if. A B 0 T Ts Of 254 45th litre 

5reok3.yn, a witness ea3.1•41 en behalf et the Peoplo, 

being duly sworn, testified as follows: 

MEM RUMINATION BY MR MANLEY: 

Q That is your business, Mr. Mott? A Yirst D 

Tenement House Commissioner. 

q And you have been such how long? A Your years. 

14 Now, did you some time during the week Of the Una 

of Wilt Chat being a Monday, and Priday being the 26th, 

did you see mr. H. N. Mc:Tiernan? 

MR. CRAIG: I object to that as imiateriall 

irrelevant and incompetent, and not binding on the 

defendant. 

THE COURT: Well, I will allow the question. 

MR. CRAIG: I except. 

A I did, sir. 

BY MR. MANLEY: 

IQ Where did you see him? 

UR. CRAIG: SWIM Objection. 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

MR. CRAIG: Exception. 

A I saw him first in my office, 44 East 23rd 14-4-et. 

BY MR. MANLEY: 

ct That is, in the Tenement HOMO Deportment? A Yes, 

sir. 



Q Did you'go anyWhere with MS? 

The facte:objection. 

THE COURT: Overruled. Unless it is connected 

with the defendant it will not hurt him. I have *0 

allow the District Attorney to la/ a foundation to 

prove his case, if he Can. 

MR. CRAIG: Exception. 

What place did you go to, if any? A TO a bpIlding 

southwest corner of girottAVenue and 96th Street. 

Is that 340 Relit 96th Street, in the City and COWL 



BY Mt. l'AFLEY: 

MR. CRAIG: One moiient. I object to the. 

hearsay and incompetent. 

THE COURT: Objection 

BY MR. MANLY: 

0 Did you see any new work there? 

obleot to that as incompeten 

T1fl COURT: Objection overruled. 

A I saw work which appeared to be recent ly done. 

Q That was that work? A It Was the replikoing or some 

plumbing fixtures in the bathroom on the second tory 

of the rear apartments, and I understood 

You can't tell what you understood, just *hat yout 

saw? A Also a plastered partition erected in the stare, 

forming what appeared to be a water olosetcOmpartment. 



lAs 
cl wow, r show you Ibex bit 4A People's fthlttt 

and ask you if what you saw there and What you bare plat 

described as to thebathroam on the second floor and-the 

toilet on the ground floorhad any reference to those five 

items that are on the back side of this exhibit, 

MR. CRAIG: I object to that as immaterial, 
incompetent 

irrelevant ,and improper. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Well, do you know Whether they do Or not? , 

MR, CRAIG: I object. That may be a question for 

the jury. 

THE COURT: I will allow the question. 

MR. CRAIG: Exception. 

A They had nothing Whatever 

BY THE COURT: 

Do you, know, is the question? Yes or no. 

BY MR. MANLY: 

Do you know whether they had or not? A, :Yes, 

know. 

Did they have any connectionl 

MR. CRAIG: Objected to as immaterial, irreleo 

-want, incompetent, mnd hot binding on the defendant 

and no foundation laid. 

THE COURT: Allowed. 

MR, CRAIG: Exception. 



1113`‘ 

3T Mt. WM: 

4 Did $1):14halre something tO des 10..Abbetti, 

draw that. Did you write this letter to Mr. darstieldIt; 

Lavelle, Chief Inspectors dated march 13th, 1912, of whidh 

this is a 00PY (indicating)? A Yoe. 

Q You are familiars of cogree, with the rules and 

regulations governing the DePartments and the statnteSet 

the state withregard to the duties of the Tenement House 

Department; are you not? A Yee. 

91, New, I ask you, in view of the contento of thiø. 

letter to which I oalled your attention, of march 13th, 

1912, whether, in accordance with the law and the !lilies 

of the Depurtment, an inspectors going to this bonding,' 

and seeing this partition that surrounded this toilet onn 

the ground floor in the store, and the repairs to the 

AgMbing Which you have described on the second floors 

that bathroom, whether it was necessary for him, plans 

not having been filed with regard to those two things 

to have reported it to the Department? 

MR. CRAIG: I object to it as incompetent. 

TIF COURT: He may state his Opinion. 

R. CRAIG: I object 't0 his opinion.1 That is not 

what the question cells for. It involves a legal eon* 

struction of the Tenement House ActL.,' 



r-".. 

Ta COURT: ITO le an Inert in the l*W. Rim 

he is funnier with the statUttes, and the Mai*, et 

inspectors. I will allow him to ante*r the question, 

MR. CRAIG: I. take an exception. 

Wee, may I ask him a question or two before SO 

anowers that question? 

THE COURT: You may. 

BY MR,. CRAIG: 

s ir • 

4 Mr,. Abbott, are you a member of the bar?, A ge, 

Q You never had any training in the law? A NO, sir.. 

MR,. CRAIG: Now, may the District Attorney's 

question be repeated by the atenograPhert 

(The question is repeated by the stenographer). 

THE COURT: Well, strike out Rin accordance with 

the laws,. 

MR. CRAIG: And I object to the question being 

emasculated in that way. 

THE COURT: well, I will sustain your objeotionl 

as to his construing the law. I did not catch that 

part of the question when it was first  asked. 

MR. MANLEY: Well, I will withdraw the whole 

question, and reframe it. 

BY MR. MANLEY: 

Q

 

Now, what was the duty of an inspector going to 



• 2. 5j 

those premises, and seeing the pertitien built down in th• 

Store around the toilet, and seeing the plUdbing repairs 

which had been made in the bathrOom'on the second floor, as 

you have described; what were his dutisa,a0 to making an  

report to the Department, provided no plans had been nit* 

by the owner or agent as to making those alterations, . 

14R. CRAIG: I object to that as an incorrect and 

incomplete recital of the facto proved on this trial—

THE COURT: Overruled. I think It states enough 

of the facts, and with sufficient correctness, to 

Q Did. you discover there, M. Abbott, that according 

to the rules of the Department, it was necessary to hal00 

plans filed in regard to the alteration of the toilet on 
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the ground floor, which had had partetion built ADOUnli 

It, and the alteratione in the bathroom on the Scald f100,“ 

MR. CRAIG: Objected: to. 

TRY CObRT: AllOwed. 

MR. CRAIG: Exception. 

A I did discover that such a report should have been 

made. 

BY MR. MANLYY: 

q Had any such report been made by the inspector in' 

charge of the building? 

MR. CRAIG: Objected to. 

BY MR. MAYLKY: s 

q Have you examined the files of your Department in 

regard to that building at the time? A Yes, sir. 

And are you familiar with them? A Yes, air. 

q And do you know who the inspector was in charge of 

that territory including that building? A Yes; Parley, 

the defendant. 

q Had he made a report of those violations? A NO,  

s ir . 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, CRAIG: 

Now, Mr. Abbott, I understand that you have not hat 

whatevermay have been the detriments or advantages Of a legal. 

training? A Yes, that is so. 



4 And Chen you know only elhat sweats has told you 

about the Tenement Renee tom/ A 1 ‘01114nq As* it CNA 

way.' The law is very distinct, as it is written .inj the 

book and the interpretation of the Znglieh language is 

more or less plain to an EgnliSh speaking m4214. and, 

putting two end two together', you usually form an, idea 

in your own mind what the meaning of the sentence Is 

q And then what you mean to say is that, in additiolln 

to What has been told to you, you read the Act? A I am 

familiar with the Act-. 

41 Are you familiar with the fact that it required the 

Court of Appeals to tell the Tenement House Ilelpartment What 

a tenement house was? A Yes, sir. 

q Did you concur in the view of the Court of Appeals, 

or did you differ with the Court of Appeals as to what 4 

tenement house was, before that opinion came down? 

Mr, MANLEY: Oh, I object to, that  

THE COURT: I will allow it,. 

A I think it is unfair to ask my opinion against the 

Court of Appeals'. 

BY MR CRAIG: 

0 Not at all. You are a qualified expert . 

THE COURT: Well, your opinion will not hurt the 

Court of Appeals, and you may give it. 

A I did not agree with the Court of APPe4100 



THE COURT: That i.e not oon thing, for 

a layman to differ with the ourt. Youaro asked for 

fact, and so please answer it quickly. 

THE WITNESS: I thidk I have answered, it. 

q And in the aaie way, by the sameprocess, by reading 

the rules and hearing what other peePle halm said you 

arrived at that conclusion as to what the effect of the 

rules of the Department was? A Yes. 

q Now, will you concede Oval you are so that Ten 

have the common human frailtiesthat might load you into 

sri-or at times, as to what the rulesof the Department might 

mean? A Excppting where I draw the rule up myself., 

q Well, how many rules did you draw up? 

Q. And did you always and invariably draw Chem 0:** in 

such apt and circumspect language that there was no. 

possibdlity of their being misunderstood by the per0040 WhO 

read them? A I certainly tried' and that was my object: 

q Well, that was the Object of the Legislature in 

framing the Tenement Rouse Act; wasn't it? 

MIN COURT: Oh, what is the use f going into 



Opinion is worth, if I can ascertain. 

TEE COURT: lfialso'he ovidentlr thinks. very well 

of it, because he says he differs with the CourtIof 

Appeals. But you may ask the question% 

(rhe question is repeatedby the stenographer). 

Q DO yow know how many, sections there are in the 

Tenement House A.ct? A No, sir, I don't t . The last number 

is about 150 odd, but there are many intervening umbers 

that are not enumerated. 
there 

Q And/are BOMA that are enumerated with letters? 

Q Do you know how sections of the Charter there are - 

that relate to the Tenement Howe Department? A tiol 

Q But you know, do you not, that some of the sectiorke 

of the Char ter relating to the Tenement Ho e Doper tment 

cover as much as one page in one sentence? A 'reap 

q And that they are necessarily more or less involved  

Q, And you said that you had examined the files of the 

Department with respect to these premise", 06th 8 tree tt, and 

First'Avenue; did you not? A Yew. 

Q, Did you find from your examination of the file 

do you know from your examination -- I Withdraw ths,t4,4. Did 
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you :find in the files of the Dspartment any record or an. 

body having been prosecuted, such as Young MoLernan, or 

either of them, forhaving violated, the Act, with respect t 

•haring made these alterations or changes without having 

filed plans? A I did not. 

o And have yeu any knowledge on the subjeOt as to 

whether any prosecution has ever been instituted' A I 

believe not. 

R And how firm is your belief? Does it amount to 

knowledge? A Yes, I think I can say positivOlY. 

Q so that you can testify that you know that no 

prosecution of any kind has been had against owners or 

agents, or the contracters, or builders, upon that Place 

for the violations of the Tenement House Act there com-

mitted? A Yes, I can say that positiveiy. 

MR, CRAIG: That is all. 

ME, MANLEY: That is ail. 

MR, CRAIG: Xust one more question,. 

BY M. CRAIG: 

Do you know that, by Section 128 of the Act., it Is 

made a misdemeanor to make any change or alteration in A 

building without; havng perviously filed plans which halre( 

been approved by the Tenement House Department? A Ohl 1014' 

Q And you know that that is a misdemeanor on the past 
ti 

of the owner and agent and contractor,or anybedy' COn**. 



earned *n. the transaction, A Yee, sir. 

q And do you know the names of. the persons who were 

concerned in this transaotion, that is) the names of Hugh 

MoLeman, H. Vsloon MoLeman, and Andrews, the architect 

on the job; you knew all those things; didn't you? A 

don't know about the contractors. I knew the agent's name • 

He was the man vrho was recorded as having an interest. in the 

(4, Is there any power in the Tenement Rouse Moparhnent 

to give immunity against prosedution for such violations Of 

CI Well, will you explain- why -- I will ask you Chia 

further question --- had the Department ever gone after 

any of these men, even for the civil penalties of $250 

each, which the City is entitled to collect, for the benefit 

of the taxpayers, for a violation of this Act? Yes or het 

Q now, will you explain to the jury, why it is, with 

your riknowledge of these violations, you had never pro-

ceeded against the owners or others for their criminal 

violation of the Act, or instructed the legal representative 

of the City, the Corporation Counsel, to proceed to c011tot 

for such violations? A The violt ions have never been sladiX 
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VibUtienS, and we could net begin prosecution On 110Met14ng 

that did not exist. 

'Why, didn't your office have violations therefrom 

September, 1911, to rebruary, 1912? A Oh, you are referring 

to the old ones? 

Didnr t you know that I was, referring to the old 

onee? A No, sir. 

R Well, you neverprosecuted anyone for the old ones;; 

did you? A I coadn't tell you that. 

0 Don' t you know? A ro sir. 

0 Did you examine and inquire to find out? A ITO, 

ir . 

Q Didn't you know that the city was entitled to * 

penalty of $250 for each violation? A No, sir, they are 

not. If the violations are not complied )vith, they

(I Well, hitt ia yt-nor -construction of the act; is it? 

A The city i not enti tied to $250 for every violation of -

the Tenement Home Law. 

0, Well, they are entitled to sue for it, and, if, the 

Court finds they are entitled to it, they are entitled tO 

collect it, aren't they/ A No, sir. The violtiOn has to 

be on file„, and properly served. A violation may 1)0 soilrodk 

on a man to -day, and, if he compliss with it, tomorrow, up 

prosocuLion ik5 started. 

Q And how many days ),as he to comply with it? A That 



343 

depends. Banetimes it will be a uric:rue ease, and tbssi S 

is 24 home ; and, if it is not a serious case, we haying a 

groat deal more ilaPortant work to do, it make go on for 

a year or two. 

BY THE COURT: 

q W11, you refer then to the dorporatien C Mee 

don't you? A Yes, sir. 

Q They leave your Department? A Yes, sir. 

Q Your Department is required to find out whether the 

owners or peraons responsible for the property comply-with 

the violations? A Yesri 

Q And, if they don't, they are reported to the 

Corporation Counsel? A Yes, sir. 

BYE. CRAIG: 

Q And you understand that I referred to prosecutions 

by the CorporationCounsel; don't you? A I don't quite 

understand your question. 

You understand that prosecutions for penalties ter 

violations have to be brought by the Corporation COunse1; 

you understand that; don't you? A Yes. 

Ihave assumed that you knew that. A Yes, sir. 

q Now, you say that you found violations when yoU 

went there, in April? A Yee. 

q Did you make any report on it? A The,, 

q Did you file 4 violatiOn? A No,. 



ZUst anSwer me.I-Mouse MO. A The matter was 

referred to the Commissioner for instrPOtiens. 

And there you stopped? A Yes 

(1 Has any violatiohrbeen filed up to the time that 70t 

are now testifYingi A I believe there 

when was it filed/ Do you know? A No. 

(1 How serios a violation was this, with respect to 

the time the Department would allow the owner *--

refer tow to the old violations. I withdraw that queOtienl 

How serious were these old violatiOns which were fibed 

against th.is property, with respect to themount of time 

that the Department would allow the owner, before prosectatiO 

were begun under the Penal Statlute, or for the penaltiee-

A So tm untnportant that it wasn't thought necessary to 

file violations, and begin prosecution on that point, at 

0, Well, that was my question. 

(Tbe question is repeated by the stenograPher)  

A I don't remember the details of the violationS, but 

I think they were what we would term more or lese trivial, 

things that did not endanger the lives or the health of the 



You never did? A o. 

7,o that the I" at as to whether or not e ten*its 

might be incommoded or injured was not a factor? A We wOr. 

able to 4udze that ,from the kind of 27 port that .the inspector, 

you preAtred to testify whether the original 

would be an 4dditiona1 reason why the .ovner should, have more 

Q, And that wouldeven aloply to any violation? Li the 

owner showed a disposition to complay with. the Apt, it was 

the policy of thc Depe2'"ortent to give him an opportunity to 

To ti Le first .I.Jart of your Question I would . 

Q And What t4bout the laet part? 

I will withdraw the quest ion, 

n It ran th4., policy of the' Department to i7.iyØowners 



no. 

was 
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+Oho seemed to be so inclined) an opportUnity tek. mar 104th 

the roquirementB of the DePartmenti wke h't it? A Oh, VW 

always. 

AAd even in serious casco they Were given 4 hours, 

where life and limb were it danger? A Yes. 

And in oases where the peril was either sals 

or non-existent, any reasonable amount Of time would be 

given, so long as the awnor showed an inclination to comply 

with the ictfA A Yes. 

Q And that lovledge was not all locked up with Y7014 

it? Wasn't it genomaly understood by the Department, 

that that wa3 the policy of the Department? A The theory 

0, No, can't you answer that question? 

BY TILE COURT.: 

Well, do you know whether that knowledge eus leaked' 

up in your breast? That s the Question. k No, g,ir it 

wasn't. 

BY MR. C1,1A1C,: 

0, And it was the kind of knowledge that men versed 

in the technique of the Department had also, as well at 

yourself? A Yes, sir. 

RE DIRECT 1.7.Al1itTAT ION BY MR. MA: 

that I unde4rstand you to mean on Chat want is ha 

after the rvport is ade by the in spec tor that there is 's 



viellition you gtve the owner a chance to rested: the .vielat$00 

A Yee, sir. . 

But it does nct mean, doesit, that the' inspector 

would not make a report of the violation? A NO, sir. 

Pot instance, white mashing the walls or a cellar, 

you would not want to put a man in jail for that, without 

giving him at least 24 hours notice; would you  A 1114, 

air. 

RE aRoss Gt INATION PY M. CRAIG: 

q Now, there was vested in the inspectors a cort04 

amount of discretion az to whether a report shoutd be MA40 In 

a given instance; was there not? A No, sir. 

4 Then What did you mean, in these instruCtiOne Of 

March 21st, when you said that it didn't apply to vielati040 

existing at that time, unless taley were very eeriou0 A 

would explain that that letter was written with the Objecet 

Of Making a rush inspection over the entire city. Gue Or 

the strictest rules of the office is that he inspector Obeli 

not use any discretion whatever. 
rule 

Q,. well, now, what/is that which ie more etrioL LIU= 

any other rule? Tell 115 Lee number of it. A I don't 

remember the number off-hand. 

1111 11, then, eome rules are strict, And some are not 

strict; is that rieht? A !To, Iwouldn't nay that. 



Vial, then, what do you Ile all When you say to the 

here that one of the strictest rulese the DoWtment is so 

and so, if you don't mean that some rules are strict* amil 

others are not strict? A Well, if I may be allowed to 

remould that, I will do so. 

(), No I want you to explain it. A We have certain 

rules upon vthich charges are based. 

0 Well, I don' t want you to digress. A A man lasing 

subjecthis hat band lB  to a de,yis fine, and that is rule 

which I do not regard as important • And. a man is puraisheit, 

by a fine of five days! pay for losing his badge. Or the 

man who smokes or lounges in tenement houses to Which he 

has been sent officially, or '.3ko visits the contractor or 

owner after off ice hours and talks over with him violatiOns • 

the rule against that is strict. That is a rule %hich we 

consider more sex io •uk, and B trio ter than the rule applying 

to the losinp of a hat band. 

Now, then, you mean that there ar C some rules that 

the Department attaches more ignif icance and importance'to 

th„A.n other rules ; is that what you mean? A Yes, sir.' 

And that an absolutely 1A:3:forma/we is exacted as to. 

some rules while as to other rules the Department is 

exac ting ; is that right? A Yes.' 

111' . That is all. 

Mn.. Khan : That s all. And the next witness 



will bre sw last wttne r uw .11enor p1 

ALBERT Be SCHWARTZ, awitneSS ealled on 'behalf 

of the Pedple;being duly worn, testified as. fellewsit, 

DIRECT EXAMINATION' BY MR. MANLEY: 

(1 'Mere do You live, )Ir. Schwartz? A 313 East 12s4 

Street. 

4, And are you an employee of the District Attorneyts 

office? A X am. 

4, You are a process server in his office, serving 

slibrposnaS, is that it? A I am. 

Now, did you  upon Friday, the 26th day of April 

last, go to the premises, in the forenoon., 340 Bast 96th 

Street? A I did. 

With whom did. you go there? A I went in company" 

with Mr. Al Thomas, a de tea tive attached to ow officer  Ira 

Ur. Toseph H. Fink, of the Tenement }Toe Departmont, 

Q And into what part of the premises did. you? A Itir 

in to the dining room, and. then into the parlor. 

Of whose apartment? A Of the apartment of Mrs., 

Akon, the janitress of the building. 

Now, While you were there, did you hear anyone  come 

to the door? A I did. 

Q At the time when you heard a person °Ms to the 



— 

in *hat part of the preminen or the 4P 
Idiot room? A The diOing room. 

Q Is that, starting in frost the outside hall *...ft What 

room is that? A That's the second room in frOt the OntsidO 

hall. 

q That is the dining roam where you were A 7.0110 

sir. 

Wow, did you see- the defendant? A I saw the 

defendant later; not then. 

Q Now, what did you hear, when the person came to the 

door? A Mrs. Jakob went to the door, and then ws went into 

the parlor. 

The first word I hoard was, "Letos go down to the store. 

Bring the key with you. I want to examine the toilet.. And  

bring that money along." 

Q Now, you say you were in the parlor when you heard' 

that? A No, I wasn't in the parlor when I heard that. / 

come out of the parlor into the hall, and into the room 

sermon the hall from the dining roan. 

14 And that is the second room in the apartment? 

A Yee, sir. 

Q Now, what was the next thing you heart, if anything?. 

A Then Mre. Jakob left the apartment and I saw the detiondsint 

going out with her. 

4 Pram the apartment? A From the apartmen rot. Ant 

V 



Own Iwent dOwn en the Stairs lis41a ti. 

and While there I hoard the dorandant sayi sinus= tell 

him that will be all right, and to have that read'', east, 

time next week, and Ifll be around for it.0 

(I Did you, hear anything else while you were standing 

at that point? A lie, sir, I mitt remember anything else 

that I heard. 

Were you present at the time of the arrest? A I 

(1 And what conversation" if any, did you hear bOtwe 

anyone and the defendant at that time? A Oh" when the. 

defendant .left the premises, Thomas and myself were right 

after him. 

And Thomas put his hand on his dhoulder, and the 

defendant turned around, and said, What do you want?. And 

Thomas said, We want you.* 

And Thomas said, *Take your hand out of there's' pointth 

to his right hand. And he took his hand out of his pocket, 

and in his hand he had a roll of bills, and before Th 8 

said anymore than that he said, the defendarW said Moe, 

is $40. there. I admit it. * 

And Thomas eounted the money and he compared the numbers 

on the bills ,snd found the numbers were emul My 0.0 the 0001. 

as he had taken of the bills that he had given tO lire 0 0414 

previously. 
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And then Mamma aaldp /Where did you get IttI AM bee 

said, "I get it from that woman our there's and he pointed; 

to the house NO. 340 Bast 96th Street. 

And he said, *Can't I fix this sooshow,.0an t I de as  

ci And you went to the station house with the defOndant 

and the officer; didn't you? A No, sir; I went back to get( 

Hrs. Jakob and then went back to the station house. 

q Did you make a memorandum on that date of the 41... 

a memorandum of these words that you say you overheard? 

A I made a memorandum later o01 when I came back tO the 

have you en that memorandum since? A Tee. 

Has anybody else ever seen it? A Thomas has, 

Q Well, do you know that the language that you hair, 

used here is almost identical with the language word :or 

word, that Thomas gave in testifyinf? A Weil, it Ought to 

Q, Well, it ought to be., But you Chen what Thome 11141 

going to testify to? A I didn't know what he was going tO 



ck W*11, etoP right theiv. Thi.t an answor bow. 

question. Have you and Thomas o011aboreted &tali as to the 

testimony which you were tO give here? A 11110 didn't 001140 

borate at all. We gave our testimony as it phonic' be the 

0, Do you know whether Thomas memorised his testiMonr, 

A I don't know anything about that. 

0

 

Can you repeat the contents of that momOrandUm, 

without looking at it? A No, I oan't. 

14 When did you last see it? A Yesterday., . 

Did you get it pretty thoroughly in your mind Mont 

Well, I didn't ask you that. A I pima,' glano 

And then you didn't read it closely/ A No, sir. . 

You thought you had it pat? A (No answer) 

You understand that I mean.. A Not I don't.° 

MR. MANLEY: I think we might have it in mere 

elegant ianguage, if your Honor please. 

c) You felt that it was necessary', in view of the welt 



you were going to deliver your testimony' to de Mors than 

scan this meinerandum? A I felt I know What tostinony I 

was going to give. 

answer me. You know what I mean. 

Q, 11 right, then, I'll withdraw it. Yu have never 

heard that expression before? A Yes, I've heard it before. , 

And you don' t under s tand the Engl ish' lang Uage , or the 

ordinary colloquial use of it? A Yes, I do.. 

And did you understand my question then., When 

as*ed you, you had, it down fine? 

MR. MANLEY: I don't understand the question at • 

all, your Honor, and I objedt to it, on the ground. that 

THE COURT: Overruled. The VI tne IS • has not 

that he does not understand the question. 

(The question is repeated 'by the stenographer)* 

A Nad what down fine? 

The narrative Chst you were going to give es a 

witness? A I kner what testimony I wail going to giyo) 

becawle I heard tile conversation* 



At any rate you knew whet, testimony Yet 'Fero going 

to give? A Of course, I did. 

0, And for Ihat reason you didn't feel that 'it wa 

necessary to examine this memorandum with particular closer 

nese? A I simply glanced over that memorandum, to retro& 

my memory. It happedectsome time ago. 

q But you said you knew what testimony You were going 

to give, before you looked at it; didn't you just say 

that? Now, answer me. A Didn't I say *hat? 

q (question repeated) A: No I don't know what you 

0, Were you afraid that you might be called 'VOA to 

produce that memorandum, to see whether it tallied with 040, 

story that you were going to give? A No, I wasn't afraid:. 

Then why die, you look at it, if you kner rbat yoUr 

were goingto testify tor and weren't afraid? A BOO4U00 

didn't want to make a mistake in my test±mony and I wanted  

to refresh my memory. 

An6 you had Lhe.t on( tAhir4 in your mind all the tiMe 

you were up ther, didn't you? 

q And you were particularly intent upon those thing' 

Which mie,ht --- I'll wjftdraw that7 And you wanted to pue0004; 



didn't you, A 1 went t i'Or that purpose. 

And your promOtion and wen being depends on your 

making good, as they call it? A NO. 

q Ana then do you understand Chat, in case you tali 

to make good and show yourself to be an incompetent 

process server or detootive that you will be promoted in 

spiteof that? A No. 

well, then, have you no pride in success? A 

have. 

Q And you went -. you were sent up on thie job to make 

good? A I was sent up there for a certain purpose. 

Well., you understood that you wererequired to moto 

good? A I wean required to make good.. 

Q. Wllt you were going to make good, Whether you were 

required or not? A If possible, yes. 

q so that was your point of view, you wanted to 

you were looking for the commission of a crime and were 

looking for those things that, to your mind, would 140.0030 

the cammissiam of a arime/ A Yes. 

Q And were you looking for anything else? A NO. 

MR. CRAIG: That is all, 

MR, MANLEY: That is all. 

TRE COURT: Any other iititnesses? 

mni MANLEY: No, sir. I rest!. 

YR. CRAIG: If your Honor p1e40e, I don t knew 



— whether you wiiftt me to argue this in the prossuoil 

the iurY or not, but I move on the reeerd for a 

direction of aoquittal on the first Count contained 

in the indictment. 

7RE COURT: I donot know any reason "Iv that 

should be taken from the jury. 

MR. CRAIG: Does your Honor desire to hear me? 

70 COURT: Yes, I will hear you. 

MR. CRAIG: Or may I make the same motion new 

as to the second count, and Chen argue an to both? 

That will expidite the matter. 

THE COURT: I will hear you on both motions. 

(Counsel for the the defendant Chen argued bbth 

motions). 

ZETE COURT: I will have to deny the motions. 

will deny the motions. 

MR. CRAIG: I take an exception-. 

(The Court then admonished the jury in acoordano 

with Section 415 of the Code of Criminal Procedure) 

and adjourned the furtalmr trial of the case until 

Friday mmnning, October 18th, 19121 at 10:80 010100k) 



October 18th, 1912. 

R. CRAIG: Alderman Dowling is here as a 
A 

chArac ter witness, if your Honor please and .may I 

vary the order of proof and put him on first, Bo 

that he may get away? He hat been waiting her: for 

riaTE COURT: Yes, you may do so 

DO WL IN G, of 401 West 24th Street, 

railed on behalf of the defense, being duly 

sworn, testified as follows: 

DIRECT IfGaNINATION BY 11R CRAIG: 

at is your vocation, Mt. Dowl'ing? 

member of the Board of Alderman. 

0, You are the leader of the minority in the Board. of 

. 0, Do you know the defendant Farley? A yeSj 

How long have you known him? A Over 20 years. 

And do You know his reputation for hones **7 and 

integrity in the vicinity where he resides? A Nod. 

That is all. And. what is his reputation:for truth 

and veracity? A I have always foUnd it to be good., 



THOMAS P. PARLEY, of pUntot Lodge, 'LOng 'Oland, 

the defendant, being duly sworn, as r01.10113t 

DIRECT EXAT1INATION BY ]R. CRAIG: 

the defendant in this action? A kes 

ever meet Hugh N. McLernan OX, vOhateverr 

Whe was one of the witnesses who testified': 

And about when was the first time, you ever 

Q And did you see him at 34(YEaet 96th Street? 

Please state what the conversation was? A Inlet 

Mr. H. Nelson McLernan on the premises, and he  said,. 

Inspector," and I said, 'Tow do you do, sir!? Are you the 

owner or agent of this property?" And he toldme he W40 —

And he says, "By the way, what have you done with those 
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him that the violations that had been pending, I had die 

missed, because they had been complied with, and he said, 

"Well, it's nearly time. Vt.', gladof it." 

BY THE COURT: 

q This was the old man'? A Noj sir, the young many 

H. Nelson McLernan. 

0 All right. I only wanted to d stinguiSh between 

them. A And -I said, "You have made quite some altera#Lon0 

here, Mr. MeLernan. Have you filed a plan or notified the 

Tenement House Department about these alterations before 

doing them?" And he said, 'Well, I think my architect and 

plumberhave taken care of that Matter." And I said, 'Well,, 

possibly they have, but I don't think so." 

Andhe said;—"N-Ow, you are not p.:oing to file any viola-

tion against me, Inspector?” And I says, "1 haven't said 

that I would." And he said, "Well, I have spettconsiderable 

money here, and I wouldn't care to have any further troOble 

in this matter," and I mid, "I'll look it up," and he sai4 

"Well, see ne in a few days. I'll sec • the architect and 

plumber and let you know about it, and you see me in a 

few days and I'll let you know about it," and I said 

proMed him I would. 

WO •••••• 

BY MR. CRAIG: 
Did you say in that conversation with MbLernan, 

"You see the owner, and I think we can fix it up"? A aQ, 

Or'l absolutely not. 



,Or did you say anything like that,. 

in effect? A No, sir* 

Now, you heard read: here, did you-not, Inspector,. 

this instruction which was given for the ReinspectiOn 

about the date of March 21st, 1912; did you not? A I did., 

Q Now, did you ever see -7-- referring to People's 

Exhibit 3, vtaich has been designated as a route slip, or 

something of the kind, will you tell me what the practice 

is in 'the Department with respect to additions to the slip, 

after the day's work? k In reference to additions to it? 

q Yes. A. Well, when an inspectdr goes out in the• 

morning, he routes all the work that is given to him, or' . 

the premises that he thinks he can visit, that day, and 

very often he gets through with that work before quitting 

time in the afternoon, which is ordinarily four o'clock; and 

if, for instance, he could get through at three or half 

past two o'clock, it would be his duty te make other in-

spections in the district, if there were any, and look 

around the district in general; and, if he visits other 

premises, he very often adds them on the bottom of the sliki 

and turns the slip in at the office, the next morning, at. 

not 
roll call, though it isAabsolutely necessary. 

0 Nov, at the time that you were there to 

Jr., as I will call him, was the conditiOn of those prmines 
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- 

such that you could make ':•an.; ,aff idavi t to' the effbct that 

the sanitary structural co41it1oos were extremely , 

dangerous? A No, sir, they were not. 

Did you, subsequent to this occasion When youltaw 

as I understand, you never saw the. younger MCLernan, 

on that one occasion? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, did you, on a subsequent visit, see the. eider 

MbLernan? A Yes, sir. 

And what took place between the elder MCLernan and, 

yourself when you saw him? A He said he was the father. Or1 . 

the other Mr. MCLernan, and the first words he said to me.: 

was, "Are you the inspector in the district?" And I said, 

"I am," and he said, "Tly son left SAO. here for you," and.? 

I said, "I don't know why he should leave it for me. I 

did nothing for him that he should leave me 0.0.", and I 

said, 'What are you doing here anyway?" 

And he said, "I'm taking er old paper, and repairing 

the plaster. Now, Inspector, how much would it costtto fix: 

this matter up?" 

And I said, "I don't know how you can fix itup, except-, 

by hiring an architect, and by filing a plan, Which shoUld.• 

be put throurh the Department in the regular way," and hef, 

said, 'What would all that c6st20' And I said, "For a job) 

of this size, about 50, I think, to have the plans draWn,. 

and put through the Department in the regulanway." 
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Q What Was the practice 'in the Department where 

violations existed, which consisted. Of baying done certain 

work without filing plans, with respect to gettling rid of 

that violation? A Thy, if a violation was filed agaiMstli 

any premises Where the alterations hd taken place without 

a plan being filed, Why, the owners or- agents would.file a 

plan. The Only way to get that violation dismissed was to 

file a plan, showing the alteration, and have an inspector 

come in the regular way and inspect it, and, if the viola--

tion complied with the law, the inspector would sign up the 

copy given to him by the Department, dismissing the viola 

tion alteration. 

gow, did you, in that conversation, say, in words or, , 

substance, "The thing has been going on so long, that they - 

have got on to it in the Department, and I have got to se0 

others above me"? A Abdolutely not. 

Q Or anything to that purpert .or effect? A :No, sir. 

Q, aow, then, following that --- I will withdraw that 

Do you know Yr. Andrew Molinelli? A Yes. 

What is his business? A He is a plumbing contractor. 

Q, And does he file plans in the Tenement House 

De par tment cover umbing work? A Yes  s IX 

Did you f3,e, following the conversation with the 

elder McLernan, did you see Mr. Mc)linelli? A Yes; after' 

the second conversation. 
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Q 'Where was it MI saw Yolinelli? A In his office, 

No. 28 Oliver Street. 

Will you state what took place between YOul 

MR. MANLEY: Oh, I object to that as being igt—' 

competent, a conversation with a third party, a con 

versation with a man named Molinelli. 

THE COURT: I will sUstain the objection to 

that. It was not with one of the witnesses here, 

MR. MANLEY: No, oir, not at all. 

MR. CRAIG: No, sir, not one of the witnesses.' 

But the defendant has a right to explain this trans-

action and tell What occurred in connection with it. 

THE COURT: Well, that was a self serving declara 

tionl a conversation with a third party, not 

I will sustain the objection. 

1 except. Now, just to make the 

matter clear, your Honor, I will ask this question.' 

Did you have a conversation with Molinelli with e 

reference to the preparing and filing plans on this property 

at 96th Street and First Avenue? 

M. MANTLYY: I object to that, as being a self*. 

aerving declaration. 

Brf MR. CREIT,Vt 



On this occasion when you saw him at his of 

THE COURT: I will let him testify, if youlike, 

that he employedi an architect, and let  him name the 

architect, but the conversations are not admissible 

Mh. CRAIG: But the conversation would, establish.  

Q Well, what did you do with Mr. Molinelli, with 

refererre to this transaction? 

TITT1 COURT: Yes, hemay explain his conduct, 

but not what he said to different people. 

A After I had seen the elder McLernan- the second_tible, 

I saw Mr. Molinelli, at his office, 28 Oliver Street and I 

THT COURT: 1,To, I will sustain the objection to 

State what was done, when you saw Mr. Molinelli 



THE COURT: Sustained, 

BY MI• (TRAM.: 

Q, The ,Tudge has ruled that you can't 'state the 

0, You went to see him about this matter•,, did you? 

A Yes, in rererence to drawing plans for these alterations. 

Q, Then you saw the elder McLernan on a second 

. occasion, did you not? A yes, sir. 

0 And what occurred. then? A He toldme that he had • 

seen his son, thenight previous, and he told. him to tell me 

that he thought we could straighten the matter out all 

right, and that he would see me there on Frida.y of that, 

0, Now, it was necessary, was it not, to have plans fil 



in order that thits;work could e properly shown III the 

Department? Yes, 'sir* 

And in order that this house Might be free from 

free from an adverse report: from yourself or any!' other 

of April, 1912; were you not?. A Yes, 

Q Now, omitting the details, because we have had all 

that and there is no questions about the details, you saw, 

Mrs. Takob, the janitress? A Yes, sir. 

q And state the conversation that took place betWeen 

you? A Mrs. jakob said. to me, ',The boss left 00 here for 

and told me to tell you that he had to leave town for 

a few days, and couldnt t be here to -day, but told me to 

give you this 0, and the balance he would give you during 

next week, or the next time you be around, and I Should tell 

wish to look at that new toil 

examinedit, because there was a little --- I was.n04:' 

quite sure as to how bout the floor and a few other detai10 

And she came down and opened the' store and we. Went,' 

in, and I looked at what I wanted to, and she handed Vie 



I told her to tell .mr4 VcIsernan that I would have the 

pland drawn and filed,  and pUt through in the regular wayi 

and that he needn't worry any further abcut the matter.  

(), Did you hear-Fink's testimony? A -/-604 

0, Did you hear him say that upon this occasion when 

you went there you said, "Then I heard a woman 0 voice taY1 

'1-rave you got that for me'" addressing the janitress? 

A Did I hear him say that? 

Q, Yes. A I didheax him say that, 

Did you make any such statement as that/ A Abso-

lutely not, no, sir 

0 Did you hear any other masculine voice express 

such statement as that? A No, sir. 

Q, Did you say anything --- didyou say to Mrs. Jakob, 
in substance or in effect: "Is there anyone in these other. 

rooms?" A No, sir. 

Did anything of that kind take place? A 1To4.13r! 

0, Now, this 4O that you received there, you receivedi, 

for what purpose? A For the purposeofhiring an architect to  

draw a plan for the alterations that hadtaken place. 

(), And to turn over the. money to Mr. Molinelli? 

A Yes. 

Q, Are you a married man? A yes, sir. 

0 Wife and family? A Yes, sir, 

Of what does your family consist? A. A fe and fife 



CROSS :EXANTINA.TION BY MR. MANLEY: 

]vTh. CRAIG: I object to that., That has been. 

contested all the way through, and even the head of the 

Department said he differed from the Court.: ofAppeals. 

tenement house; was there? A No, sirs it is on our recorde 



'How nany times altogether.? A I never went  there 

the month of April. 

0, You had never been there at all before the month 

0, And you were not there at any other time at all:? 

0 How many different times were you there, MT. Farley, 

A pive tines, is the nearest of my recollection. 

Q, Yes. You werethere on or about the 4th of Ar4y 

You remember that? 'A Yes. 

q Now, you went there upon that day inresponSe to'tbAt 

special order which Chief Inspector Lavelle had read to all 
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Of the inspectors on the 21st of March, about the new in-

spection Cycle; that is one of the reasons you went there; 

isn't that so? A Yes, that was one Of the reasons. 

Q And you went there at that tine to*getthe informa-

tion recited:at the top of that sheet (reads);  did you not? 

A Yes. 

Now, I call your attention to Peoplets 

and ask you if that also had something to do With What you 

did on April 4th in the premises? A I never saw that 

before. 

R What is that? A .1 never saw that before. 

q Now, did you, in this report, PeopleOs Exhibit 41$., 

report to. the Department that violationsl,_21 31 41 and 5; 

had been complied with? A Yes, sir. 

n And that no additional items were reported? A Yes, 

sir. 

Q, That means, then, that all violations that had been 

existing for some time, and which were called in the.pepart—

ment violations 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5, had been complied with? • 

A Yes, sir, items 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5. 

yes, those items? A Yes, sir. 

0, And now 1 call your attention to People's Ekhibtt.-

4A, and ask you if those are the five items referred to in 

your report of the 4th ofApril? A Yes, sir. 

In other words, when you say violations 1, 20 3.). 4, 

- 



and 5 were complied with, that means the violations itemized, 

on the back of that sheet, 4A? A "Yes, sir. 

Well, now, when you went there on the 4th of April, 

you saw that these other changes were going on; did you 

at the time when you went  there,, 

that they were putting a toilet in place of a urinal-, dOwn 

in the store, and building a partition around it? A 'NO 

Did you not sec, when you went there on the 4th of 

April, that they werereplacing all the bath tUbs in the.. 

various apartments, and fixing the plumMing in reference 

to the bath tubs and toilets in each apartment, and putting. 

the new platforms around the toilets? A No, sir:. 

Q, Did you go through. the house when you went there 

on the 4th of April? A. Yes, sir. 

0 And you didn't see any of those things there? 

A Not going on. They were already existing and completed; H• • 

0, Oh, then, the things which I had referred to,. the  ' 

toilet put in place of the urinal, and the various bath' 

rooms, the toilets replaced, in the various apartments, that - 

wo4 'was all completed on the 4th? A Yes, sir. 

0, Now, in your opininn, was that such a violation, that 

work having beon done without the filing ofplan0 Was it ,a 



MR. CRAIG: Now, I object. to that as incompetent. 

BY MR . MAITLEY: 

ME. CRAIG: Objected 't 

Q In other words', the doing of work of that sort,. 

II understand it, Mt'. Parley, required that plans 

some kind should have been filed; isn't that so? 

Q, Now, is it not true that, when plans are filed 

in Whose district that tenement hOuse is receives notice 

of the filing of those plans? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And you have not received notice of the filing, or: 

these plans with regard to these particular alterations 

about 'rhich we have been speaking? A I have not. 

q And, therefore, you inferred from th 

every right tc dresume that plans had not been filed? 
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- Q That is true; is it not? ,A. Yes, sir. 

Q Well, now, 3roul did not at any time file any. violation - 

with the Department as to those new alterations; did, you? 

A I did not, sir. 

Q And, as I un.derstand it, you did not do 1. t by 

virtue of this order of the 21st. of March; is that so.? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, Now, that order *which was read. to you by the Chief 

Inspector, to all you inspectors, on the 21s t of  March, 

was that you inspectors should go out and do exac tly ELS 

is set forth in this order; that is true, is it not? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, You went out on the 4th of March -- the 4th of 

April rather -- and .had fully done your duty, and me,.der 

the report which you turned in on the 4th of April? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And everything' thLt you were required to do 15y -

virtue of the order of the 21st of March you had done, ona 

the 4th of April, hadn't you? A yes. 

q Now, you went there, you think, the first time. 

after the 4th of April, about the 10th? P I think it was,  

as nearly as I recollect. 

Q, Now, you say you had never been there before the 

4th of April? A To, sir. 

By- the way, how lonc have you been in that t? 

rtir 
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"1/111r A Since the 20th of March m 20th or 21s tt of March. 

AN 20th or: 210 t of yarth? A Yeel sir46 

Q Then the very second tine you had, been there was 

along about the 10th? A. Yes, sir. 

You had never seen then Mrs. 'Jakob 'before the 10th? 

A I saw her the first time I went there, at my first 

visit. 

Q That would be the 4th; wouldn't it? A Yes, 

cl„ Di4 you ever see her before the 4th? A No, 

never was in the blidlding previous to  that date 

my knowledge. 

Q Well, is dt your best recollection that you had 

never seen her before the 4th? A Yes, 

q Can't you state so positively? A Yes, I do state 

so positively. 

Q, Then the second time you saw her was probably ,On 

the 10th? A No, I think I saw her in between. not. 

positive, but I think it was around the 10th or I2L*11 of 

April. 

0 And you probably saw her between the 4th and 10Mh; 

didn't you? A I don,t [Mink so. I may have -seen box at 

the door, and stopped there.' This was my distric toil X 

might have seen her there, and stopped at the door: 

Q Didn't you see her sevoral times and ask her *he' 

the owner ox agent' was? A No, sir; I asked her that at the 



time of my, first 

(), That Was on the 4th? A Yes-, 

Q And you asked her that because you7were cOneerne& 

about the new alterations there? A Yee. 

And you wanted to See the owner about them? A Yet,. 

the owner or agent was? A Not to my knowledge,, no, sir, 

I don't remember asking her again. 

Q, Then, having asked her just me ,you see. McLernan' 

Junior, when you come there on the 10th; don't you? 

Q And when you saw these violations there on the otithv 

and wanted to see the owner, why, instead of seeing the 

owner, knowing that plans had not been filed, didn't you go 

ahead and report? A Because we were under orders of the  

Chief Inspector not to report such violations. 

o And then why did yo U go back on the 10th? A Be-

cause I wanted to see the owner and see if I couldn't get 

him to file plans, and settlethe matter in the regular 

way, put the matter through in the regaar way. 

Q Thy, instead of ioing, there and seeing the ownsir, 

on the 10th, having already had the information wilieh 

you derived on the 4th, and, as you now say, ping there 

because of what you had learned on the 4th, why didn't' you  



clap the violation on, and bring it -tothe notice of the 

owner!? A Well, because I was Under orders not tofile a • 

violation, unless the conditons were dangerous.. We were 

out on the Cycle of Inspection on the 4th, to re-arrangei 

tenement houses in accordance with the Court of Appeals . 

decision. 

R If you were ordered, to do only what was called for2 

by this special Cycle of inspection, at least, the way. 

you interpreted it, and you knew that you could oveliIook 

everything that was not called for by the Cycle, why did 

you go there on the 10th, and speak about something that 

you were not required to report? A Because I didn't want' • 

another inspector to come there and visit those premises, 

and discoverthis condition of things after, I had been 

there, this new water closet business etc., and Charges 

would have been preferred against me for not discovering 

it when I was there. I wanted him to make it right on the 

records of the Department, I wanted to be safe, because 

we are supposed to keep our districts clean at all times 

and in all cases. 

Q Then you went there again on the 10th of April; 

is that it? A Around ,1:)out that time, yes. 

0, Now, did yousee TTs. Jakob on that day? A The 

day that I saw the -01Inger rcLernan, I saw here yes. 

You OM Ilea  .f.rbt, and asked her where the agent or. 



owner was? A 

q And you ascertained ftom her that the agent was onl 

the premises; is that so? A Yes, she pointedhim out t 

And you had the talk with him? A Tes, 

And you made him, I-suppose, thoroughly:understand,, 

Mt. Farley, that the only interest that you:had imit was 

to engage an architect and tell him what to do? A Nc4 

I object. The question is as to the 

understanding of the witness, the opinion of the 

THE COURT: I will sustain the objection. 

MR. CRAIG: And will your Honor strike out the 

regular in regard +.0 these alterations? A Yes, itf was.  

Q, And you knew that all that was necessary Was to fill 

out a special blank in the Department, and have someone cOMA 

and inspect the alterations; didn't you? A No, sir it hi 

to be a plan, a blank wouldn't do. 

Q And then you knew tht the plan had to be passed 



Won by somebody in the Department, to see If evexyUzir 

was done right? A Yes, sir. 

Did you ask him if he had an ardhitect.at%any time? 

0,, What did he say about the architect? A He told. 

me that he supposed that his architect or plumber had 

tkken care of that matter. 

n And then you understood that he had an architect? 

Well, from what he said, from the remark he made. 

O And you inferred, I take it, from that remark, 

that he had an architect? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did you ask him '11() his architect was? A Yes, 

Q, Did he tell you? A Yes, air. 

O Who did he tell you it was? A I think he mentione& ' 

somebody by the name of Thomas . 

0, Well, did you say that you knew an a,rchitect, who 

could fix it up for Min? A No I sir. 

0, Didn't you say that it rould be easy to get an 

architect to come there, and file plans, and tell htn 

y wha t to do? A No . 

Why didn't you? A Tlecauce the conversation. waotit 



Q, Well, now, you Vold him, after,..the conversation inn 

Which he asked you about the old violations, and after you  

had told him that the old violations had been. discharged and 

fixed up, you told him there was another that you might have 

to put on; is that so? A Mo, sir, I did not. 

C),

 

Well, what did you say on that point? A. Simply, 

as I have testified before, the conversation I had with 

him was in reference to why he had done the alterations 

without filing plans; and I told him he shouldn't have donee, 

so. I didn't threaten him at any time or any place, or 

anybody else, that I would file a violation against the 

exc ep t that he sho utd 

have filedplans? A I told him 

Q And what else did you say? Did you suggest that, 

he should co ahead and file plans, and that wouldfix it 

up? A He asked me to wait a few days. No, sir, I (1.J.tins.t: 

suggest anything of the kind. 

Ke asked you to wait for a few days for What 

A Until he could see his plumber and ara.i.toO.t. 
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.Q, And did you tell him that anything else would bee 

necessary, except to ,go ahead and file plans? 

Q, Did. you exaraine the :ir-brork? A I looked, over 

casually in my trip through the building'. 

Q, That is, you looked at what had. been done In. the 

ba thr o oms a,nd in the store? A Yes sir. 

Q, And was it done in a workmanlike manner, according 

to the rules 9±' the Department? A Yes technically  

ffow, during that conversation, did yotuSay to hill'',. 

after he had asked yotvabout the old violatdons, and you  

said that they had been discharged, did you say: 

there is another one that I may have to put ore? A 

Q, Wa it a minute "You fellows have gone and changed 

all those bathrooms, and changed the fixtures and put 

parititions around the toilet, and that shouldn't be done 

without a plan to cover, it, and is a violation," and did 

Mr. MbLernan say, "I don't feel that way about it, and I 

don't know Id-tether it is so or not"? Did such a conversa-

tion take place? A In part, it did. 

Q Well, what part did take place? A I never men-. 

tioned that I would have to file a violation againstt the 

prope*ty at all. I told him that they had done that work, 



and knew that they had done it without a plan.. 

Q And did you say then, "Tow, I'll tell you. 'Who's 

got charge of this work?" And didn't Mr. Moliernan 

"I have 1 subjed.t to the owners orders."? A No, sir, 

did not, because I supposed he was the owner-. The janjt 

"Well, I'm not,going to pUtt 

this violation on for a fewdays, I will leave it open. 

You sea the owner, and I think we can fix it up"? A No, 

P, Nothing of that kind Was said? A No, sir. 

Q, In other words, nothing was said et..t this conversa-

tion between you and YCLernan, Junior, about fixing it wor 

n, And did Mr. McLernan, Junior, then say: 

few days"? A He said, "All right, Chief, I'll see you in 

a few days," but he didn't say, "All right, Chief, 

0, Now, did you and he go about the premises and look 

at the work? A I think we went into one bathroom, 

hot positdve about that. 

. c), Now, When you went into the bathroom, did you; say 

that those platfome oould have to be all torn out, and 

that work exposed, and the fixtures Uncoupled, so that the 



Department could make an inspection of them/ A 1 said. that 

:possibly the platforts would have to be removed, so that 

the inspectors could see the connections. 

c), And didn't yob say: "Of course, You understand. that 

this will cost you a few hundred dollars anyway"? 

donstremember saying anything about the coOtat all. 

You don't remember that any conversation occurnkL 

Q Well, would it cost him anything to tear Up thoot 

things that you suggested to him? A Yes, you would have 

to remove thewater closets and take the slate from .under 

q (question repeated) A No, sir . That was none Of 

my business, *hat it would cost. 

Q, Now, was any time mentioned when you were going to 

see him again? A No particular time. He told. me, the next 

time I was around, in two or three days, to see him. 

q Now, that being the 10th, the next time that yolt.,• 

had a conversation with anybody was the time you. saw 

MbLernan, the elder; is that so? A Yes, sir. 

Now, do you remerber that that was on Monday of the 

week that you were arrested? A I do. 

That was the 22nd ofApril; wasn't it? A Whattvtrr 



Q That was 12 days afterwards, from the time that yoU' 

had the first telk with McLernan, junior? A About that.' 

And had you been in the premises in the me antirné? 

Hadn't you been there and seen Yrs. J'alcob? 

Q And hadn't you asked her what had become of. the 

A Are you sure of that? A T am positive. 

(), Now, then, you got there on the 22n4 did you; and. 

you saw Mr. McLernan? A Senior, yes. 

Vow, what talk did you have with him again, please?' 

Going by the building, I saw somebody in the store, ar 

I went in there,and there was an old gentleman on a ladderi;. 

plastering the wall and tearing paper off. 

And he said I said, "Good morning," and he said, 

"good morning. Are you the inspector in this district?" 

And he said, 'TY son left 0.0 here foryou." 

0, Nov, just a minute. During the first conversation 

L. CLAIG: I object to theinterruption. And I 

ask that the entire conversation be given at this times :• 

1TE. YANIFY: Well, go ahead, and complete it. 



THE WITNESS: Shall I continue? 

ER. iCANTEY: Yes* 

A (Answer continued) He said, "My son let:tIO 'here 

for you." I said, "Well, I don't know Why. he should leave: 

$10 here for me. I done nothing for his l0. You had 'better 

give it back to him." 

So we talked a few minutes don't know eiaCtly 

about what about the building and What they were going 

to do with the store, and things of that kind, and the old 

gentleman says to me, "Now, Inspector, What will it cost 

to Straighten this matter out?" And I said, 'Well, .the only 

way it can be straightenedout is, you will have to haVe an 

. . _ 
architect draw plans, and file them, and put them through 

the Department in the regular way." 

And he said, "What will that cost?" And I said, "Per 

a job of this size and kind, to have theplans drawn and put. 

through the Department in the regular way, will cosLabouti 

$50.” 

BY MR . MANTEY: 

Q And nothing was said, as I understood you to say, 

when you talloadto YcLernan, Junior, on the 10th, nothing 

had been said about your hiring an architect? A No, sir* . 

Q You didn't mention to him that it was necessary to 

hive a new architect? A No, sir. 

Q Al]. you wanted young YcLernan to do was to put in 



plans and remedy the .defeet/ A Yes, sir. 

q And you had probably seen Molinellj, had you not,. 

before you saw MbLernan, the elder? A No, sir. 

Q, (Question repeated) Did. you not? A Oh yes, 

had seen him. 

Q, You saw him then before you saw the old gentleman? 
• 

A Do you mean in referenceto that work? 

Q, Yes., A No sir. Though I of ten saw, Molinellis. 

You know hin pretty well? A, Yes, sir.-

Q Then you hadn't seen him, you say„ before you •ieravt: 

the old gentleman? A No, . 

Q, And then you and. Molinelli had not talked about what, 

this work '110 Uld cot? A No, sir. 

Q, Yet you suggested. to Mr. licLernan, the elders that. 

it would cost A Yes, sir. 

Q, Now, in the conversation you had on the 10th, with - 

AlicLerna.n, Junior, there had not been any suggestion, as I 

interpreted your testimony, as to money being paid to fix  

this mat ter up? A No sir. 

Q, And. then you were absolutely 'surprised when the 

figure of 11C) vras mentioned by lIcLernan, Senior? A. Yes., • 

siT • 

Q, It surprised you that he should mention that sub*, 

ject? A Yes, sir; because: I had done nothing for it.. 

Q, Now, did you ask him if the. owner was around, didl.. 



•rcns. 

you ask the elder Meliernan, Et that time? A No, sir, he 

told me who he was and I didn't have to ask him anything, , 

that, I might have spoken that 

q And did he then say, "If you want to see him I 

will let my son know, butheisn't around here now, but. I 

will take him amessage to-rlight." A That was after he 

asked  MB about what the ?Tatter would cost, for filing the 

O. Well, he did say that at some period of the convex'-

Q, And didyou then say to him .that they had done the 

piinhing without plan having been filed for it, and it, 

was a violation of the law, and they would have to do it. 

over again, to make it right? A No, sir; 

That they would have to take the platforms away- - 

from under the water closets and expose all the work, 911 

account of there beinu no plans for it? A Yol sir; only 

what I said in reference te the same matter before; th,..4t. 

would be necessary to expose the work under the closets, to 

let the inspectors see it. 
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Q, Then nothing that I have just read to you was 

said? A I Might have said to old an Nbliernan, as I said 

to his son -----

s ay? 

R No, not What you mighthave done, but What did YOU 

A No, I don't recollect saying that at all to him. 

And did you say that they had done this plutbing 

in violation of law, because they hid no plan for It, and 

they had to take up the work again.and expose it, expose 

A 
the plunbing, and it would cost a good deal ofmoney to do 

it, and that, if they would make it right with you, youl 

would see that no violation was put on it? A No, I didn't. 

Only part of that I said. 

Did you say this: "And, if they would make it right' 

with you, you would see that no violatdon was put On"? 

A No, sir, I did not. 

And did you say that you would fix it up with the 

Deprtment? A No, sir. 

o And that nobody would know anything about itl 

A gol sir. 

0, And did he then say: "Will cUO satisfy you?" 

A No, sir. 

And did you say:"Nol it will cost 510"? A NO., 

ir • 

Did you say: "It will cost 50, beause the thing. 

has been going on so long that theS). have got onto It in 
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' the Departmen and I've got to see others above 

AL No1 sir. 

Q New, then, he  waf3 no ou€:(7.:0 tiOn of the kind at 

all? A No, sir, not made by me. 

Q, And then that is made up out of whole cloth, 

iibsolutely? A 'Yes, it's an absolute lie. 

0, Did you ever see licLernan, Senior, before that day? 

A No t bef ore the firs t time I had seen him. 

Q, And you probably neverhad heard of him before? 

A No, sir, never lin all my life. 

Q, And that *being so, you never • have h-a4 any trouble  

with him at any time? A No, sir. 

Q, Or he with you? A No sir ; never saw the gentleman. 

b ef or e.. 

Q, And did he then say: "I win see rtislr son to-nights 

when I get home," and , did you then say t "I'll "be back to-

morrow, at half past eleven o'clock, for the 5O"?$  A Np.., 

sir. He told me to come back the next day, and he would 

tell me what his son had said. 

Q Nov, what was th0 father to state to the son that 

you were to come hack, the next day, to find out abeUtT. 

A He was to state to the son the • cost that I tho ught 

the plans for the alterations would be. 

Q And you thought you had made it so clean to the old, 

gentleman that he couldn't mis under s tarid. it; didn't 'you? 
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A Yes; he asked. :me plainly What it would cost, and I told 

him, to the best of my opinion. 

Q And you. wanted him to ask his son if he was 

satisfied that the cost would be 00? A No, sir, I .cUdn't 

tell him anything of the kind. 

Q Now, then, will you tell rile again what that ,5.0 

was to go for, as you told the old gentleman? A It was to . 

be the cost of filing plans in the, Department, and putting 

them through in the regular way.. 

Q And you made that so clear.; or thought you did, th,47t 

there could be no mistake about it; didn't you? A 

thought I spoke as plain as I could to him. 

Q Did you see Yrs. Jakob, that day? 

vestibule. 

R And did you say something to her? 

day, 

A Yes, in the 

A No, not that 

Q Didn't she ask you: "What? You here again?" 

A No, sir. 

R And didn't you say: "There is the owner? I want 

to see the owner"? A. TO, sir. I said, "Good morning," 

and walked into the store. 

Q And didn't you then say; "I guess it will be all. 

right. I don't have to see the owner, because I've seen-: 

the old gentleman, and he says he will tell the owner"? 

A No, sir. 

• 
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Nothing or that kind? A No, sir. 

NoWl I don't sUpposs." Mr. 'ar1ey, that you had ever 

seen Mrs. J'akoV, before that. day, or before the times you  

84W her up there, I mean? A Not before I went to the 

building first. 

Q And you have never had any trouble with her, of  

course? A No, sir, I never knew her.befbre. 

Q And you don't know of any reason 'Why the should ' 

testify falsely against you, do you? A No, sir: 

Now, you :;ay that, about the first time you saw, her 

was on the 4th? A I think that's it. 

Q, And the second time was on the 10th? A Yes,. sir. n 

0, And the third time was on the 22nd, when you saw 

her in the hall, but didn't talk to her? A Oh, yes.) I' 

had seen her at the door, but didn't Wilk to her,. 

Q Now, did you hear her testify here, in answer to • 

these questions flq. Have you seen this defendant in those' 

premises, the defendant Farley? A. Yes, sir."? A Yee. 

0, laq.” --- Did you hear me ask her this question-, 

and did you hear her make this answer: "Q. Did you see him 

on the premises during the time they were fixing some bath 

tubs on the second floor, one flight up, and the toilet in, 

the store, on the ,ground floor?" 

Mr. CRAIG: I object to this as immaterial irre-

levant and incompetent, all this testimony, though 
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haven't objected before; and it lb Wholly improper 

to rehearse the testImonybefore the jury tn this ways 

and asinchether he  heard her testify 00 and 110. 

THE COURT: Objection sUstainedi. 

BY MR, MANLEY: 

0 Now, didn't she ask you in the progress of that 

Conversation, when you were asking for  the landlord,, 

she say to you: "Can I say something to the landlord Or 

agent what you want?" And you said, "No, I'll see the 

agent or landlord myself. Tell him that I want to see him"? 

MR. CRAIG: I object to that on the same 

grounds. 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

MR. CRAIG: Exception. 

No, I never did. In the first place, I was never 

there during the progress of the work. 

R I didn't say during the progress of the work. 

(question repeated) A I might have said that, but it was 

not while the work was going on, it was after. I'm absolutel 

positive of that. 

Q, Now, let us comedown to the 26th. :Did you state 

the elder Mr. McLernan, on Tuesday, the second day that you 

called there, that you would be back on Friday, the 26th, 

between 11 and 12 o Clock? He askedme to be there and 1 

told him I would probably be there before 12 o'clock. 
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BUt didntt you tell hini .that you. mulct be there? 

A Yet, I told him I woad be there before 12 o'clock. 

Q Did you suggest the ttne and the day? A NO, sir.. 

My recollection is MT. YCLernan asked me to be there ()TI 

Friday, the 26th, in the forenoon. He said that his son 

wanted to meet me there at that time. 

Q, And that is the reason, then, you went there on 

Friday? A Yes, sir. 

Now, didyou put down on your route card, on. the 

26th of April, that you were going to those premises at that 

time? A No, sir. 

Q1 you knew there was a rule in the Department, did you  • 

not requiring that you should put down all places that you 

intended to visit that day? A All ,aaces where work was 

laid on our desk to do. 

Q Was that rule merely confined to the places where—

you had work to do? A The work is laid on our desk in the 

morning, with the addresses of the premises on it, and we 

lay outour work according to the slips tht are laid out on . 

the desk. 

Then, if there are no slips on he desk, you donJt 

have to put down where you are going? No, sir, you are. 

not supposed to put down anything but what is on your desk, 

and you go anywhere you please in your district. 

BY THE COURT: 
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And, you say you Iriay go wherever you please, then? 

A Yes, sir; but  you are supposed. to look after. your dis-

trict, your Honor, and keep in your district, 

0, Well, but you said, that, independ.ently_. of ' the route 

card, you could go wherever You 'pleased, if there was no 

route laid out for you on your desk in the morning? A Yoe; 

but you must look out for your district generally, and. 

keep in your district, so that you can be called up from 

t off ice a t any time. 

Q, And you said, did. you not, in writing out the route: 

slip, you merely wrote out the places that the. Chief In-

spector told yoU to Fla to? A Yes, sir. 

0, But you didn't feel bound to adhere to it; did you? 

A .nh, yes, I did. 

BY TM. T.TAI\TIMr: 

0, Isn't that the object of that rule, that, if they. 

want you at any time, the can send outi and, with reasonable 

certainty, f indyou? A Yes • 

n Well, you went there, that morning, and, you went 

to the door of .11-rs jakob's apartment? A Yes, sir,- on 

Lie or fling; of the 26th. 
$ ' 

And you knocked on the door? A Yes, I think I 

rang the bill in the vestibule. 

Q, And she came to the door? A Yes . 

Q, And did you say, "Is thelandlord arourkl?" A:. 



fe, 

4 Didn't you ask for hlm at all? A No, sir. 

q And didn't she say, "Yes. He left you $40?"' 

A Do you want me to tell her conversation? 

0, Why, yes, that's what I'm asking you.to tell now? 

A Well, she said ----

MR. CRAIG: I object to it now as useless 

repetition and frivta.ous, and I ask that this line 

of cross examination be excluded by your Honor, all 

further cross examination on these subjects, in the 

exercise of your proper, legal discretion in this 

trial, and I move to strike out the answer. 

THE COURT: Objection overruled. Motion deniedi.. 

TM, CRAIG: Exception. 

BY MR. MANLEY', 

0, And didn't she say: "yes, he left you $40"? 

A. Yes, she said he left me 4'40. 

(), And did you say then: "Is that all?" A No, sir. 

Q, And did you then (7o in and sit down in the dining 

-:.00ral A No, sir. 

Did you co into the apartrient at all? A No, sir. 

P. Did you stay out in the hall all the time? A in 

the private hall, ather kitchen door. 

Did you ask her: "Is somebody around?" A Yol, 



that kind was said? ,k Nothing of 

Q, You did.n't care whether there was p.nybody AroUnd,or 

not; did you, of course? A Not at all, no, Sir. 

0, Now, did you after that, say: "Bring the money down 

in the store, and take the key down, too., and open the 4o01,4 
and I will measure the toilet"? .A I told her to come down 

in the store with the key, because I wanted to look at the 

Q Did you say anythihg about measuring it? A I 

might have. I don't remember whether I did or not. 

Well, when you got down there, did you measure 

the toileti? A I looked at the toilet and put my rule across 

it, to the best of my recollection. My object was to ,See 

whether the floor was fully covered with slate under the 

sion is that you measured the 

Well, then, did you walk into the vestibule, and did,-

n't she say this to you: "Please tell me something what you  

:111 do with the WO, because I'm not janitor here long, 

and the landlord, will think maybe I keei, the NO"? A NO, 

sir, she said nothing of the kind, absolutely nothing of 
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Q At did you saY, in reply to that:, "Oh, that's all 

right. Tell him I will fix Up, the Yiolation and everything 

will be all right, and tell him not to forget to leave the  

other $10 for me, next week"? A No sir i there was no 

violation on the property td fix up. 

Q I'm asking you if you said that? A Nop sir. 

Q Nothing of the kind? A No, sir. 

Q, And did you say to her: "And tell ameaning-. 

the landlord or agent --- "to fix up that stone,  and it 

will be all right," so that some other inspector might not 

come there and report it? A I think there was a broken 

saddle there, and I told her to tell the landlord to fix it 

up, so that no one would trip over it. 

Q No. I asked you, did you tell her to have that done,.. 

so that another inspector woulff not come around and find 

it? A No,sir. 

0, And did you at any time toll her that the t40 was 

going to an architect to fix up thu plans? A I •told. Mrs. 

Jakob to tell Mr. M'cLernan that I would have the plans drawn 

and filed, and he needn't worry about it any further. 

You told Mrs. Jakob to toll Mr. MeLernan that yoir 

would have the plans drawn and file4land he needn't worry 

about it any further? A Yes, that's the exact conversation* 

Q And that was down in the vestib)ulo, that you said 

that; was- it? A No sir; it was in the store. 
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And so that you thought, from What you had sa14,to 

her, that she must. have unierstoodthat the money was for the , 

drawing 0±' the plans? A I didn't say that to her at all, 

0„ Well, you wanted her to understand that, anyway? 

from 

Q And/What you said, you interned 

0, Now, you remember the time when you were arrested On 

the street; don't you? A Yes. 

R And Air. Fink and Mr. Thomas were there? A Yes, 

•Q, And Mr. Schwartz? A Yes. 

What conversation took place at the time of the 

A Thy, theofficer ---I btlieve his name is 

Thomas, tapped ma on the shoulder, and I turned .round., andi 

said, "What do you want?” • And he said, "1 want you." 

And I aaked him who he was, and ho showed me his badge' 

of authority, Lnd he saio, "What have you got there?" And • 

I said, 140," and 1 had it in my hand, and in my coat. 

pocket (illustrating), end he says, "Where did you get it?" 

And I told him I ry.t it from thejanitress of the corner 



to take it to an architect, to draw plans for the alteratiOne 

which.had been made in,the building. 

And you told him that so that it could be heard tgy 

Fink, Thomas and Schwartz? A Well, I talked in a natural 

tone of voice, and. they were in easy hearing distance, un-

In other words, when Thomas asked you where you got 

ou said. you got it topayan architect? A Yee, OAV 

R For the filing of plans? A Yes, sir. 

Did he ask you who the architect was? A No; 

Q Did you tell him who he was? A No, sir. 

MR. (TRAIG: Exception. 

0, (Question repeated) A I didn't 

necessary to do it. It was none. of his business. 

0, NOW, you knew that you were falsely arrested; aianl 

0 And you knew that they 111 absolutcay no groUnd to 

arroot you on, didn't you, Mr. Farley? A Well, I didn t 

I: now whcther qiey h1.4 or 11ot. 



Well, if you are telling the truth 

kneit that they had not; didn't you? 

R. CRAIG: Objected to. 

1.1Ft Exception. 

A I didn't think they had any. right toareetine, 

because I hadn't committed any , crime. 

who had done no t*-ing to 

justify arrest, intend to leave that spot without letting 

them know what the real facts were, and. be hauled away to 

a police station? They didn't haul me. I went willingly 

TT1 . CRAIG: Objected Lo. 

TILF C 0 UR T Overruled.. 

TtI. CRAIG: Exc ep Lion. 

BY r. MANLY: 

0, Then as I und.ers tand it, tlic only explanation that 

you made as o !;he money v.ras that you got; it for the pw'-

pOse of' )tLy Jtr, (13:soh:I tc et to draw plans? A Yes, 

fl'o'r, you knew thr L Thomas was no t pr °Nally acquain ted 

wi th nonon t ho u e Li on ; 0.1dn t ,you? A I didlit t 

know any hi ni7 ;Cho ut Thomrw • 

11u t,, y 1,4 fo Ufle ut. that he \wiz pol;oc officer?' 

A Yea oer nly ado 



And Mr. Fink was standing right there, the secretari 

to the -Tenement House.Cemmissiener/ A Yes, .he was. 
that 

R And you knew, of course,/he wouldunderstand every-

thing about tenement house conditions that you otatedl 

with the Department, he ought to know something about itT:-

He hasn't had any long association With the DepartMent., 

q Tell, you knew from the time he has been there, 

ought to know what an architect was; didn't you? A Be *had 

nothing to do with architects. That isntt his business in 

to strike out the answer. 

MIZ. CRAIG: Exception. 

BY MR. MANI.T1Y: 

Q." "ell, thcn, ly didn't you Lela 1Tr. Fink why yout 

had got the money? A Becous( it was none of his business. 

I didn't think it was any of his business. 

Q Toll, why didn't you give the arresting officer and 

thu o there there J1 the (tett ils of it? A Because it waimot 

necessary. 1 ol:TI y rLi1[IwereU the qmotJon5 the ()Moor asked 



would have cleared you on the spot? A No, It  wouldn't havee 

cleared ne, because I realized at once a.s soon as I saw 

Pink there, that it was a frame-up)from the officei; 

Q1 And you think then that this case is a frame.  

from the office of the Tenement' House Department; do you? 

Yes, I do now, and I d. id. then. 

Q, And you think then that this case is a frie-i 

of you by the officers of the Department of Tenement Houses 

Q, Have you had trouble with 

Q Or rith Mr. Fink? A No, sir. 

And you were protected by the 

Q, Well, then, why ao you think they were trying to 

frame you up? A On account of Mr. McLernan!s visiting 

there and nulling a (.0r:11)1a:int there, and the under dog has 

always to suffer , you knew. I knew that Fink, that our Ir'Jj*„ 

was trying to do it to benefit himself . He ls the man that 

I blame forit. ITe ti only a cur :In my es tamation. 

BY TI'M COURT : 



Q Well, why should MtLernan have visited the Tenement 

House Department? A. I suppose he visited it for informa-

tion. I don't think ho understood the case. 

Q well,, how do you know he visited the apartment at 

all? A Only from the evidence in this case, what lite 

heard here. 

But you said that you thought, when Mr. Maernan 

visited the Department, Fink framed this matter up againet 

you. A Yes, I inferred that from the testimony here. It 

has been testified that Mr. YeLernan did co there. 

BY MR. rumilly: 

How long have you known Mr. Yolinelli? A About' 

three years. 

q Is he an H'chiteet? A He's a contracting plumber. 

Q, Were you in the Department at the time you first: 

knew him? Yes. 

Hoy, long had you been in the Department before you . 

met him? A Oh, prob;ibly two years or three years. I can't 

say exactly. 

Have you soon him very often durinu the past tbrep 

or four !ears? A Yes, sir. 

0, Have you ovcr es dealings wath ham? 

A No. 

v ev(,r enunged / m at, any tine Lo aot fox 

peoplc ha.%onp ony011ny & do wit)) aw Department tizi.t y u 
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investigated 'with regard to drawing plans2 ANo, sire 

You came in contact, Mr. 114gleY, Or you: did), while 

you were, in the Department, or musthavel.i did you net," 

with a good many'contractdng plumbers? 

Q,. And contractors in general? A 

Q And real estate agents? A Yes, sir 

R And yet you never before asked Mr. Molinelli to 

draw plans for anybody?  A No, sir, I never had ocoasioni 

0, Do you know that there is a rule of the Department, 

u not,,not to do anything of that kind? 

MR. aRAIG: I object. The rules are in evd7 

dence, and he is presumed to know them, strict 

I don't remember. 
BY TIT COURT: 

0, Is there or is there not such a rule? 

an answer to the question. A I think there is. 

ment that whatever information you may get, by 

offloe, you !met not divulge for any prvate interegt? 
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A Itqs, You are supposed t be. a duTtmy in the Department " 

q Nov, let me read .you that rule. 

CRAIG: I objectt to his 

whole rules are in evidence. 

THE COURT: The defendant says he knows the 

rule, Mr. Manley. 

MR . ITAMila': Well, but I want to talk about It 

to him, to discuss it with him, and. ascertain his 

knowledge of it, and his regard for it. 

Till COURT: Well, he says he knew of the rule _ 

reading it. 

and. he is bound to obey the rules or resign his 

The 

position. 

BY MR. riLEY 

Q. Didn't you know then , when you intended to 'go to 

Mr • Molinelli that you were violating a rule of the 

Depar tmen t? A Yes . 

. CRAIG: One r.1 j. 11 ut e. I di dn. t ge t a chance 

to object. I move to strike out the answer, on tho-

ound that I didn, t ge t a chance to object before 

he answered. I object to it as immaterial irrelevant 

and incompe tent. 

TIT CO Tan.' : vrelj, you may object now. In ert fl 

obj eo ti on before, the answer Afr S to Pographer 

Objection overruled.. 

1.11: . a.;./k : Exc op tiono 



-• a • vow... 

BY Wt. MANILtri 

.0 Well, you hadn't seen golinelli at all prior to the 

22nd, the time you saw McLernan, the elder t; had you? 

A I had seen him often, perhaps; I don' tremember. 

Q, But about this matter, I mean. A No, sir. 

0, Did you think that that was a fair price for 

him to charge, A He told me so. 

Q But you say you hadn't seen him priror to talking to 

McLernan, the elder, and, before you told McLernan, the elder, 

it would. cost t''513? A Yes; I thought it was a fair price*. 

0, And so you fi5ced theprice for Molinelli to charge? 

A No, sir, but I had. talked. to Molinelli in reference to 

the JIDIP. 

0, But I thought you said you hadn' t seen 1.colinelli 

about this particular job before the 22nd? A Well, you 

probably got me twis ted up about that . 

Q, Well, I don' t want to twis t you up at ell. What 

is the fact about that? 

saw the elder "PrcLernan. 

0, You probably saw him after you saw the elder . 

McLernan? A Yes; and I saw him previously to seeing the • 

elder McLernan ale a . 

0, Now, previous to seeinr, the elder yicLernan, 

and you eay, you saw him on Monday, the 22nd of April ---

had You talked vu l t,h TTr ralout this job? A. Yoe* 

A I probably saw him after I 
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Then you were in error when you testified that yotv 

had not tlaked with him about this job/. A If -I so 

tea fit ied., I am, yes. . 

Q, Well, now, you a..re pre t ty positive that you. had 

seen Molinelli' about this job q A Yes, sir: 

Q, And that is probably why, then, you sugges.ted tO 

the elder McLernan the sum of $50; is d t not? A Yes 

O I understood you to testify, some time ago, that 

nothing at all was said. to lfcLernan, Tunior, on the 10th 

about getting any architect? No thing at all, sir. 

You did tell him, as I remember your testiMony, 

that plans should be filed? A Yes. 

Q, And that was the substance of the conversation of 

the loth? A Yes. 

MR. CRAIG: I object to it, this whole ezainina-

MI COURT: Overruled. 

JiR. CRAIG: Exception. 

BY TM. MANIXY: 

Q, If that is so, if your conversation with MeLernan, 

Junior, only related to the filing of the plans, wfr did you 

go to the architect and find out the cost would be $50? 

A Because from his attitude at the time, I presumed he 

would ask me that question,and I wanted to be prepared 

for it. 



Now, what wap hisattltude/ A Well 

want MR to put any case.on him and told me hOw much money 

he had spent. ValT, his general attitude; he  wanted me to 

fix it up. That's what I imagined, and that he would come - 

Q 'vow, what did you imagine? A I thought he woOLX 

that very question which his father did. ask mt. 

straighten the matter out with the Department, 

0, Well, why didn't You ask him then, on the nth, 

if you thought he would afterwards ask you that?. A I had  

rio business to ask him anything of the kind. 

Now, have you told me all of the at  of 

NeLernan, Junior, on the 10th, that led you to go to the 

architect, to find out how much the architect would charge? 

Q, And yet nothing was tween you and him, about 

architect? A No . Alit you can read between the lines. 

n Well, will you read for me between the lines, 

from what happened between him and you on the 10th What 

led, you to do that? A Decause I inferred that he would 

ask me that very question, when he next saw me, 40 he aeked 

Well, a12 tile architect was 
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was it not'?, -A: Yes, sirv 

And almost any, architect can file sue plans; 

couldn't he? A Yes, sir. 

And why didn't you ask him, then, who his architect 

was, and tell him what the architect should do, instead olf 

going away and attempting to engage another'architect for' 

him, without saying anything to him? 4 I had no,right to 

tell him what his architect ought to do. He knew himself. 

o we/11 to use an inelegant expression you lust 

took a chance and went to Yolinelli? A I wanted to be 

prepared, if he asked me the question, when I net him aga.in; 

I wanted to be prepared for anything that he would bring 

UP. 

0, And so, when you saw MtLernan, Senior, you were 

prepared? A Yes, sir. 

n When was it when you saw Mr. Nolinelli •about this 

matter? 1\ Oh, along in April some time, after r had seen. 

McLernan Lrunior. 

About ho hor long after  the 10th? A I couldn't say.. • 

I see 7oIinel1i very often. 

0, Is he in colxt? h I don't know, He is expected 

to be here. 

R Is he subpoomed here? A Yes. 

(), And 1 ow long after the loth did you see him, abOUt? 

A Oh, poswibly within a week. 



n Had you ever suggested to anybody, owners, or 

0, In othermords, you had. suggested his name to 

various people in that connection? A Yes, I have. 

0, Then you had suggested Yolinelli? A Yes, sir.. 

In other words you swung business, if you had a 

chance to do it? A Well, I don't know whether he got it 

TTZ. CRAIG: Now, I object to that. That is a 

wholly prejudicial question to ask in the presence. 

of this jury, and I ask that the District Attorney 

repiruanded for rutting the question. 

mai COUR: Objection overruled. Motion denied,. 

CRAIG:. Exception. 

You never got any commission 

you caused hf.m to get; did you?. A Yo, sir, I never knew 

In other words you didn't have any particular 

reason for suggesting Nr. Yolinelli to people, any more than 

any dther architect; did you? A Yes. 
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But The reaSon was net for the purpoSe'ef 'Sharing 

any commission, or anything of that sort? A No, sir; not  

at all. I knew that he could do it. 

0„ Well, areh't there other architects besides N. 

Me;inelli who can do it? A Thousands of them. 

No, how did you happen to pick out Mr. Nelinelli 

for this particular' job, if you had never see him do any 

other job? t Well, T. know that his firm does a lot of 

tenement house work, and I knew that they had taken care of 

cases of the same kind, filed plans for the removal of an 

alteration violation, and 7. :new they knew just how to go 

about it. 

Q, And you knew rr. 7701inelrli sufficiently to have a 

great deal of eonfidence in him? A Yes, sir. 

q And how long had you known him? A Three years 

or over. 

0, But you had never known him before you went into 

the Department? t, No, sir. 

0, Now, did you expl7lin fully to Mr. Volinelli what 

had been done up there? A Yes, I gave him an outline or ' 

the work. 

0, And 15O was agreed upon as being the proper thipg? 

A He said, "You give 00, and I'll go ahead, if the case 

comes up." 

Vow, there was n examination of this charge in the 



Police Court after you,*rrest; was ther'e not? 

TIE, CRAIG: I object. That is entirely tnmaterial$ 

irrelevant and incompetent, and improper. I don't 

think he knows What an examination is. 

TIT COURT:, Well, I lobk on the question as  

only preliminary. 

TIE, CRAIG: Well, I don't care how it migtbe 

looked upon by different people, with all respect to 

your Honor, but I object to the question. 

TEP COURT: If he does not know what an examina-

tion is, I will exclude the question. . 

BY THE COURT: 

0 Don't you know What he meant in his question by an 

examination? A I was arraigned in the court, if he means 

that. 

TYR. CRAIG: And I objeqt to it as immaterial,-

, Irrelevant and incompetent. 

TTE COURT: I will allow it and I will idastruct 

thejrry that it is hot an item of evidence at all, 

the examination In the Police Court. It. is merely 

one of the preliminary steps in this proceeding, 

gentlemen of the juryland you are not to consider it. 

at all on the question of the defendant's guilt 

innocence. But I will allow it as the basis for 

further questions. 
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31'. 1, 1+1ANIIIY: 

R (question repeated) That is to say, a complaint was 

prepared and made in the Police Court; 'wasn't it? 

'IR. CRAIG: I object to that as improper, and 

immaterial, irrelevant and incompetent. He doesn't 

know what a complaint is. 

111. TIANLEY: I don't think Mr. Craig should be 

allowed to speak for his client in this way, your 

Honor' 

THE COURT: Well, that is Mr. Craig's opinion 

only. Objection overruled. 

J. CRAIG: Exception. 

3Y 11R— MASITY: 

Q That is a complaint, Mr. Farley? 

TM. CRAIG: Objected to. 

ME

 

COURT: Allowed. 

TIL. CRAIG: Exception. 

A It's a technical point, and I can't give youa 

technical answer. 

TEE COURT: well, omit the details, Mr,. Manley. 

The defendant says be was arraigned in the Magistratels. 

Court. 

)1AITLITY: cli, i will withdraw the quest4C114 

and reframe it. 

MR.CRAIG: And I object to the withdrawal !teDI 
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have objected, and my objection has been overrtted. 

Trn CoURT: Objection overruled. 

11R. CRAIG: Exception. 

BY MR. MANT,EY: 

n gow, do you remember being in the Police Coimt after 

. you were arrested? 

CRAIG: Objected to as immaterial irrelevant 

and. inc orapcte nt . 

TT COURT: Overruled. 

FE.. CRAIG Excel) t on 
A Yes. 

BY TM . LTAIV-i,EY : 

And you remember that you came before the Magistrate 

nAIC: I obj cc t 

Tii COURT: Overruled. 

1R. CRAIG: Exception. 

A Yes. 

BY TM.. T7AhTLEY: 

O L\Tow, I did you have Yr. Tolinelli there in the Police 

C onr t? 

. nPIC: 1 obj cc t . 

COURT:TJW  All owed. 
• 

'It. Exception. 

A No, sir. 

BY Mit. liTANTTY: 

didn'tC Thy  you? A I didn't think it necessary .tb 

*:1° 



have him there. 

Didn't you consider that that was a cOmplete defeneel 

A ITol sir. 

YR. CRAIG: Oneminute, please. I object. I mat 

now make a specific objection to this line of queStiOns, 

because they are highly improper in my, judgment, 

THE COURT: I will allowit. He may explain, 

but these questions are. proper. 

111. CRAIG: The District. Attorney knows what took 

placein the magistrate's Court. I don't know . 

whether your Honor knows or not. 

THE -COURT: I do not. 

7M. MANLEY: And I wasn't there. 

THE COURT: And what took place in the Magistrate $.• 

Court is in no way binding on this Jury, as I said. 

before. 

TT. MANTTY: I art not asking what took place) 

am merely laying the foundations for other questions.. 

TET COURT: As I understand, these questions are 

simply preliminary to other questiond? 

1.TANIT;Y: Yes, sir. 

7.}7 COUT,T: And whether or not he was arraigned. 

in the Magistrate's Court, of itself, is tamiattrial', 

hut that is one step only in the coUrse of these pro-. 

ceedings. 1 have allowed. thise questions so- far :merely. 
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for the purposeof Showing that he was present at a 

' certain time andp ace. That is all. 

MR. CRAIG: I except. 

Mfl..TL\ITLEY: That is all. Just a minute. Just 

one more question. 

ask that this paper be marked foridentifica-

tion. 

Fobody has identified it yet. I 

object to it. 

liANL17Y: You have always insisted that I shoUld . 

have any paper narked foridentification before I use& 

it referred to it in any way. 

THP COURT: it may be riarked for identification 

by the stenographer, after you have seen it, and you' 

may examine it before any questions are asked. 

75. CRAIG: Oh, I object to it. 

YR. L7AITTIT: I will not fnsist, if he objects. 

BY 11R. i•TAITYY: 

Q I show you this paper. Have you seen one like 

it before? 

MR. CRAIC: I object to that as immaterial, irrele • 

vant, incompetent and improper. 

TET COURT: Overruled. 

MR. CRAIG: Exception. 

A Yes, I've seen many of them. 



.What is that? A (No answer) 

ER. CRAIG-: I object to .that as incompetent and 

.improper. 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

MR, CRAIG: Exception. 

A It is a blank repair slip. 

lUt.HAULEY: Now, let us have itmarked for. 

identification. 

BY THE COURT: 

:What do you mean by a blank repair slip? A It 

is a blank slip. 

But used where.? A In the Tenement House Department. 

(Itis marked People's Exhibit 6 for identifica-

tion)  

BY TM. MANLEY: 

0, Isn't this a slip which is to be filled in•by7the.-

owners or agents of tenement houses who have only slight 

repairs to make on them?, 

1U:. CRAIG: I object. It shows on its face 

what it is. Your Fonor rust receive the paper as a 

whole, if at all, and we don't care about his oral 

testimony about it. 

THE COURT: He may state his knowleci of the • 

uses of the paper. This is an official on the stand, • 

and this is a document,or form, or paper used by 11.3z-



in the discharge of. his duties, as I understand* 

BY THE COURT; 

Q, Isn't that so? A. Yes sir; used, by the Department.' 

flR. CRAIG: And. I object to your Honor's 

question also. 

THI.! COURT Objection overruled. 

. CRAIG: Exception. Will your Honor' hear' 

Mr • :Tanley s ques ti on 'a,g,ain? Perhaps your Honor did 

not catch it. 

(Mr. Manley' s question is repeated by the 

stenographer) 

cio.r.-T,T; Yes, I will sustain the objection 

the question, if yo lft object to the form, and re --

quire the District Attorney to ask what it is. 

TER CR.ATG: Very re 11 , sir. Then I withdraw the ' 

objection. 

BY T TANTTY: 

0, Then what is it? A It's a blank repair slip used 

by the Department. 

0, Under what circuads Lances is It used? A (Ho 

answer) 

irE. CRAIG: Objected to as immaterial. irrele-

vant and. incoripe tent. 

TNT ("0111,:T: Overruled. 

CRAIG: Exception. 



DO you know under what circumstances 

tTit MANLEY: 

Under what circunstances is it 

TIR. CRAIG: Objected to. 

MT COURT: 

CRAIG: Rxception. 

Then there is slic:21 t repairs to he made, when no 

structural alterations is to be made, the owners or agents 

are allowed to file t1is slip without a plan. . 

RY "rr . 

0, Does the filinv of this slip bring7 the slight 

alterations to the attention of the Tenement House Depart 

0, And that is its purpose; is it not/ 

1TR. CRAIG: Objected to. 

THE COURT: Overruled, 

CRAK: Exception. 



4,TaW, in your jpazment  couldn't this particular* 

form, People's Bxhibit 6. for identification, entitled, Mn. 

ikpplication to Repair," wouldn't that have been sufficient 

wouldn't it have been sufficient for the owner that filledi'. 

this out, relating to the, alterations in bath rooms and 

toilets, and so notify the Department in this fashion? 

CRAIC-: Objected to. 

TIE COURT: Overruled. 

nAIG: Exception. 

In your judgment, it would notrWlave been sufficient? 

so that the last question asiced by the District 

Attorney night be asl:ed, as to the credibility of 

the defendant's story, th,..t is all, and his answer is 

that that slip yould not suffice. 

‘O k 

0 This was a case that needed the services of an 

architect? A Yes, sir. 
BY TrR. YA/11,11Y: 

o Was it your understanding that this  blue slip was 

to be used where the repairs proosed would not in any 

respect affect the structural part of the building? 



object to 

irrelevant and inOOmpe tent . 

Yes,T1fl: COURT:  I think he has gone fully into 

. that, Yr. . .Manley. 

MR, KANLEY: Of course, 1 have got now his 

opinion that this would not be sufficient on the 

MF . MANLY: And I want to see whether he is 

COURT: Tell I don ' t think you can cross 

examine him further on that point. 

for one purpose, and he has answered. 

0,, !Tow, do you the rules of the Department prescribe,' 

under what circums tances this blue slip is to be used? 

T. CliA1( : I object to the form of the clues tion. 

THE COUET Objection sustained- He may ascertain 

the knowledge of the defendant on the subje c t. 

BY TS . MAN-FY:Y.: 

Q, 'That knowledge 0 id you have on the subject of this 

particular blank, entitled, "An Application to Repai' "? 
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Q, Do you know Whether- the rules provide' for the use 

of that blue slip? 

MR. CRAIG: I object. 

TIM COURT: Allowed. 

TM. CRAIG: Exception. 

A 'Yes, sir, they do. 

THE COURT: The question before the jury here 

will be one of intent, and they have the right to . 

search the operations of this witness's mind; that, 

is all. 

BY TET'COURT: 

And you knew the rule as to the matter of that.. - 

slip? A. Yes, sir. 

R How longhave you been in the Department? A, Three 

years and about four months. 

BY TM. ITANTJTIr: 

0 Then was that rule issued in regard to that blue 

slip, how long ago? A I couldn't tell you exactly:. 

Q, 

years? 

Well, has it not been in use for about three 

CTAJC: Objected to. 

THI' COURT: Overruled. 

1TR. CRAIG: Exception. 

A I couldn't toll you. 

• 



Q Well,- htveriv-t it been in use for about three years? 

About how long would you say it had been in use? 

some time; i.cou]dn't say how long. 

Well, your best judgment? A (No answer) 

A week? A an, over a year, two years probably; 

and it might.havebeen there before I went into the Depart-

BY Hit. MANLEY: 

inspector's? A Which rule do 

Was that read off by Yr.. Lavelle to all the inspectors? 
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9, And have you any recollection that there was a riao; 

at any time read, by Mr. Lavelle? A An ins truction,xes read 

by Mr. Lavelle, I remember, yes. 

ITow, what was that ins true tion in regard to it?' 

HR .CRAIG: Objected to 

TIM COURT: Overruled. 

CRAIG: Exception. 

A That owners, or agents, or architects could Use the 

repair slip. I think the fdrst time that was read out was 

in reference to installing partition windows. We formerly 

required a plan to be filed for them, and the Commissioner  

modified the order so that the owner or .architect would. not 

'be required to file a plan for cutting a window between 

two roams, or between an outer hall and an inner room, 

where it didn't affect the structural part of the butiding* 

In other words, for minor alterations to a 

building? A CertLinly small repairs. 

Q Well, now, what was there about the repairs that 

you saw, after they were all completed, in these bath rooms 

and in the toilet down on the ground floor that required: 

a plan, and not that blue slip, People's Exhibit &for 

identilication? 

CRA1.C: I object to this. This is reopening 

the mtsc.! en 

‘TITE COURT: Overruled.. 
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iG 1kxcetion. And I ask now that all 

these Witnesses be exelluied from the courtroom, who 

have been brow;hl, in here to hear this witness's 

testimony. 

TEL COURT: The rule is that when they have 

testified, they are allowed to remain in the roam;. but, 

if you desire to have them excluded, they may be. 
4 

M. CRAIG: I would like to have them excluded. 

TT r'n1ffT: Then they will ro out. I will 

entertain a motion to strike out all the District 

Attorney's question as to the arrairnment in the Police, 

GOurt, if yon riake that motion. 

MR. 11A1,7,1: If your onor please, I don't think— • 

your Vonor heard all the questions on that subject. . 

I asked him if this architect was present as a 

witness tIere. That was the point of it all. 

rOITT: Tell, we yill consider that matter 

further at the conclusion of this witness's testimeny• 

The law is that he may waive examination entirely- - 

there, and nothinr cn be inferred against, him by thaH-, 

jury. 

R. MAI11,11.Lr: Certainly. But the only reason 

for asking about that was to show that Nolinelli Was 

not present as a witness. 

TFT COURT: yes, but no inference must be drawn. 
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agaittst'hft because he wail notHpreeent. The rule le 

Wutt:6, Witne00 r be Cenfrented by OtateMente which 

•appear to be inconsistent with his 'reSent Statemento; 

that is all, And I allowed, as I (mid, you to show 

that he was present at a certain time and place) and 

I thought it would be followed up by certain statO 

monts, and it was not, and, since tho person for Which 

I allowedit was not my purpose in allowing the 

testimony, I will strike it out. 

1171. MANTJT: Yes, the only purpose for which I 

introduced it was to show that the architect was not • 

called as a witness there. 

THT COURT: And that was entirely immaterial. 

HR. MANLEY: Yes, sir, there is no doubt about. 

that. Now, I would like to have an adjournment, at 

this tine, so that I can produce the rule that was 

read to the inspector. All that I have here Is  the - 

letter of the Commissioner to Mr. Abbott, which was 

transferred by Abbott to the Chief Inspector. 

THE COURT: Then you F!re unable to go on  It 

_is now one o'clock, and you may have all the time you 

wish, Hr. Manley, for a proper cross examination; 

MR. C.E.AT: Has he finished? 

• THE COURT: No. 

MR. CRAIG: Well, what d2es he want to do? yang 



Us up boro ull the afternoon? 

a 0 nt' 11,. ho 1140 the rpht to conduct 

hin caue according to hiuinent._ 

TT MAIO: And I ask your Honorpnowl o require 

him to clove his cross examination of• this witness. 

Trr mrazT: I shall not do 5o. And, While it 

is tiNe to take theusual recess, and I an willing to 

sit loner, if he is ready to conclude the examina-

tion, he says he is not, and I Will not compel him 

to conclude At now. 

T. nAIG: And I insist upon his closing now, 

and except; to your Kon'Jr's refusal to require him to do, 

so. 

ThI MORT: To, I will not restrict the righte,of • 

either party to ask questions which. they think are 

material or pl'oper. The jury will decide this .case 

on the la7r as given to tham, by the •Court, and on the 

facts as testifed to by witnesses. Statements of the 

Court or of counsel on either side will be entirely 

disregarded by them, unless they agree with. their own 

notions of what has been testified to by the witnesses) 

or are proper deductions therefrom. 

(The Court then admonished the jurY in -accerdance . 

with Section 415 of the Code of Criminal Procedure,- . 

and took a recess until two o'clock). , 



r 

After Recess. 

X A IS S F A t I', E Y, he defend:col t his Orson 

examination beinn v. on tinued „ tee titled as follows: 

0 S i IWTATIQN O1ITTtflD BY 1111 . : 

I.‘TOW . Parley, you to  tif led that a g eneral order 

was issued s one time ago but you can't sae whOn., in 

regard to this blue slip, as to repars People's Exhibit 6 

for identification. A Yes. 

Q, And you s tated in a general way that an owner, in

stead. of submi t tinr plaml o u.1 c f1.1 out this blank, 

when the repairs. were slight; is that so? k Yes, that's 

right. 

BY COT: 

Q, Do you mean a different order from the one Mr. 

Lavelle testified to? A Yes, sir, this is the order in 

reference to the blue slip that he is talking about now, 

your Honor. 

0, (Question repeated) A No, sir. 

71A1-471-Y: TO,i:\ there i.s no connection between 

they . 

BY . 111 71: 

for ins tan c , when there was a replac ing of' - 

water closets or other fixtouT es with fixtures of a like 

charac ter, and in the same position, did the rule provide' 

that this blue slip night be filled out? 
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aKAIG One memnt, I object to that. The 

rat) itself 1- 'the 1)611 t evitttlicei and: he has p,:o. . it 

here: 

11: YAla Then I offer it in evidcnoe. 

Int • CRA.10: .And I don't object 1,0 it. 

COMT: .1 will Oaow him to answer the 

ques ti on Objec ti on overruled . 

BY THY CO TUT: 

Q, 

C P.A : Faze ep t ion . 

you know the rule they are speaking of; do you? 

A Yes your Fonor. 

BY 1- . AW J  

Q, And c.tici. tIc .rna.c., provide for the filling out of that , 

sane slip Nthun tLc cl.:..nres consis fed in the removal of 

plumbing fixtures? 

n' (5-.A t The: rule is in 

evidnc-

rl

. 

1:()1 Tr::: I ov 141c thc. objec ti on. 

. C.1 I i : p t,i on . 

A If t} ore wat-3 to .bc no chalJr; es yes. 

• 71: . AT7TY: h.11 the ;per be marked in evi-

dence-. row? 

r-',1"1.".2: have not admitted the paper.' 

in evfdence I overruled your objection to the 

ciues tion  End you took ifl exception,, Mr. Craig Let • 
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Utt have the record, tright, The p.per has not been 

t tea, I r uled, LT on your objection to )1r. Manley I 0 

question. 

BY TM, COURT: 

You ref erred to that rule yourself in your testimony; 

did you not? A Yes in reference to the 'blue slip 

I offer It; in evidence. 

. CLAIG: And I object to it as immaterial , 

irrelevt.n t ane ine or ip e tent 

TM COT And the DistrIct. Attorney has the 

richt to question him ;"bout the rule Now, yolx, may 

offer the rule :In CV d enc if you wish T.Tr . .T.Tanley. 

17t 7.1,77Y: *re rhtip s I cen obviate it by • the next 

few clues Lions. 

11; . cri\ac : -o, I "L111 •C)._11; to obj cc t to every 

question on this n,. ; until that rule €7,Ges in evi-

dence . 

. rrl: %dn. offer It, in evidence* 

77.. ChM ec tion 

(It is I tarkedPeople's Exhibit 7 in-. evidence) • • 

(()771:1: ; but you haven' t shown it to the 

defendant, v e you a/xi '}!ad him identify it? 

BY Y.17, COURT: 

CI Is that L,,o? I only idSntifict.it az. a rule that 

referred to the ilinr of the blue slip „ your ROrQri 
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2:51 

TAITTYY: Yes and we are not offering it' as 

a Paper tauf the dentif ied • 

DEP COTIET: Very well, then, the record is now 

traiiht. 

BY ME:. MN= : 

0, Not, in accordance vu th this rule, Mr. Farley, as 

far as those changes on those premises that we are talking 

about are concerned, the chz.t.nges in the bathrooms of the 

various apartments where new 'las were put in the place Of 

the old ones, and new platforms in the toile ts , would it 

not have been sufficient, as far as those repairs were con-

cerned, to have filled out this blue slip? A 1To , 

For what reason? 

fl:. CRAIG: I object. 

rA-72 COULT: Overruled. 

(-MAI& : Exception. 

A 'ecause the f fxtures were not replaced by fixtures 

of similar character. They were entirely different, of 

different cons truc Lion. 

BY fliP. KAM TY: 

C, Did. you s eo the old fixtures before they were re-

placed? h I saw oue or two of them. 

Q, In their places? Uo, sir, lying around. 

R You st.w them lyinp: around after they had. been 

placed? L Yes. 



- 
Being a practical plumber, I had 

(;), .You saw the,parts that were expooed? A aIr. 

n But not the pipes in the walls? A' Yo, 

R And so that, if a different pattern of water cloSetig 

was to be put in, it would require an architect's plans? 

A Yes, sir. And I knew that the new style closets could 

not be attached to the same connections there. 

Qi And so, if an old bath tubs were taken out, and a. 

new one, of new construction put ix, it would require, an 

architect's plans? A No, sir, I refer only to the water: 

closets, not the bath tubs. 

liminary to askinr you a question: "This form ---•" that Is, 

referrinr o the blue slip ---" will be used by the Depart-

ment in case where the owners propse to make _changes in 

their buildinr wl-ich are so slight in their character thAft 

they can be properly considered by the Department as repairs, 

and as heiri of so li1'it a character that they need not be', 

regarded as structural repairs. (reads)." Well, now, these-
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changes that were Made in the bathrooms there, did they 

affect the structural part.of the building? A As far as 

the pluDibing work was concerned yes. PiAlmtillg is part of 

the structural part of the building. 

R Did it involve an alteration of the building? 

0 It certainly didn't involve a removal of walls Ort 

parts of the walls; did it? A NO, but it involved the 

construction of new walls and partitions. 

7ell, in what particular instance did it involve 

the construction of new walls and partitions? A in tbe. 

constructionof a new partition wall for the enclosure' of a. 

water closet compartment in the store on the first floor. 

0, well, I'n not asking about that. A But his Honor, 

did, and I a2.1 answering his question. 

I ,r," directing your attention to the bathrooms 

RY . T.TAITIJ 

in the store around the Loilet, but about bathroom in 
4 



the apartments above the ground floor. 

that? A No, I thought you were talking about the entire 

Q Now, leaving out of the question entirely the toilet, 

on the ground floor, don't you think, as far as the changes 

in the bath tube and in the toilets were concerned, in the 

apartments, they could have been covered by the making out 

of this blue slip? A No, sir. 

TM. CRAIG: One minute; 

inproper statement of the facts. 

Your answer is, then, something more was necessary 

than the blue slip? A Absolutely necessary. 

o well, why? A 'Because there was an entire altera-

tion that required plans. It was new plumbing, not the 

replacinF of the fixtures. In the bathrooms, they had what 

we call short hopper water closets, and they were removed, 

and entrely law; style water closets put in , which requires 

a plan to be filed w)th.the Tenement House Department. 

hard wctLor to prepare a plan like 

can do it myself, but 

you have o t to show the unt;iri e construction of every 

plurnbin line in Lhe builaJnr, and file it in triplicate 
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Q, Now, ao to the changes in the -toilet on the:gronnd 

floor. There is a rule, is there not, a rule of law or -

procedure of some kind., that a toiletnust:have an outside 

window?' 

MR. CRAIG: I object to that. The rules are in 

evidence, 
THE COURT: Overruled. 
MP, CRAM: Exception, 

BY itIER TrANITY: 

0. is there? t There is a rule that all new toilets 

provided must have ventilation to the outer air. 

And there must be at least three square feett in, the 

window? 

W. (RAY: I object to that. And I move to 

strike out the answer on the ground that new 

plunbinr construction is under the jurisdiction of 

the 13uildinF Department, and not the Tenement House 

1 Department. 

TTIJ: COT, T: Overruled. 

. Exception. 

A yes. 

RYM,. 7,TAIFTY: 

O. Nor, in 1.h.J.E: partacular Lojlct in the i tore,, a 

partition had beon built arouno tho tedlut; hadn't it? 

A Yvs. 

That 11:411 tx Pc, 1.,ura,:i t/tore mat haVe 

.4 



to be a plan for that? A Yes, sir. 

(71, Now, is it very difficult for anybody- to-drawa 

little plan, Showing the partition around that toile t, , and 

showing the window, three by one feet? A Not difficult, 

Q, How high was the partition in the store down-

stairs? t. Fron floor to ceiling. 

Q That was the flat er ial? A tath and plas ter. 

!IL . 31-ANT,TIY: That is all . 

'IT nOTUIT: I o not know how  the record stands 

exactly, 7.1r. "anley, about the questions that you 

asked abont the Poa doe Court. 

TU1. mAlmrY: will state it to your Honor, if • 

TAITYY: I %%rill tc1.1 your  Honor my. recol-

lection

 

Elinply asked him if he remembered 

the roc eCinv n the -Maris trite' s Court, and he sai,d. 

there was such a 1,:roceedinr 

(' ) 11 t. 110%: ± tJ:ic record. on that? 

lir ron7• Ideas(' . 

the crIzv? T)1(1 otrtkr 1 t out or nott 



THP COURT: Well, I will allow you to ask the 

defendant if there was a hearing there, and why he 

did not call certain witnesses there. I will allow 

that c'ues ti. on now, Mr. Manley stated that that was 

his reason, and I overruled him, hut I have exaMined 

the authorities since, and I think he has a right to 

n At the oxanination in the Police Court, which .followed 

some time afLer your arrest --

T11 (TThT: Tell, hut was ther an examination? 

17e11, was L}icrc n exrJ.ninatimi in the Police Court 

knows Al ;',:t an szsIv„ni'l.t. 

Ulor, tlivrc wan no hufaini!) if tht 
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BY NR. MANLEY: 

Q, Weren't you taken before a Police Magistrate/ 

MR . CRAIG: Objected. to . 

TYE COURT: Overruled.. 

TT( . CP.A1G: Exception. 

n And were you taken before a Magistrate, sitting 

the bench) like (.1:t ;.iudge here? A yes, ,sir. 

And did :Tel) ase(rtain thFt papers bad been prepared,. 

charrinr you wi th the crfrie for which you hadbeen arrested/ 

objected Co as u'Aerly incompetent, 

III. later 116 

r OCilg• fly ; there an your own 

t, t, I 01).(!(...!.., I C. ;11.3 •.°:holly improper 



THE COURT: 

MR. CRAiG: And your Honor overrules my objection?.• • 

yes we are tryinr to as c er fain Whether,' 

there was any hear inc or no t. 

1 '1 . (2-:A IC: Ex.c ep ti on . 

TIY flT . 774:T.7Y: 

r, idn t ;,,ro hear ii w7i tne n es exarlined in the hearing 

before the liar s trate'? 

BY 111 .I A /P 3)Y 

"ow °TO cc t E; 1 inc of ex"I 

ru Le. t.nu t 

(,11,-j cc Li Oil ov(irri.ti (id • 

fl, : kxurr,,t,i cri. 

Tridn t• flit poi 1cy off '1 et Tbegirtn ton t fy? 



9, You, were present there? 'A Yes. 

Q, Did you see Mr. la:Leman in the Police Court with 

A 1. think he vras there', 

0, And vra s of ricer Thomas there? AA 

Well, did you waive examinationlas they mil it? 

examination as imvEterial 2, irrelevant and incompetent 

(OTT: Then the clues tions are improper. 

There was no e./..;..riination of the defendant That was 

the po.kitt that 1 tc d to brint- out • Now, the 

rtainr, that I T ,ade th:t s norninr• , was the proper 

ruT nr- limier the clrounh:1 tELno ec I Inferred from the 

clues ta OIU Of t.11 Da r, trdot At torney that thore had, 

'been a he.r:( nu • if t.). rc Lad been a lfearinp., and, a 

clefone.tnte-por,ec: the dt,fendeal Ole People had, a 

t o FhcY— to ri[L t,lie (Imo t one that ),(11. )faniey 

as): eo , th. s Ilj', . 

CLA t(rrOt' ," OM' IH ono v I don' t you oe0 thoh 

1110.111 t 11111itj r11 u rvi, tv ot Attorney 

mw thu t. t err vrffil 7,11 

k. new nothinv o 

1 mil LAWInt; 1.0 find thft4 Dut. 

t 1. tioW 1,114. LI t fltri eutt I) (1 
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TIER. CRAIG: And there was no disclosure made to 

you by the District Attorney as to what occurred. there.; 

TIU COURT: I know, but the defendant could answer 

CRAIG: Very well, then. I will say no more. 

will stand on the record. 

TL TrAFT17. : Now, let me reply to that statement 

of counsel that I knew there was no hearing. 

TIT CCITT: Well there is no necessity of reply-

ing. , if there was no Hearing. 

11AITT TY: But he has said that I knew cer tain 

IT.AIG: And. I say now you did know that, that 

there ViE...S no hearing. 

1J CO fl':1:orely wanted to get at the fac t.s 

do no + kno,: who t the fact is. 

. -ANT IT: VA.:11 when counsel learns more about 

crirla nal pro c ng,r , 5r0 iTonor than he does now,, 

Lo will no trial: e such accusations. From the papers im 

Qui t Juact,the District Attorney's copy of 

H on J. t cloc E; n t (4T pe UT he tiler there was an examina-

T1 roTV: As there irt,ras no examina tion, the 

irt, rules t:t Ur 11110f3 ti (MG rLr °Nee tiona):11 6t and, 

bttAk. Own rroul HA, r000rd. 



• MR. OAIG: But the harm being-donel and itbeing 

impossible that your Honor's action no'w can reMove: 

th:e prejudice created by the examination, or attempted 

Examination, I as-lc -your Honor to withdraw a juror, 

and declare this a mistrial. 

THE COURT: Your motion is denied'. 

Ta:. nAIG: I except, and I decline to Examine 

the ,itress any further on account of your Honor't 

declination to 6o so, and I except to your-Honor's 

m oLLrpLLLI, of 28 Oliver Street,' 

a witness called on behalf of the defense, being d.14y• 

sworn, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMIYATION BY MR— CRAIG: 

What .is your busness? A A plumbing contractor. 

Q Do you knoy the defendant Parley? A' Yes, sir. 

0, Did yo .N know him :;11 Lh rlonth of April, 1912? 

0, Did you htive sow convers4tion with him in the Mon: h 

of Apra, vrAth rospc,ct to plans for a building U. 

96th r.trprt an i re U Avenue? A wen, Oon't hnow whAt 

Kno,' vhat totact 



Q Well state what the conversation was. A Mr! Nutley 

came to me in the latter part of April, that was in the 

evening,-, and, he said, "Andy, I think I will have a plan to 

draw for you," and I said., "Mat kind of a plan?" And he, 

said, "A plumbing plan," and so t said, -- he said, tome. ,!..7u-

I said ---he said. to me --

Q, Have you an impediment in your speech? A I stutter, 

a little bit. He said 'to me, "I think I've got a job for 

you," and I said "All  right." I get awf'ul nervous and 

excited sometimes. 

Q, Was anything said about ---

MP . PIANIEY: gust a minute. Let him finish. 

A (Answer continued) 21e came to me, about the latter' 

part of April and he sayd he has rot aplan for me to draw,' 

and I said, "What kind of plan?" And hi said, "A plturibing,, 

p lan " 

BY THU COURT: 

a, vrell, WEIS Lhat sil that was said? A 1To, sir. Men 

I asked him to rive rie a descripton of the job, and then he 

asked nc-3 ow iluch I thuurht it would cost, and I said, 

Prom the: descriptions, you rive me It„,50." And I paid, nif 

you get me tile Joh, and if you rot me the money, I will -g'o 

up and take TIOELS urenents." 

1 fl. chtJC: You exarline . 

3 



, „ , „ • ,....,, 

CROSS EUNINATjOa BY Mr7L.MANIXT: 

Q1 Will you tell me again what Ur. Parley Said to yout) 

A Mr. Farley came to me in the latter part of April, and 

he said, "Andy, Ithink I'll have a plan for you to draw," 

and I said, "What kind ofplan?" And he said, "A plAttbing 

plan." And then he gave me a description of the pawl, 'and: 

"How much do you-thinrit will cost?" And I 6aid4 

said, "you get the mcney, and I'll go 

up and take measurements for the job." 

Q, Will you tell me the deScription of the plan he gave 

A A plumbing plan, something like a line of water. 

closets that was installed. 

0 How much did he go into details? 

telling me to draw a plumbitgplan, that's all. 

How much did he go into the details 

said just a plumbinr plan, a line of water closets; he 

didn't itemize; he said just a plumbing plan, and I 'Elai40: 

"That kind?" And he said, "A line of water' closets." 

Q, But did he go into the details at all? A Not 

furtAer than that. 

Q, Did lie say where the house was? A No, he said it; 

was uptown, and I knew it was uptown, because he was worlang 



How do you remember that it was 

can I remember? 

A Well, I know he came the latter part of' 

Q, Well, but how can you remember that he came to you 

in the latter part of April? A I know' that Mr. Farley.wae 

arrested in the latter part, and this was about aweek prior'. • 

0 He came Co you just about a week before hie arreet? 

Now, you have known Farley for how long? A About 

three years. 

(), Are you an architect? A 

contractor, but I draw plans for my men and occasionally 

Q, Licensed as a plumbing contracLor? A No, eiD,as 

boss plupber: And then I took hold of contracts. 

And so you are in that business now, doing jobs of 

plumbing? A Yes, sir. 

And you draw these plans? A Welil I draw all the. " 

plumbing sketches.for my own nen, I lay a ut the work, 

roughing !..leasuroments. 



plar is set, the lines and lead Work. 

0, Well, it means plumbing work; doesn't it? A. Yew; 

and there is rough studding, and plumbing, too. 

R Did Yr. Farley ever come to you before that and ask 

you to do something for him? A Yes. 

0, That was the first time; wasn't it? A To do what? 

What do you mean? 

R To do work of that kind? A No, he never came 

before. He recommended me several times to people to get 

work. 

But he never cane to you before to do anything for• • 

him? A No, sir. 

suppose you got acquainted with him by doing some. 

job -And running across him in some tenement house work Where. 

you had a job? A Oh, well, I met him in the district when 

he used to come on my inspections, and sometimes. another 

.inspector came. 

C?•, Now, did he tell you that he hRd had any difficulty 

up in that house uptown that he asked you to draw plans for? • 

A No, sir; he just said he wanted me to draw a plan; mdght 

want vie to draw a pin; might have a job for. me. 

well, then, you didn't know whether yon were going 

to do anything or not, from the way Farley spoke to you; did 

you? A To. I told him, ifhegets the money, after he zitre. 

me the description, I would 7,o up there and tPire moasur;qment 
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, Well You were not foing to work until you saw the 

money? A go, I have to see the color of it first. 

Well, didn't you think if Parley, Who had known yoU 

so long, asked you to do the —ork, you would gut paid? 

A Well, I didn't know I could trust him so far, as far as 

money was concerned. 3 didn't know him so well where money 

was concerned. 

Q, well; did you ever draw plans or things of that 

kind, where you didn't take the job yourself? A Yes. 

n You do it for others; do you? A Well, I done one 

particular case, yes, vhere I didn't get the job. 

0, Well, I'm not askinr you about when you are bidding 

t11(,, job, but do you make it busIness at all of drawing 

plans where you don't apply for the job or don't get it? 

A Oh, no, very seldom. There was only one case of that 

kind. I generally get the work. 

n And this -vas the second lime only that you had been 

asked to do it; was it? A well, I might have been ask's& 

to do it mart' than unce, 1,)ut, 1 only did it once. I only' did 

it once on a 9tatfn is111( job, and I di-dn't get the job,, 

1e11, you tolu -Parl(iy that you would charge 450; dict 

you? A That. it —ould cost 

q Did he tell you whee you were to go to do the job?' 

A go, sir. 

C, —hat street or avenue? k go, sir. 
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Q, Did he tell you: hovt many rloore were in the hotlee? 

A NO, sir. 

Or how many 2oams in an apartment? A No, sir.. 

P, Or how many bathrooms there were in each apartment? 

A No, sir, 

Did he tell you how many bathrooms there were ,.on 
the fourth floor? A No, sir. 

You didn't know how many bathrooms there were? 

A Noi he just said 4 plumbinc line. 

Did he tell you they had ,ut in different kind of 

fixtures? 4 No, sir; he just give me a description,that - 

it was a new plumbinF line. 

(), I say,did he tell you that they had put in different - 

kinds of fixtures? A yes, I think he said they put in water. 

Closets. 

R I'm not askirw you that. Did he tell you they put 

in a new kind of fixtures? A rrew kind of fixtures? 

Q, Yes. A Yes, according to the description, I believe... 

he said that. 

0 You are prEtty sure tht he said that? A yes, 

sure thiA he talked about taking out one kind, and putting 

in another. 

Nor, have you bole rue all that he said about it?' 

A yes, sir. 

C You have Lola P:e.' everything, that he said about tho 



job/ A Yes, sir. 

Q, And then you tad him that it would 

A Yes, on account of going to the Tenement Ilouse Department 

the Building Department --mit would cost 00. 

n, And were you roing to put it through the Department? 

Yes, file it and put it through. 

You were going up there to see the Department 

could go up and see the job, and 

get an authorization first, and then file it with the 

0, And were you voinp to throw up your own work, and, 

go:to. see the .Department and file a plan? A Oh, a bOsS' 

can steal a couple of hours out of his business, once in  

awhile, and r7o up there; can't he? I'm here now, and 1)-11si_,. 

ness is coinp on just the same. 

7e11, hay, large a business are you doing now? A Oh 

I don't know, I take five or six thousand dollar contract, 

Q How rLany men have you now? A • Three men. 

Q Or did he say that any partitions had been built it1J 

the house, in the flats? A I don't recollect. All that 

heard was about a line of water closets. 

Q, How many times have you seen him about this matter:  

before he was arrested? A Mr. Farley? 
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yes. A That was ths only t 

7hat was the Only time you ha. seen hi:m before he 

arrested? A Oh, I have soon him for the past three; 

years. 

0, How often? A Well, he used to come down to the 

shop) I should judge, sometimes once a week and sometimes 

once in two weeks. 

He averaged about once a week or once in two weeks?' 

A Yes, sir. 

Where was your shop at that time? A It was 28 

Oliver Street, and it's there now yet. 

0, And he used to come and see you at 28 Oliver Street? 

A Yes, sir. 

Did you ever give him any. money for bringing youi 

jots? A No, sir. 

He just recmmended you because he was friendly 

to you? A He knows that I'm capable of doing jobs and , 

drawing plans. 

0, And then that's the reason he recommended. you? 

A Yes, I suppose so. 

0, goy!, when was it that he came to see you after he 

was arrested:,- hdw soon after the day he was arrested did he. 

come to see you? A "ell, I seen it first on the nepaper.4c. 

and then he was there a couplc of days 1 

A couple of stay's afterwards, in your office? A Yesof_ 
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110 was down to e00 rte. 

Q Mut time in the day? A It was in, the eyenirig-, 

shbuld judge around six or seven o'clock. 

And did you see him after that/ A Oh, yes, I seen 

him several times around the shop. 

p When was the next time, after the few days after 

the arrest, that you saw him at the shop? A I don't know. 

I used to sec him on and off. 

R Did he used to cone down to your shop just the same? 

A He used to cone dovn to the shop, and I used to meet him 

around the neirhborhood. 

0, And did he keep on coming to see you in your shop 

just as often after his arrest, and after he was out of the' , 

Department? A Oh, yes, he used to come down to se d me, 

anyhow. 

721 . ITANI,MY That is all . 

. CT:Al That is all 

PkUL B 0 L G R, of 1891 Madison Avenue, a witness 

called on beIalf of the deferse, being duly sworn, 

testified as rollows: 

DIRECT EXAMiNATIOF 7Y la— CRAIG: 

0 1. Bolger p what is :,,our age? A 58. 

How long do you reside in the City of New 'York? : 
- 

A r 



. A About 48 years. 

In what Ibusiness are you engaged? A Plumbing, 

heating and ventilation. 

Q And how is your business carried on? In What.' 

particular field of the industry are your operations con 

ducted? A Vhy, the erection of new buildings, And 

the overhauling of old buildings. . 

Q There is your establishment? .A 666 Lexington Avenue* 

Q And do you know the .defendant Parley? A I do. 

0 How long have you known him? A About eight years4, 

Q And was he at any time in your employ? A ne 

Q Over 71-Lat period? A Three years* 

cl In What imgacityl A Bookkeeper and general con-

fidential man. 

Q And at that time how many men, on an average, did you 

have in your employ? A I should say ate, on an average* 

Q And,in a general sort of a way,- what was the 

aggregate of the business that you transacted? A You mean 

yearly? 

0, yes. A 200,000. 

R Did Mr. Parley leave your employ, of his own volition? 

A He did. 

0, Then you say he was employed in a confidential 

capacity •••• MN Ye 

TI-g COURT: Well, I think you have gone .far enough 
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in: that line. This in 4 character Witness, I presume, 

and the rule is that  you cannot bring out specific 

facts on that. You can inquire into his general repUta,-

tion, and I have already allowed you some latitUde, 

BY MR, CRAIG; 

Now, do you know the reputation of the defendant 

Farley in the vicinity in which he lives for hones ty/ and 

integrity? 4.,e I never heard anything to the contrary, 

but what he was honest. 

0. And what is his reputation in the vicinity in which 

he resides for truth and veracity? A Where Mr. Farley 

resides? 

Q yes. A I have no knowledge as to that. 

Q, You mean to circumscribe it to a certain ward or 

district, do your? A So I understood you. 

No, I 'lean in th:: reneral vicinity in which we are 

living, gew York City'? A I never heard a word against 

his truth and veracity. 

CRAIC: You may examine. 

TTAITLI1Y: To questions. 

EDWA.RD C 0 D Y, of 328 West 30th Street, a witne00 

called on behalf of the defense being duly sworn,,,. 

testifded as follows: 

• 

• ''r5 
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DIRECT' EXAMINATION BY MR. CRAIG: 

Q, What is your age, Mr! Cody? A 6 . 

Q, You are a little 'hard of hearing? A Yes, sir. 

Q How long have you resided. in New York? A 45 years. 

Q, What is your business? A Undertaker. 

Are you acquainted with the defendant Farley? 

Q, How long have you known him? A 25 years. 

c?, What is his reputation in the vicinity where he. 

lives for honesty and integrity? A Well, as far as .I„„ 

know, his honesty is all right. I have  had 15uSiness trans-

actions with him in my line of business. 

.311: . MANLEY: Now just answer the questions. 

BT . -CRAIG: 

0 What is his reputation for truth and. veracity? 

A Good. 

TIP CRAIG: You may examine. 

. 7'rrAITLEY: Tha t s all. 

J H T J. T A r; G P. L. T, of 282 Tenth Avenue, a witness 

called on behalf of the defense, being duly sworn, 

testified as follows: 

DIRECT IMAITIFATION T.Y . CRAIG: 

C), Hoy, longhave you resided in the City of New York? 



A 42 years,.  

. Are you acquainted with the defendant Farley? 

How long have you known him? A 29 Years. 

Do you know his reputation for  honesty and integrity 

the vicinity where he resides? A I do. 

0, Is it good or bad? A It has always been very gOodt 

Do you know his reputation for truth and veracity 

in the neighborhood Where he resides? A Yes. 

It is good orbad? A It's good.. 

CROSS EXAMIHATIOff BY . MANLEY: 

Did you hear of any charges having been brought 

against Parley in the community in which you live and he 

lives,in the capacity of executor ofhis uncle's estater 

didn't know what the charge: was. 

-Tell, did you hear that there was 48uc'h a oharge? 

some charge to that effect, yes. 

charge against his honesty in handliM 

s. trust fund or funds; was -IL not? A I bolleve it W40. 

gimu:o 



Q, That? A I believe so . 

Q, And. did you ever hear the sum mentioned that he was 

charged with taking out of the estate of which he was . 

executor? A I did not; no, sir. 

And vtas ntt it sorts thing like i,3400? 

37: . CLJtIG Objec ted to. 

TIM COURT: Sustained. He says he did not hear 

t 

BY M MAiTLEY: 

And didn't you ever hear that he was punished f or -

c out emp t of' c t. an connec L I on vv I th 

01.AI Objected to. 

COTTEr.': S us fa ined.. 

. CLAN : Well , I think now that it is unnecessary 
1 

to prolong, this tter of character testimony. I have 

other Id tressef 1-ere , but I Kr content wi th those that 

Have ut on . we, res t. 

Trn COM T: Very well Do the People res 

. 17'1,113 Y: o, sir. I wish to call l'fr TScLernan, 

Senior 
**9 
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RNBUTTAL. 

HUGH Mcl, ER NA No being recalled by the District, 

Attorney, t es tdfied as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY NY,. MANLEY: 

Nr NcLernan, the defendant has tas tified4 Mr. parley-

has tfzis tified here, that when he saw you, upon either 

Monday or Tuesday of that week in April, when you were working 

up in the store, he told you that he would have to have in5o 
to pay to an architect who would draw proper plans, and p 

it through the Department. Did he say anything of that sort, 

to you? A No, sir. 

MR. CRAIG: One Llinute . I didn't have time to 

object. Till your Monor strike out the answer? 

TRT COURT: Yes, strike out the answer. 

7Jt.1411A IC,: I obj ec t to it, in the first placec, 

as not proper ;.(-.buttal; and, in the second place, as a 

misstatement of the testimony; and, in the third plaae:, 

that any tes tirony of Uiat charac Ler elicited from the 

defendan L on cross exari.lnat.ion was with respect eo 
collateral rn.s.tte..., and. the prosecution is bound by the; 

answer, ana tl ef ofe t.ht: clues Lion is immaterial, irze 

levant and incorpetent. 

TM  COMM': Overruled. 

fl .CLP. t :I on 

BY ill: 
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Q Did he say anything about an architect? A No. 

q Did he say anything at all about giving this money 

for the purpose of having an ea-chi. tee tt. put in plans? A No 

NR CRAIG: I ob jec t on the same grounds: 

TI-Li2 COURT: Overruled. 

R. CRAIG: Exception. 

1. CRAICr: /To ques t ions. 

T} COURT: If you say that firs tatement in 

the ques tion was a miss tatement I will allow you to 

MI. CRAIG: Oh, no, let it go, al though .1 did. 

A IC 0 B, being recalled by the District Attorney, 

testified as follows: 

DIRLCT EXA.'"'T YAT1 0 r : 

Yes teTday, 17r s. Thkob , when on the s tand, you stated' 

tthr. t, rhon Ti Parley was down in the yes tribule af ter you 

and. he haa :one from ups tairs down into the ves 

that you sz—Ld to ham: 'Till you please tell Ple something 

the c40, bocauee 111:1 not janitor lore 



and. the landlordill,thirac maybe I keep the t40.1" 

and that he then said: "Ohl that's all right., Tell him 

I'll fix up the violations, and everything will bail 

and tell him not to leave the other 0.0 for me, next Week,. 

and tell him to fix up that stone, and it will be all rights.,# 

Now, did he at that time, or any other time, up there,, eay 

that he wanted that money so that he could hire an architect 

to tell the people up there what to do in filing plane!? 

TD.. aFtAIG: I object to that as not proper 

I object to it as an incorrect recital or 

the testimony in the record; and I object also onthe 

ground that whatever testimony of that character was  

elicited by the prosecution on cross examination'is 

as to a collateral matter and the People are bound l*v 

TIT COURT: Overruled. The question should be 

nodified. You ask, "Did he say to you?" Idon't know 

whether Farley was asked about what he said to her, 

yes, sir; he was asked aboutswhat 

he said to her. I reau this very testimony to him When 

he was on the stana. 

1 . CLAIC: And I object to it. It isn't 

rebuttal, I think. it Is a repetition of the direct 

mination of this witness. 



Counsel had great latitude, as you know, in phrasing 

their questions. The Court mainot phrase them for 

them, ifthey correctly state the facts. 

Q, Did, he say anything to you at that time, that he 

was getting the money Co give to an architect to draw,plans?-

MP. CRAIG: I object, upon the grounds that I 

have previously stated on the record. 

TI-127 COURT: Overruled. 

1R. CRAY : Exc ep tion. 

BY 111-. MANITY: 

Q, Did he say anything about giving the money to an ' 

architect? ;To , sir, he never mentioned no thing • 

. MANT,EY: That's all . 

CROSS a NAT ION' BY fl.. CRAIG: 

Q And from ‘,Aam do you receive --- do you receive cam-
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pensation? A What do you, mean with that? 

0 'Veil, are you paid for your services as janitress? 

A Yes. 

Q, That do you get paid? A Only my rooms. 

Q You don't get any money? A No, sir. 

Vho do you get the 'rooms from? A From the land,-

lord. 

Q Veil, who is the landlord? A Well, I don't knoW the 

name of the landlord, but the agent is 

BY THF COURT: 

The agent is NcLernan? A No, sir. That landlord.' 

told the 'house and I have a new agent. 

Then you are not in the employ of Mr. McLernan any 

more? A No, sir, I'm not. 

TIT COURT: Well, I understood that that was 

your question; was it not'? 

Till. CRAIC,: Well, I am uncertain about that blit 

I may have asked her that question. 

COURT: You wanted to bring out. the fact that  

she was stilJ employed by Yr. NeLernan? 

CLAIG: No, sir; employed in the same placeili 

BY la. C]:AIG: 

n You :,.re still employed in the same place? A, Yes, . 

but I have a difftrentlandlord, and I didn't se Mr. Yoloernail 

from the aay he leff. the house until the day I come to courts • 

! 

t 1 



• 
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Q D44 he pay you in full? A NO, sir. Pm not paid 

yet or the work I done it the house, I'm not -paid yet, . 

0 But you expect to get paid? A No, I don't expect 

nothing. I'm an honest- woman, and I hope to-Ood 1411 never 

get paid for nothing, only mTwork. I'm telling only the, - 

truth, and 'I'm the mother of four children., and I •hope it. 

will be the last time I will be sitting here, and yOU:canTt, 

say nothing to me that I am saying anything wrong abbut, 

this tan, 

Q Now, you wouldn't take sides in the controversy; 

would you? A I don't know what you mean, 

c), (Question repeated) A Tould you explain that better 

to me, what you mean with that? I wouldn't.' give you-.•, no 

answer when I didn't know for sure. You must tell .me jn 

plain words. 

TM. 'CRAIG: right. That's all. 

ALBERT THOMAS, being recalled by the District. 

Attorney, testified as follows: 

DIP; I7A1TI NATION Y T L. l'rANLEY: 

o Officer Thomas, at the time when you arnested this 

defendant on the street, and had a talk with him on the  

street, or at any time after that, did he say anything .td 

you that he had got this money, received it, from Mro, Jakob, 

•.• 
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f or th w;poue ofhir ng an itxolll tot to tefl these people 

wha t to do? 

m. object to that as not proper 

rebuttal and because there is no f oundation 1&J4X 

; and  so far as any matter in rer:ard to it VMS 

Or 

elici ted from the defendant on cross examination, it 

relates to a collateral matter, and the People are 

b und by it. 

TIT COURT: Well, I do not recollect the testimony 

distinctly on that point.. 

T7: . MANLEY: He testified that he told the officer 

and others there t the time of the arrest, that he 
an 

got it for the purpose of employing/ar chi tec t to prepare 

plans. 

TEC COURT: All owed 

. GRAN : Exception. 

He did, in the car p• °Inv up to court, in the neighThor. 

hood of about two o 'clock. 

BY IVIE . 1,TANTLEY a 

0, Mien was thL t said for the first timer?. 

CRAIC.: 1 object. He has answered.. 

BY Tll-. . MAYLFY, : 

Q, Did he state on the street at the time of his, rest?ar  

A No sir. 

Iv1T1 CRAIG: 1 oThjec t u have given your answer 

1 



TICE COURT: Overruled. 

M. TRATC: Mcception. 

13YT3E °MET: 

Q What do, you mean by an arrest4 officer, what do you 

call the time of an arrest? A Then you place your hand onla 

man's shoulder, and tell him he is under arrest. 

0 Yes, and you Look him into custody then? A Yen, 

six. 

BY MR. MANLEY: 

0 And that was about what time of the day? A About, 

20 minutes after 11. 

BY Ti. COURT: 

Q, And. he made certain statements 

A Yes, sir. 

R And the District Attorney asked you, if,at that tiae1. 

to you at that time? 

he told you that he got $40 to give to an architect? A Noi 

sir, he did not. 

BY MR. MANLEY: 

When did he first tell you that, that he .got that • 

money for an architect? A Well, on our way to court,; 

shortly after two o'clock. There had been no court, 003 

day, from 12 o'clock until 2 o'clock. 

court? 

oe" 

And he had been locked up, pending the opening of 

MR. CRAIG: Objected to. 

• 

r- • 
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BY 10( lq 

rud Lel or hftd 'le.en out n bulif 

? ' MAIO Objec toti tO 

CM Allowed. 

/17L . MA Ma; ep on . 

A ro 1 cir ; he had been locked up in the at.ation houBe. 

BY 

That aid he say to you about an architect. at about 

two o'clock? 

flR CLAIC: Objected to I sulith t that is en-

tirely collaterrll 

/1E. i'rANLEY: Well, if there d s an objection I'll 

wi thdraW t. That '$ aJ.. 1. 

CROSS MI.A.T.TINATION BY 11; CRAIG: 

.0 You didn't say anything about this on your direct: 

examination, when you tes tifd ed the other day? A No,  

You didn't ask me. 

Vrell, why didn't you telD. it in answer to the 

prosecution? A Feither did, the prosecution. 

0, Didn't I ask you whether you wanted, to add. anything 

to your narrative of the transaction, and you said. you didn't? 

A Yes; but 1 answered all the questions that were asked me. 

Q, And, after you left .the stand, counsel for  the 

defendant inquired of you in respect to this ma,t_ter) did-he 



266 

n ,t) Whether or la0t. hfthad Itto,ted CO :IPDU thftt ain money h 

ben rooelvod orVho lurpoto hulliAla aunts drmin by an 

architect; isn't that o? A At the t1109 of his arrest yoa 

asked me. 

TIT COURT: where MI6 UAL; OnvortualOn and Whorl? 

BY HI:. (MAIO: 

Q, 'Tow, M'tcr you testlfied in behalf of the proseCation, 

the oounsolfor tilt defendant ..Lnterroratod you, in the 

corridor of the ck ur Lho 'ILI( I did he not as to \vb.° ther or no t 

the defendant said to you th;it he tool this money to employ, 

an archi tect? A I understood you to ask me about the time 

of his arrest. 

0, And I told you to refresh your recollection at the 

time, did I not, upon tht,.t point, and called your attentiOn-, 

to the fact, did I not, that the defendant claimed that he had 

a very clear recollection on that point? A I understood 

yoUr question to he at the time of his arrest. 

R

 

Well, at any rate you didn't volunteer the informa-

tion, the admission, if You may characterize it as such, 

that he did flake that statement to you, although you place , 

it now at a different moment of time? A No, I did not. 

MR. 1001AIG: That is all. 

1T. MANNY: That is all. 
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WILL:LA fl ABI0 T T, ati) btslng roecaled by the 

nistWiot, AttOrnoy, testdned as folloWs: 

DThCT 2XAJVI/CATIOIT BY 2,T. . YANLRY: 

0, Mr. Abbott, I suppose you are f/Lmiliar with this 

particular blank form, People's PxhAbit 6? A Yes, I am. 

Tal. CRAIG: I object to it, as not proper 

rebuttal. 

TET COURT: Overruled. 

UL. MAIG: Exception. 

BY lilt. MANI-J.1Y: 

n Now, you have already testified that you went up 

to the premises, before he day of the arrestof the defendant, 

apd you told us what you found there. Nov, I tall your 

attention to the ncy work on the Fround floor in the toilet, 

which is in the store, where you said some new partitions 

were put in, and where there is a toilet and a window going 

into the outer air. Now, as I understand from your testimony,_ 

that, under the rules -cf the Department and the law of the. 

State, they require the furniShin of a plan. 

CRAic: I object to that as not proper 

rebuttal. 

THF COURT: I will sustain the objection to that 

.If your Honor  please, the defendant'r 

has testified that the reason he got this money Was for 

the purpose. of employing an architect,' ' that it, Was 
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nosonoary 'tD hlre an 110'0114 t to otrccighton out We 

(Iv 41, nit t.(7tt silo; t tf r cp.." s ln tVe hulldlng#, Nowt I  

to: Di 21r, tc tbil 145r wa trenti thn only Illan 

that wan noccnoury Vilu for than now work wan fq 

tho work in tho s tei and that. the a thOr work did, not 0 

2'0 q re it at all. 

(O1)LT but the .0,eftndant hE.te so ctatød1-

am I unders .tand hii too timony. 

. 1,TAWLEY: In o ther words, I want to show that 

wa,s so ii ttle work in the preparation of plEfls 

that anybody could have made them out. 

TI COT: I sustain the objection. 

MR 11.A1UEY: That is all. I res t. 

.

 

CRAIG: The defense res.ts I move now for a 

direction of acquittal on tho first charge contained: in 

the indic tmen L , on the grouncl that the People have not 

made out the charge therein contained by legal and' 

competent evidence as required by law. 

TIM COURT: Motion denied. 

. CRAIC: Excep Lion . And I will make the same2 

uotion as to the second count. 

THE COUET: Denied I will submit it to the jury • 

on both counts. 

1U1 . CRAIG: Exception. And I ask your Honor . to 

require the prosecution to elect upon which count they 
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talLI 1": The two ewn te &ref. ithe 01 utely the 

ink 

TIT ()11T; I 6eny yout motion*, 

CRAIC: i except. And I ask your Honor to 

cLIEJLUOIJ the d nri tc traen t. on the (;round that on itsf ace 

t. tIi*J. riuffici n r, to chLr c, viola on of the statute* 

TIT : DVnied. 

. MAK: lbcc up Lion 

(Mr Crair then s un-Lmed up for the def ense and. 

llan1e3r closed the case for the People) . 
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